
West Devon Hub 
Committee

Title: Agenda
Date: Tuesday, 6th February, 2018

Time: 2.00 pm

Venue: Chamber - Kilworthy Park

Full Members: Chairman Cllr Sanders
Vice Chairman Cllr Samuel

Members: Cllr Edmonds
Cllr Jory
Cllr Moody
Cllr Mott

Cllr Oxborough
Cllr Parker
Cllr Sampson

Interests – 
Declaration and 
Restriction on 
Participation:

Members are reminded of their responsibility to declare any 
disclosable pecuniary interest not entered in the Authority's 
register or local non pecuniary interest which they have in any 
item of business on the agenda (subject to the exception for 
sensitive information) and to leave the meeting prior to 
discussion and voting on an item in which they have a 
disclosable pecuniary interest.

Committee 
administrator:

Member.Services@swdevon.gov.uk



Page No

1.  Apologies for absence 

2.  Declarations of Interest
Members are invited to declare any personal or disclosable 
pecuniary interests, including the nature and extent of such interests 
they may have in any items to be considered at this meeting. If 
Councillors have any questions relating to predetermination, bias or 
interests in items on this Agenda, then please contact the Monitoring 
Officer in advance of the meeting.

3.  Items Requiring Urgent Attention
To consider those items which, in the opinion of the Chairman, 
should be considered by the Meeting as matters of urgency (if 
any)

4.  Confirmation of Minutes
Minutes of meeting held 28 November 2017

1 - 8

5.  Public Questions
A period of up to 15 minutes is available to deal with issues 
raised by the public

6.  Lead Member Update -Cllr Mott 

7.  Revenue Budget Monitoring to Dec 2017 -Cllr Edmonds 9 - 22

8.  Capital Programme Monitoring to Dec 2017 - Cllr Edmonds 23 - 32

9.  Revenue Budget and Capital Programme Proposals 
2018/19 - Cllr Sanders 

33 - 74

10.  Air Quality Strategy - Cllr Sanders 75 - 130

11.  Planning Enforcement - Cllr Mott 131 - 150

12.  Planning Validation Checklist - Cllr Mott 151 - 236

PART TWO ITEMS WHICH MAY BE TAKEN IN THE ABSENCE OF 
THE PUBLIC AND PRESS ON THE GROUNDS THAT EXEMPT 

INFORMATION IS LIKELY TO BE DISCLOSED (if any)



Page No

If any, the Committee is recommended to pass the following resolution:

“RESOLVED that under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 
1972, the public be excluded from the Meeting on the grounds that 
exempt information may be disclosed as defined in the paragraphs given 
in Schedule 12A to the Act.”

This document can be made available in large 
print, Braille, tape format, other languages or 
alternative format upon request. Please contact the 
Committee section on 01822 813664 or email 
darryl.white@swdevon.gov.uk

mailto:darryl.white@swdevon.gov.uk




At a Meeting  of the HUB COMMITTEE  held at the Council  Chamber, 
Council Offices, Kilworthy Park, Drake Road, TAVISTOCK on TUESDAY 
the 28th day of NOVEMBER, 2017 at 2.00pm 

 
Present:                             Cllr P R Sanders – Chairman 

 
Cllr C Edmonds     Cllr N Jory  
Cllr J B Moody       Cllr C Mott 
Cllr R Oxborough   Cllr G Parker 
Cllr R F D Sampson  Cllr L Samuel 

 
 

In attendance:      Executive Director (Strategy and Commissioning) 
 Executive Director (Service Delivery and Commercial 

Development) 
 Section 151 Officer 

Deputy Section 151 Officer 
 Group Manager Business Development 
 CoP Lead Assets 
 CoP Lead Environmental Health 
 Senior Specialist Place and Strategy 
 Specialist (Revenues) 
 Specialist, Housing Benefits 
 Specialist Housing  
 Senior Specialist, Environmental Heath 

Specialist Democratic Services 
 

Other Members in attendance: 
 

Cllrs Cheadle, Evans, Kimber, Lamb, Leech, Moyse, 
Musgrave, Pearce, Sheldon and Yelland 

 
 
 
*HC 38 APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE 
 There were no apologies for absence received for this meeting. 
 
*HC 39 DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 

Members were invited to declare any interests in the items of business to be 
discussed and the following were made: 
 
Cllr N Jory declared a Disclosable Pecuniary Interest in Item 7: Medium 
Term Financial Position 2018/19 by virtue of the report mentioning the 
Business Information Point and him being in receipt of part time employment 
from this organisation.  He left the meeting for the duration of this item. 
 
Cllrs C Edmonds, C Mott, J Moody, G Parker and P R Sanders abstained 
from the vote on Item 17: Residential Property Purchase, by virtue of being 
Members or Substitute Members of the Development Management and 
Licensing Committee and not wishing to fetter their ability to take part in the 
decision on any planning application that may arise as a result of the 
proposal.   
 

*HC 40          MINUTES 
The Minutes of the Hub Committee meeting held on 31 October 2017 were 
confirmed and signed by the Chairman as a correct record.  

 



 
HC 41           QUARTER 2 REVENUE BUDGET MONITORING 2017/18 

Members were presented with a report that enabled them to monitor income 
and expenditure variations against the approved budget for 2017/18, and 
provided a forecast for the year end position. The report also included a 
recommendation relating to the transfer of underspend on Homelessness 
Prevention into the Homelessness Earmarked Reserve at the end of the 
2017/18 financial year. 
 
The Lead Member for Resources and Performance introduced the report. 

 
It was then RESOLVED that: 
 

1) The forecast income and expenditure variations for the 2017/18 
financial year and the overall projected underspend of £25,000 be 
noted; and 

2) That Council be RECOMMENDED to transfer the underspend on 
Homelessness Prevention into the Homelessness Earmarked 
Reserve at the end of the 2017/18 financial year (this is expected 
to be £65,000). 

 
*HC 42          CAPITAL BUDGET MONITORING 2017/18 

Members were presented with a report that advised of the financial position as 
at 31 October 2017 for the purposes of budget monitoring.  All capital projects 
were within the individual capital budgets approved by Members and therefore 
capital schemes were within budget. 
 
The Lead Member for Resources and Performance introduced the report.  

 
  It was then RESOLVED that the report be noted. 
 
 
*HC 43          MEDIUM TERM FINANCIAL POSITION 2018/19 ONWARDS 

Members were presented with a comprehensive report that set out the latest 
financial position for West Devon Borough Council including the savings 
realised through shared services with South Hams District Council, the 
revised projected budget gap following the work undertaken in the Members’ 
Budget Workshop, and the formation of a cross party Member Group to look 
at options for securing financial stability in the longer term. 
 
The Leader introduced the report and responded to questions arising on 
matters within the report. 

 
It was then RESOLVED that: 

 
1. progress and the content of the latest Budget Proposals for 

2018/19 to date be noted; and 
2. it be noted that the Partnership Task & Finish Group will make 

recommendations to the January Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee meeting regarding recommended future funding levels 
for the Council’s various Partnerships (as outlined in presented 
Appendix F). 

 
 
 



 
HC 44           HEART OF THE SOUTH WEST – JOINT COMMITTEE 

Members were presented with a report that sought approval of the 
recommendations arising from the Heart of the South West (HotSW) Leaders 
to form a Joint Committee.  The key role of the Joint Committee would be to 
develop, agree and ensure the implementation of the Productivity Strategy 
which could only be achieved by working, where appropriate, in collaboration 
with the individual constituent authorities and the LEP. 
 
The Leader introduced the report.  During discussion, the following points 
were raised: 
 
- the merits of Cornwall being included within the Heart of the South West 

area were recognised; 
- whether or not the resource put into the Joint Committee would result in 

action; and 
- in terms of assessing the performance of the Productivity Plan, the 

Executive Director (Strategy and Commissioning) advised that 
performance would be measured through a delivery plan but, at this 
stage, the Committee was looking at the overall Strategy. 

 
It was then RESOLVED that Council be RECOMMENDED to: 

 
a)  Approve the recommendation of the HotSW Leaders (meeting as a 

shadow Joint Committee) to form a Joint Committee for the Heart of the 
South West; 

b)  Approve the Arrangements and Inter-Authority Agreement documents 
set out in appendices A and B for the establishment of the Joint 
Committee with the commencement date of Monday 22 January 2018; 

d)  Appoint the Leader and the Deputy Leader as the Council’s named 
representative and substitute named representative on the Joint 
Committee; 

c)  Appoint Somerset County Council as the Administering Authority for the 
Joint Committee for a 2 year period commencing 22 January 2018; 

e)  Approve the transfer of the remaining joint devolution budget to meet the 
support costs of the Joint Committee for the remainder of 2017/18 
financial year subject to approval of any expenditure by the 
Administering Authority; 

f)  Approve an initial contribution of £1,400 for 2018/19 to fund the 
administration and the work programme of the Joint Committee, noting 
that any expenditure will be subject to the approval of the Administering 
Authority; 

g)  Agree that the key function of the Joint Committee is to approve the 
Productivity Strategy (it is intended to bring the Strategy to the Joint 
Committee for approval by February 2018); 

h)  Authorise the initial work programme of the Joint Committee aimed at the 
 successful delivery of the Productivity Strategy; and 
i)  Agree the proposed meeting arrangements for the Joint Committee 

including the timetable of meetings for the Joint Committee as proposed 
in paragraph 2.14 of the presented agenda report. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



HC 45          LOW COST SELF AND CUSTOM BUILD INITIATIVE FOR LOCAL PEOPLE 
Members were presented with a report that sought approval to implement the 
custom self-build initiative through the current policy (H37) and the emerging 
policy TTV31.  It was expected that the initiative would increase the supply of 
accessible affordable homes for local people within the Borough.   
 
Importantly, homes built through the initiative would be affordable by virtue of 
the caveats that applicants and subsequent owners would need to adhere to.  
 
The Lead Member for Strategic Planning and Housing introduced the report 
and responded to questions. 

 
It was then RESOLVED that Council be RECOMMENDED: 
 
1. To implement the custom self-build initiative through the current policy 

(H37) and the emerging policy TTV31; 
2. That the initiative is included in the emerging SPD; 
3. That the New Burdens funding is committed to additional staff resource; 

and 
4. That Hub Committee RESOLVES to review the supply and progress of 

the custom self-build initiative periodically. 
 
 
HC 46           BUSINESS RATES – SECTION 47 DISCRETIONARY BUSINESS RATE 

RELIEF POLICY 
Members were presented with a report that sought consideration and 
recommendation of the Business Rate Relief Policy covering the decision 
made by the Rate Relief Panel under Section 47 of the Local Government 
Finance Act.  
 
The Lead Member for Economy introduced the report. 

 
It was then RESOLVED that Council be RECOMMENDED that a Business 
Rate Relief Policy for the discretional relief awarded by the Rate Relief Panel 
be adopted. 

 
 
HC 47           COUNCIL TAX REDUCTION SCHEME 2018/19 

Members were presented with a report that set out how it was an annual 
requirement for Councils to revisit their existing council tax support scheme 
and make a decision as to whether to replace or revise it. 
 
The Lead Member for Health and Wellbeing introduced the report.  During 
discussion, Members expressed the view that the proposal set out in the 
report was worthwhile. 

 
It was then RESOLVED that Council be RECOMMENDED to continue with 
the existing Council Tax Reduction scheme for 2018/19 with the uprate of 
Personal Allowances, Premiums and Non Dependent deductions in line with 
national welfare benefits. 
 
 
 
 
 
 



HC 48           DIRECT LETS SCHEME 
Members were presented with a report that asked to consider the 
introduction of a private sector letting scheme in West Devon.  The purpose 
of a private sector letting scheme was to recruit private sector landlords to let 
their properties via the Local Authority letting scheme with the Local Authority 
acting as a managing agent.  Such schemes were designed to increase the 
availability of affordable quality housing to address housing need in the West 
Devon area.  The proposed scheme was a key action in the five year 
homeless strategy. 
 
The Lead Member for Health and Wellbeing introduced the report and 
responded to questions.  During debate, Members expressed their support 
for the scheme. 

 
 

It was then RESOLVED to RECOMMEND to Council: 
 
1. The introduction of a Local Authority Lettings Scheme for private rented 

accommodation managed by local authority staff; and 
2. Approval for the appointment of one 0.6 FTE L7 Case Manager for the 

delivery of the scheme. 
 
 

HC 49           PURCHASE OF 18 NORTH ROAD, OKEHAMPTON 
Members were presented with a report that sought authority to purchase the 
residential property 18 North Road, Okehampton.   
 
The Lead Member for Assets introduced the report.  During discussion 
Members were keen to support the proposal. 

 
It was then RESOLVED that Council be RECOMMENDED to: 
 
1. purchase the residential property 18 North Road, Okehampton to support 

future development ambitions for Wonnacotts Meadow and to provide 
short term emergency accommodation for families in this area; 

2. fund the purchase set out in Appendix A, along with legal and associated 
costs, from the Innovation Fund (Invest to Earn) Earmarked Reserve; and 

3. authorise the CoP Lead Assets in consultation with the s151 Officer and 
Lead member for Assets to conclude the purchase on the terms agreed 
as referred to in Appendix A of the presented agenda report. 

 
 
*HC 50          ICT PROCUREMENT OPTIONS 

Members were presented with a report that set out how the Council was 
seeking to procure a modern cloud hostable system or systems capable of 
realising further efficiencies and financial savings while delivery improved 
customer facing services, workflow and back office systems with seamless 
integration.  The report set out the progress made so far.  
 
The Lead Member for Resources and Performance introduced the report.  
The Group Manager set out the two parts of the process as being evaluation 
and procurement, and confirmed that Members would be involved in both 
parts of the process. 

 



It was then RESOLVED that officers be supported in their investigation and 
evaluation of computer systems capable of replacing the current solution 
acquired under T18 (as set out in paragraph 4 of the presented report).. 

 
 
*HC 51          FOOD SAFETY AUDIT REPORT 

Members were presented with a report that outlined the Action Plan that had 
been developed to implement the recommendations contained within the 
Food Standards Agency’s Audit Report arising from the Food Standards 
Agency Audit carried out in July 2017.  The report also introduced the Food 
Safety Service Plan 2017/18. 
 
The Lead Member for Health and Wellbeing introduced the report.  He and 
the CoP Lead Environmental Health responded to questions.  During 
discussion, the CoP Lead confirmed that the actions included within the 
service plan could be undertaken within budget.  One Member asked if food 
safety advice should be charged for and, in response, the CoP Lead stated 
that it may be prudent to explore charging but this should be balanced 
against the regulatory work that was carried out. 

 
It was then RESOLVED that: 
 
1. The Committee had been given the opportunity to comment upon the 

content of the Food Standards Agency Audit and the Action Plan being 
implemented to maintain and improve performance within the Food 
Safety function be endorsed; and 

2. The content of the Food Safety Service Plan 2017/18 be agreed and 
endorsed. 

 
 
HC 52           ANNUAL REVIEW OF HEALTH AND SAFETY POLICY 

Members were presented with a report that set out how the Council was 
required to prepare a written health and safety policy statement and that the 
policy should be agreed and signed off by the Head of Paid Service and the 
Leader of Council.  The policy was required to be reviewed annually and 
where appropriate, revised to reflect any significant change within the 
organisation.  The updated policy was attached at Appendix A. 
 
The Leader introduced the report and it was noted that the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee had also considered the draft Policy at its meeting on 
and had recommended that it be approved (Minute O&S 34 refers) 

 
It was then RESOLVED that Council be RECOMMENDED that the revised 
Health and Safety Policy be adopted and that it is signed by the Head of Paid 
Service and Leader of the Council. 

 
 
 
HC 53          RESIDENTIAL PROPERTY PURCHASE 

(Paragraph 3 – Information relating to the financial or business affairs of any 
particular person (including the authority holding that information)) 
Members were presented with an exempt report that sought approval for the 
acquisition of 18 new build residential units. 

 
It was then RESOLVED that Council be RECOMMENDED: 
 



1. That subject to specialist external legal and treasury management 
advice, Council should formally agree to acquire up to 18 residential 
units as outlined in appendix 3 of this report. 

2.   To borrow up to £2.55 million from the Public Works Loan Board 
      (PWLB) to fund the acquisition costs 
3.  To increase the borrowing limits of the Council by £2.55 million in the 
     Council’s Treasury Management Strategy. (NB. A revised treasury 
   management strategy will be presented to Council on 5 December 
   2017); 
4.  Subject to approval of points1 to3 above, that the Head of Paid Service, in 

consultation with the Deputy Leader, Lead Member for Assets and the 
s151 officer, is given delegated authority to agree (without further recourse 
to the Council): 

a) Any minor deviations from the draft terms detailed in Appendix 3. 
A major deviation (overall spend) will be returned to Council for 
consideration. 
b) the structure of the borrowing to cover the acquisition (up to a 
maximum of £2.55m) 
c) Which properties will be sold or which will be retained to let 
d) The terms applicable to any sale or property let. 

5.  That the Business Development Group Manager, in consultation with 
the Head of Paid Service, the s151 officer and the Lead Member for 
Assets, identify the most appropriate structure to hold any properties 
retained to let. If a new company structure is required, this will be 
brought back to this committee and Council for approval in due course. 

 
 
 

(The meeting terminated at 4.50 pm) 
 
 
 

_____________ 
Chairman 

 

 





 
 

Report to: Hub Committee  

Date: 6 February 2018 

Title: Quarter 3 Revenue Budget Monitoring 
2017/2018 

Portfolio Area: Support Services – Cllr C Edmonds 

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y 

  

  

Author: Alex Walker Role: Finance Business Partner 

Contact: Tel. 01803 861345                                                           
E-mail: alexandra.walker@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 

Recommendations:   

It is recommended that the Hub Committee resolves:- 

i) To note the forecast income and expenditure variations for the 

2017/18 financial year and the overall projected underspend of 
£45,000. 
 

ii) To recommend to Council to transfer the income surplus (of 
up to £10,000) into a Support Services Trading Opportunities 

Earmarked Reserve at the end of the 2017/18 financial year. 
This is expected to be £10,000 and was generated by HR and 

Finance in providing support to other Councils on their 
Transformation Programmes. 

 

iii) To recommend to Council to transfer the underspend on the 
Leisure budget (of up to £57,000) into the Leisure Earmarked 

Reserve at the end of the 2017/18 financial year. 
 

iv) To recommend to Council to transfer the additional planning 

income of £40,000 into the Planning Policy & Major 
Developments Earmarked Reserve at the end of the 2017/18 

financial year. 

 

 



 
 

1. Executive summary  
 

1) This report enables Members to monitor income and expenditure 
variations against the approved budget for 2017/18, and provides a 

forecast for the year end position. 
 

 

2. Background  
 

1) The Council’s finance procedure rules require budget monitoring reports 
to be made on a regular basis to the Hub Committee as part of the 
Council’s arrangements for budget management. 

 
3. Outcomes/outputs  

 
1) Budget Overview 
The gross service expenditure budget for 2017/18 was set at £26 million 

(£7.42 million net). The actual net revenue expenditure is forecast 
to be under budget by £45,000 when compared against the total 

budget set for 2017/18.  
 

 
3.1 Table 1 below provides an analysis of the projected variances against  
budget. 

 
 

          TABLE 1: 2017/18 BUDGET FORECAST 
 

                                                                       2017/18 
Budget 

expenditure

/(Income) 

Budget 
variations  

 

 

 

Note 

 £000 £000 £000  

APPROVED BUDGET    7,423  

Reductions in 

expenditure/additional 
income 

 

 

   

Commercial Services     

Car Park income (842) (40)  A 

Car Park permits 0 (10)  B 

Car Park fines     (61) (25)  C 

FCC Contract 2,275 (54)  D 

Sale of recyclable materials - (100)  E 

Trade Waste income - (14)  F 

Leisure Centres 57 (57)  G 

Customer First     

Planning income (259) (40)  H 

Housing Benefit – 
overpayment recoveries 

- (70)  I 

Homelessness Prevention 105 (65)  J 



 
 

                                                                       2017/18 

Budget 
expenditure

/(Income) 

Budget 

variations  
 

 

 

Note 

 £000 £000 £000  

Flexible Homelessness 
Support Grant 

0 (94)  K 

Support Services     

Trading opportunities 

income 

- (10)  L 

Financing and 
Investment 

    

Investment income (45) (11)  M 

Borrowing costs 95 (80)  N 

     

Sub total of variations      (670)          

Increases in 

expenditure/reductions 
in income 

    

Commercial Services     

Car Park - repair & 

maintenance (pay & 
display machines) 

5 15  O 

Waste - vehicle repairs & 
maintenance 

190 160  P 

Waste – equipment 
purchase 

15 10  Q 

Recycling Credits (290) 25  R 

Waste lease renewal 30 14  S 

Customer First     

Planning appeal costs - 12  T 

Land Charges income (110) 7  U 

Kilworthy Park - lettings 

income 

(159) 25  V 

Leisure Centres – legal fees 0 45  W 

Salaries 1,783 75  X 

Support Services     

ICT costs – support 

contracts 

218 65  Y 

     

Sub total of variations   453   

     

Financing: Funding 
to/from Earmarked 

Reserves 

    

Support Services Trading 

Opportunities Earmarked 
Reserve 

N/A 10 10 L 

Leisure Centres Earmarked 
Reserve  

N/A 57 57 G 



 
 

                                                                       2017/18 

Budget 
expenditure

/(Income) 

Budget 

variations  
 

 

 

Note 

 £000 £000 £000  

Planning Policy & Major 
Developments Earmarked 
Reserve 

N/A 40 40 H 

Homelessness Prevention 
Earmarked Reserve (HC41) 

N/A 65 65 J 

   172  

Sub total of variations     

     

PROJECTED OUTTURN   7,378  

     

PROJECTED 
UNDERSPEND  

      (45)  

 
 

 
Notes 

 

 
A. Car Park income – Car parking income is anticipated to be above 

its income target by £40,000 (4.8%) on an income budget of 
£842,000.  
 

B. Car park permits – The introduction of Town/Peripheral and Rural 
permits in 2017/18 are expected to generate income of approx. 

£10,000.  
 

C. Car park fines – Income from car parking fines is currently higher 

than the target of £61,000. If this trend continues then income is 
predicted to be £25,000 above the target. 

 

D. FCC Contract – The Council’s contract which covers waste and the 
cleaning of the streets and public conveniences is reviewed 
annually. An inflationary increase is applied based on a formula 

which takes into account factors such as fuel prices and average 
earnings index. The inflationary amount is calculated in December 

each year, but based on payments to date it is predicted to be 
underspent by £54,000. 

 

E. Sale of recyclable materials – Recycling income is due to be 
received where our recycling materials (glass, paper, cans, plastic 
bottles etc.) have a resale value. Recyclate is sold on the Council’s 

behalf by FCC Environment Ltd who often stockpile materials to try 
and obtain the best market rates. £25,000 has been received to 

date with a further £75,000 expected for the year. 

 

 



 
 

F. Trade Waste income – The Council introduced a trade waste 
collection service during 2016/17 and this is expected to generate 

income of approx. £14,000 this year. 
 

G. Leisure Centres – There is an underspend of £57,000 on the 
Leisure budget in 2017/18 due to slippage on timescales of the 
leisure investment. More of this investment is now scheduled to 

happen in 2018/19. It is recommended that the underspend is 
carried forward to 2018/19 to meet investment costs. 

 
H. Planning income – Planning income is anticipated to be above its 

income target by £40,000 (15%) on an income budget of 

£259,000. This is requested to be set aside in the Planning Policy 
& Major Developments Earmarked Reserve to support the ongoing 

costs of the Joint Local Plan. 
 

I. Housing Benefit – Additional income from the recovery of 

overpayments (budgeted expenditure for Housing Benefit in 
2017/18 is £13 million). 

 
J. Homelessness Prevention – At the November Hub meeting 

(HC41) it was recommended to transfer the balance of £65,000 
into an Earmarked Reserve for Homelessness to support the 
ongoing costs of implementing the homelessness prevention 

strategy 2017-2021. 
 

K. Flexible Homelessness Support Grant – The Council has 
received £94,000 from the Department for Communities and Local 
Government in respect of a homelessness support grant. This will 

be used to fund additional salary costs within Customer First. 
 

L. Support Services trading income – Support Services have 
developed a number of small scale trading opportunities by way of 
providing support to other Council’s transformation programmes. 

There is expected to be an income surplus from this of 
approximately £10,000. This is requested to be set aside in an 

Earmarked Reserve to support the development of similar future 
income generation opportunities. 

 

M. Investment income – Additional income due to the recent 
investment with the CCLA. This is expected to generate £22,000 in 

2017/18, this is partially offset by a reduction in investment income 
due to lower than anticipated interest rates. 
 

N. Borrowing costs – It was resolved at Council on 26 July 2016, 
that the Authority proceeds to acquire a fleet required to satisfy the 

West Devon waste and cleansing services and, if purchased, is to 
be financed through borrowing. A cost pressure was built into the 
2017/18 budget to repay this borrowing. No borrowing has taken 

place so far this year and the saving will be used to fund the 
additional cost of repairs and maintenance on the current fleet 

(which is ageing). The main vehicles will be purchased in December 



 
 

2017/January 2018, which will see the repairs and maintenance 
expenditure decrease accordingly.  

 
O. Car parks – The budget for repairs and maintenance on pay & 

display machines has already been fully utilised and is predicted to 
be overspent by £15,000. 

 

P. Waste vehicles – The repairs and maintenance costs on the waste 
vehicles are predicted to be overspent by £160,000. This is higher 

than expected, partly due to timing of scheduled work such as 
MOTs. Work is currently taking place to minimise these costs and 
the delivery of new vehicles will reduce the pressure on this budget. 

 
Q. Waste equipment – The budget for equipment has already been 

fully utilised and is predicted to be overspent by £10,000. Tighter 
controls on containers have now been introduced.  

 

R. Recycling Credits – The income target in 2017/18 was reduced 
by £40,000 but the current monitoring position is showing that the 

budget needs to be further reduced by £25,000. The income 
shortfall from recycling credits follows a national trend. 

 
S. Waste lease renewal – This additional cost of £14,000 follows 

the renewal of the lease for the waste depot. 

 
T. Planning appeal costs – There are additional costs in respect of 

costs awarded at appeal of £12,000. 
 

U. Land Charges income - As at the end of December, £75,000 has 

been received in land charges income against a budget of 
£110,000. At the end of the year it is estimated that there may be 

a shortfall in land charges income of £7,000. 
 

V. Kilworthy Park – It is anticipated that there will be a shortfall in 

the letting income for Kilworthy Park. This is likely to be in the 
region of £25,000 against an income target of £159,000. Work is 

currently ongoing to maximise the income at Kilworthy Park.  
 

W. Leisure Centres – The Council externalised the legal work to 

facilitate negotiations over the terms of the legal agreements (e.g. 
lease arrangements) with Tavistock Town Council in respect of 

Meadowlands Pool. 
 

X. Customer First salaries – There are additional staffing and 

agency costs of approximately £75,000 which will be funded from 
the Flexible Homelessness Support Grant. 

 
Y. ICT costs – There are additional costs in respect of ICT support 

contracts of approximately £65,000. The additional costs such as 

IEG4 (the robots) are offset by additional recovery of housing 
benefit overpayments of £70,000. 

 



 
 

 

4. Management Actions 
 
The table below sets out the relevant management actions for the 
revenue expenditure and income variations shown above. It is best 

practice for the Council to state whether there are any corrective actions 
that need to be taken for the variances identified in 2017/18. 

 
                                                                       Budget 

variations 

overspend/ 
(underspend) 

 

Management Action 

 £000  

Reductions in 
expenditure/additional 

income 

  

Car park income (40) £30,000 has been built into the 

2018/19 budget. 

Car park permits (10) £10,000 has been built into the 

2018/19 budget. 

Car park fines        (25) This will be kept under review 

during 2017/18. 

FCC Contract (54) No management action is being 

proposed as the Council is 
currently in a 2 year managed 

service contract period which 
expires in March 2019. Service 
delivery options are being 

progressed. 

Sale of recyclable 

materials 

(100) No management action is being 

proposed as the Council is 
currently in a 2 year managed 

service contract period which 
expires in March 2019. Service 
delivery options are being 

progressed. 

Trade Waste income (14) £15,000 has been built into the 

2018/19 budget. 

Leisure Centres (57) Recommended to be put into 

an earmarked reserve. 

Planning income (40) £15,000 has been built into the 

2018/19 budget. 

Housing Benefit recovery 

of overpayments 

(70) £85,000 has been built into the 

2018/19 budget. 

Homelessness Prevention (65) Recommended to be put into 

an earmarked reserve. 

Flexible Homelessness 

Support Grant 

(94) No action required (3 year 

grant). 

Trading opportunities 

income (Support Services) 

(10) Recommended to be put into 

an earmarked reserve. 



 
 

                                                                       Budget 

variations 
overspend/ 

(underspend) 

 

Management Action 

Investment income (11) £20,000 additional income has 

been built into the 2018/19 
budget. 

Borrowing costs (80) No action required. 

Car park repairs and 

maintenance 

15 This will be kept under review 

during 2017/18. 

Waste vehicles 160 £190,000 has been built into 
the 2018/19 budget. 

Waste equipment 10 This will be kept under review 
during 2017/18. 

Recycling Credits 25 The income shortfall of 
£25,000 has been built into the 

2018/19 budget. 

Waste lease renewal 14 £15,000 has been built into the 

2018/19 budget. 

Planning appeal costs 12 No action required. This is a 

one off cost pressure. 

Land Charges 7 This will be kept under review 

during 2017/18. 

Kilworthy Park – lettings 

income 

25 The income shortfall of 

£25,000 has been built into the 
2018/19 budget. 

Leisure 45 No action required. This is a 
one off cost pressure. 

Salaries 75 No change is recommended to 
the 2018/19 budget. The 

additional salaries are grant 
funded. 

ICT support contracts 65 £65,000 has been built into the 

2018/19 budget. This cost is 
offset by savings in housing 

benefit overpayments. 

   

 
 
 
 
5. Prudential Indicators 

 

The prudential code indicators were approved in the Treasury 
Management Strategy report to the Audit Committee on 21 March 
2017. The indicators are monitored during the year through the 

normal revenue and capital monitoring processes. Any exceptions are 
reported to the Audit Committee. To date all Treasury Management 

limits have been adhered to. The Treasury Management Indicators 
set out the level of predicted capital expenditure and borrowing 
requirements. 



 
 

 
6. Review of Earmarked Reserves 

 
The Council annually undertakes a review of the level of its 

Earmarked Reserves as part of the budget setting process. A 
schedule of Earmarked Reserves is attached at Appendix A with their 
proposed use. 

 
As the accounting entries can be identified at an early stage, a   

recommendation is made to Council to agree the accounting entries 
in 2017/18. Only Council can approve the use of Earmarked 
Reserves. 

 
 

7. Income and Reserves 
 
Income monitoring is an integral part of financial management. 

Current income forecasts are as follows: 
 

Service Actual 
Income 

2016/17 
 

£’000 

Income 
Budget 

2017/18 
 

£’000 

Projected 
Income 

2017/18 
 

£’000 

Deficit/ 
(Surplus) 

 
 

£’000 

Deficit/ 
(Surplus) 

 
 

% 

Car Parks 866 842 892 (50) (5.9%) 

Employment 
Estates 

240 225 225 - - 

Land 
Charges 

87 110 103 7 6.4% 

Planning 
Applications 

317 259 299 (40) (15.4%) 

Investment 
Income  

55 45 56 (11) (24.4%) 

Recycling 
Credits 

301 290 265 25 8.6% 

TOTAL 1,866 1,771 1,840 (69)  

 

 
 

The decision on the level of balances and reserves is taken during the 
formulation of the annual budget and the medium term financial strategy. 
As a matter of prudence the Council has set aside various amounts in 

reserves to cover future liabilities and items of expenditure and these are 
attached as Appendix A. 

 
 
 

 
 

 



 
 

8. Issues that may impact on the budget monitoring position in 
the next 3 months/Risks 

 

The budget monitoring position assumes that collection rates will remain 
at previous levels.  

For Business Rates, it has been assumed that the Council is still in a 
situation where it is paying a Business Rates levy. This is regularly 
monitored and any change to this position would be reported to Members. 

9.  Proposed Way Forward  

 
1) Revenue budget monitoring will continue on a regular basis and further 
reports will be brought to the Hub Committee on a quarterly basis. 

 
 

10. Implications  
 

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  

Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 

 

Y The Statutory Powers that apply to this report are 

the Local Government Act 1972 Section 151 and 
the Local Government Act 2003 Section 28. 

Financial 
 

Y The report identifies an overall underspend of 
£45,000 which is 0.6% of the overall budget set 

for 2017/18 of £7.423 million. 
 
It is recommended to Council to transfer the 

following: 
 

• £10,000 to the Support Services Trading 
Opportunities Earmarked Reserve  

• £57,000 to the Leisure Earmarked Reserve. 

• £40,000 to the Planning Policy & Major 
Developments Earmarked Reserve 

 
Annually transfers are made from Earmarked 
Reserves to the Comprehensive Income and 

Expenditure Account as part of the closure of the end 
of year Accounts.  

 

Risk Y Budget variances – continual budget monitoring at 

all levels within the Council ensures early 
identification of variances. Reporting to the Hub 
Committee provides an opportunity for Members to 

identify and instigate remedial action where 
appropriate.  

 



 
 

 Resource Planning – the Hub Committee takes 

into account any significant issues when developing 
the Council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy. 

 These are identified in the Management Actions 

section of the report (Section 4). 
 

 
 
 

 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 

 

Equality and 

Diversity 
 

 None directly arising from this report.   

Safeguarding 
 

 None directly arising from this report. 

Community 
Safety, Crime 

and Disorder 
 

 None directly arising from this report. 
 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

 None directly arising from this report. 
 

Other 

implications 

 None directly arising from this report. 

 

 

 
 

Supporting Information 
 
Appendix A – Reserves. 

 
Background Papers: 

Finance Community of Practice budget monitoring working papers 
Medium Term Financial Strategy for the five year period 2018/19 to 

2022/23 – HUB Committee 18 July 2017. 
 
 

Approval and clearance of report 
 

 
 

Process checklist Completed 

Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes 

SLT Rep briefed Yes 

Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes 

Data protection issues considered Yes 

If exempt information, public (part 1) report 

also drafted. (Committee/Scrutiny) 

N/A 

 





APPENDIX  A

RESERVES - PROJECTED BALANCES 

Opening Additions Predicted Projected

balance to the spend balance

1 April 2017 Reserve to 31.3.2018 31.3.2018 Comments

£000 £000 £000

EARMARKED RESERVES

 

Specific Reserves - General Fund

Business Rates Retention Scheme (218) (218)

This reserve will be used to offset the balance on the 

Collection Fund. This relates to a timing issue on the 

accounting adjustments required for the localisation of 

business rates.

Car Parking Maintenance (440) 30 (410)

Statutory tree work £30,000. Of the remaining balance approx 

£150,000 is earmarked for Brook Street Car Park.

2016/17 Budget Surplus Contingency reserve (669) 447 (222)

This is the Budget Surplus from 2016/17 which was put into an 

Earmarked Reserve. Commitment of £127,500 for JSG Future 

Options, £50,000 for Joint Local Plan, £50,000 for five case 

managers in Development Management for one year, £80,000 

to fund the 17/18 Capital Programme and £140,000 to fund the 

17/18 Revenue Budget Gap. 

Innovation Fund (Invest to Earn) reserve (906) 758 (148)

CCLA Investment £500,000, Purchase of Land, Okehampton 

£250,000 & Lottery set up costs £7,500

T18 Strategic Change Reserve (111) (227) 100 (238)

To meet redundancy and pension strain costs (one off 

investment costs funded by savings).

Cannons Meadow, Tavistock (16) 3 (13) Written down to revenue annually

Elections (24) (24)

Neighbourhood Planning Grants (58) (58) Support Neighbourhood planning

Economic Grant Initiatives (23) (23)
Flood Works (18) (18)

Homelessness Prevention (30) (65) (95)

This contribution was approved by Hub Committee 28/11/17 

(HC41)

New Homes Bonus (227) (961) 948 (240)

Commitment of £860,000 to fund the 17/18 Revenue budget, 

£88,000 for the 17/18 Capital Programme and £9,880 

contribution to the Dartmoor National Park

Planning Policy and Major Developments (39) (40) 39 (40)

To support Joint Local Plan. The contribution of £40,000 is 

subject to approval by Hub Committee 6/2/18
Land & Development (Planning) 0 (25) 15 (10)
Invest to Save (27) (27)
ICT Development (24) (25) 25 (24)
JSG Future Options (46) 30 (16)
Waste & Cleansing Options Review (80) 60 (20)
Community Housing Fund (248) (248)

Leisure Services (174) (57) 174 (57)

As per capital monitoring report - Hub Committee 28/11/17. 

The contribution of £57,000 is subject to approval by Hub 

Committee  6/2/18
Maintenance Fund (Estates) (223) 30 (193)
Revenue Grants (59) (59)

Support Servies Trading Opportunities 0 (10) (10)

This contribution is subject to approval by Hub Committee 

6/2/18

Other Reserves below £15,000 (72) (72)

TOTAL EARMARKED RESERVES (3,732) (1,410) 2,659 (2,483)

TOTAL UNEARMARKED RESERVES (1,125) (45) (1,170) Projected underspend of £45,000 for 2017/18

TOTAL REVENUE RESERVES                                

(EARMARKED AND UNEARMARKED 

RESERVES) (4,857) (1,455) 2,659 (3,653)





 
 

 
 

 
 

 

Report to: Hub Committee  

Date: 6 February 2018 

Title: Capital Budget Monitoring 2017/2018 

Portfolio Area: Support Services – Cllr C Edmonds 

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee:  Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

 

 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 

clearance obtained: 

Y 

  

  

Author: Angela Endean 

Pauline Henstock 

Role: Capital Accountant 

Finance Community of 

Practice Lead 

Contact: Tel. 01803 861480                                                           

E-mail: angela.endean@swdevon.gov.uk 

Tel. 01803 861377 

Email: pauline.henstock@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

Recommendations:   

1. That the Hub Committee endorses the Report.  

 

 

 

 

 

 



 
 

 
 

1. Executive summary  
 

The report advises Members of the financial position as at 31st 
December 2017 for the purposes of budget monitoring. All capital 

projects are within the individual capital budgets approved by 
Members. Therefore capital schemes are within budget. 

 
The total capital budget for 2017/18 is £4,937,829 of which 

£1,330,692 has been spent to date (Appendix A). 
 

The capital programme is currently underspent in comparison to the 
budgets, due mainly to most of the expenditure on the Waste Fleet 

budget (£2,600,000) and the Leisure Investment budget 

(£1,067,219) being scheduled to be spent in the latter part of 
2017/18. In addition, expenditure on Private Sector Renewals 

(Disabled Facilities Grants) is £224,000 at Month 9, compared to the 
budget for 17/18 of £450,000. 

 
2. Background  

 
The capital programme for 2017/18 was approved by Council on 7 

February 2017 (CM55 and HC48 refer). This report provides an 
update on the Capital Programme. 

 
3. Outcomes/outputs  

 
Members are requested to note the following updates on Capital 

Projects: 

Community Project Grants (previously Village Hall & Community 
Project Grants) 

 
There is no additional budget allocation for Community Project Grants 

in 2017/18 however there is a budget of £97,694 from underspends 
in previous years.  

 
Expenditure to date in 2017/18 is £27,554 with a further £17,726 

being committed against the budget. 
 

Leisure Investment  
 

Investment in both Meadowlands, Tavistock and Parklands, 
Okehampton is being made in accordance with the capital drawdown 

schedule. There has recently been a variation to the original 

drawdown schedule which sees £89,000 of costs moved back from 
2017/18 to 2018/19.   



 
 

 
 

This is due to the re-profiling of the leisure investment following 
construction delays.  There will be no impact on the overall capital 

budget (see table below). 
 

Capital budget approved for Leisure Investment – based on revised 
schedule 

2016/17 

 

2017/18 2018/19 

 

2019/20 Total 

£99,293 £967,926 £432,782 

 

£42,949 £1,542,950 

 

 

 

Meadowlands Leisure Centre - Planning all approved and works 
started in December. The planned closure for 2 weeks before the 

Christmas break all went to schedule to allow the temporary changing 
facilities to be set up and the re-opening of the pool. The 

refurbishment for the new wet side changing is progressing well with 
a rear entrance established. These works will continue for completion 

end February/early March. Phase 2 of the main building development 
works have all been tendered and the contractor will be appointed at 

the end of January with works to start mid-February, for completion 
in August. 

 
Parklands Leisure Centre - works have been delayed to allow valued 

engineering and final costings of the scheme.  This will incorporate 
the required works to resolve outstanding key maintenance issues 

and requirements for the new studio. A contractor has been 

appointed and works will look to start in the first week of February 
with completion for May. 
 

Affordable Housing  
 

The budget for Affordable Housing in 2017/18 is £50,000.  The 
budget brought forward from previous years is £89,000 giving a total 

of £139,000 available in 2017/18. 
 

Historically the capital programme has facilitated affordable housing 
developments in rural areas by providing a sum of money, normally 

between £10,000 and £15,000 per plot, to enable the development 
to proceed.  These schemes are typically on exception sites and 

therefore do not rely on cross subsidy from open market properties, 

evidence from a Registered Provider (RP) is provided to ensure the 
money is required.  Money is normally required where there are 

abnormals on the site or there is a shortfall in public subsidy.  It is 
important to note that public subsidy for these schemes is not 

currently available. 



 
 

 
 

 
Expenditure to date in 2017/18 is £50,000 representing 50% of a 

contribution to Cannonsmead Cottages, South Tawton.  This is a 
scheme of 6 units all for rented accommodation which will be 

advertised through Devon Home Choice once complete.  The 
properties will be owned and managed by Rural Specialists Hastoe 

Housing.  Completion is expected to be in the middle of next 
year.  Consultation events took place last year and officers will raise 

awareness of this scheme prior to its completion. 
 

Tenants Incentive Scheme 
 

The Tenants incentive Scheme offers an incentive payment to tenants 

of Social Landlords who wish to downsize. This frees up larger 
accommodation for families on our housing register or in temporary 

accommodation.  
 

It also prevents the spiral of debt tenants may find themselves in if 
they are affected by the spare room subsidy (sometimes referred to 

as the “bedroom tax”) and cannot afford to pay increased rents or 
the cost of moving. A common use of the incentive payment is where 

older people move to a property where there are no carpets.  
Payments can be made to provide carpeting in the property, 

combating the risk of trips and falls and possible hospital admissions. 
A sum of £3,500 has been spent to date from a budget of £36,348. 

 
In Cab Technology - Whitespace 

 

The garden waste rounds have now been integrated into Whitespace 
and tested with crews. The system will be fully integrated and in use 

across the Borough in the new vehicles due to be delivered between 
now and March. 

 
Private Sector Renewals including Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG’s)  

 
As at the end of December (Month 9), £224,017 has been spent 

compared to the budget for 17/18 of £450,000. A further £59,000 
has already been approved (committed) and there are further 

Statements of Need being progressed which total another £156,000.  
   

Old Mill Site, Okehampton 
 

An agreement has been reached with the former owner to prepare 

the site for development and enable its disposal and bring the site 
back into use.  The capital budget of £25,000 will be retained for this 

purpose. 



 
 

 
 

 
Waste Fleet 

 
Expenditure on the new fleet to the end of December (month 9) is 

£660,879 from the total budget of £2,600,000. The fleet list totals 35 
vehicles and includes dedicated refuse and recycling collection 

vehicles of various capacities.  Some of the smaller vehicles have 
already been received, the remainder being delivered by March 2018 

following the significant lead time on the manufacture.   
 

At the moment the Council is assessing the most cost effective 
method for financing of the borrowing and this may be a combination 

of external borrowing from the PWLB and internal borrowing from the 

Council’s cash flow. A recommendation will be made to Council on the 
best way to finance this expenditure. 

 
Purchase of Land – Okehampton 

 
The acquisition of this land will enable the Council to consolidate its 

asset interest; to bring forward a key project in the community 
housing programme and unlock a valuable regeneration site in 

Okehampton Town Centre. The combined sites will be subject to a 
masterplanning process to identify an appropriate scheme for 

delivery. A capital budget of £255,000 has been approved.    
 

Purchase of Residential Property – Okehampton 
 

The purchase of a residential property in the centre of Okehampton 

was approved by Hub Committee on 28 November 2017 (HC 49 
refers). This property will support future regeneration in Okehampton 

Town Centre, as mentioned above, and provide short term 
emergency accommodation for families in this area.  A capital budget 

of £163,000 has been approved. 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

4. Options available and consideration of risk  
 

This is considered on a project by project basis as part of the project 

appraisal document and initial business case for each capital project. 
 

 



 
 

 
 

5.  Proposed Way Forward  
 

This is considered on a project by project basis. 
 

6. Implications  
 

Implications 

 

Relevant  

to  
proposals  

Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 

 

 Statutory powers are provided by the S1 

Localism Act 2011 general power of 
competence. 

 
The capital programme is implemented in line 

with the Council’s legal requirements, which 
are examined on a project-by-project basis. 

To date there are no undue legal concerns. 

 
 

Financial 
 

 The total capital budget for 2017/18 is 
£4,937,829 of which £1,330,692 has been 

spent as at 31 December 2017 (Appendix A). 
 

All capital projects are within the individual 
capital budgets approved by Members 

(Appendix A). 
 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 

 

Equality and 

Diversity 
 

 This matter is assessed as part of each 

specific project. 

Safeguarding 
 

 This matter is assessed as part of each 
specific project. 

 

Community Safety, 
Crime and 

Disorder 
 

 This matter is assessed as part of each 
specific project. 

Health, Safety and 

Wellbeing 

 This matter is assessed as part of each 

specific project. 
 

Other implications  None 

 

 



 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

Supporting Information 
 

Appendices: 
 

Appendix A – Details of capital expenditure to 31st December 2017  
 

Background Papers:  
 

Revenue and Capital Budget proposals for 2017/18 - Council 7 

February 2017 (CM55 refers) 
Revenue and Capital Budget proposals for 2017/18 – Hub 24 January 

2016 (HC48 refers) 
 

 

Process checklist Completed 

Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes 

SLT Rep briefed Yes 

Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes 

Data protection issues considered Yes 

If exempt information, public (part 1) 
report also drafted.  

N/a 

 





APPENDIX A

CAPITAL PROGRAMME MONITORING - Expenditure to 31st December 2017

Budget 17-18 

(original)

Balances brought 

forward from 

previous years 

(underspend from the 

16/17 Capital 

Programme)

Total Budget for 

2017/18 

(including 

underspends 

brought forward)

Expenditure to 

31st December 

2017

Total Budget 

remaining for 

2017/18

Capital projects (A) (B) (A + B)
£ £ £ £ £

W8400/01 Community Project Grants 97,694 97,694 27,554 70,140
W8242 Leisure Investment Budget 869,783 197,436 1,067,219 310,599 756,620
W8202 Affordable Housing 50,000 89,000 139,000 50,000 89,000
W8402 Tenants Incentive Schemes 15,000 21,348 36,348 3,500 32,848
W8208 In Cab Technology - Whitespace 55,000 55,000 54,143 857
W8001 Public Sector Renewals inc Disabled Facilities Grants (DFG's) 450,000 450,000 224,017 225,983
W8200 Waste Fleet 2,600,000 2,600,000 660,879 1,939,121

Waste Containers 19,254 19,254 19,254

Old Mill Site, Okehampton 25,000 25,000 25,000

Purchase of Land - Okehampton 255,000 255,000 255,000

Purchase of Residential Property  - Okehampton 163,000 163,000 163,000

Contingency budget for unexpected items 30,314 30,314 30,314

Total 4,457,783 480,046 4,937,829 1,330,692 3,607,137

Capital Programme is to be funded by:- £

Capital Receipts Reserve 452,542
Budget Surplus Contingency Earmarked Reserve 80,000
New Homes Bonus Reserve 115,504
Leisure Services Earmarked Reserve 174,328
Innovation Fund (Invest to Earn) Earmarked Reserve 418,000
Better Care Funding for Improvement Grants (Disabled Facilities Grants) 402,000

Borrowing for Leisure Investment 695,455

Borrowing for Waste Fleet 2,600,000

4,937,829





Report to: Hub Committee 

Date: 6th February 2018 

Title: Medium Term Financial Position 2018/19 

onwards 

Portfolio Area: Cllr P R Sanders - Annual Budget Setting 

Process 

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y 

  

  

Author: Lisa Buckle Role: Strategic Finance Lead 
(S151 Officer) 

Contact: Tel. 01803 861413 

Email: lisa.buckle@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 

Recommendations:   

That the Hub Committee recommend to Council:- 
 

(i) To set an increase in Council Tax for 2018-19 of 2.99%  
        (Band D of £224.91 for 2018-19 – an increase of 13 pence 

         per week or £6.52 per year). This equates to a Council Tax  
         Requirement of £4,524,706 as per Appendix B. 

 
(ii) The financial pressures shown in Appendix A of £674,500. 

 
(iii) The contributions to Earmarked Reserves of £60,000.  

 

(iv) The reductions in Partnership funding levels of £28,000 as set 
out in Appendix F. 

 
(v) The proposed savings of £808,100 as shown in Appendix A.  

 
 

 



 

(vi) That £560,000 of New Homes Bonus funding is used to 
         fund the 2018-19 Revenue Budget as shown in Appendix A 

         and Appendix C. 
 

(vii) To delegate to the S151 Officer, in consultation with the 
        Leader and Deputy Leader to agree the final amount of New 

        Homes Bonus funding for the Dartmoor National Park  
        Sustainable Community Fund for 18/19 

 
(viii)   That a collection fund surplus of £96,000 is utilised in 18-19 

 

(ix)  To transfer the 2018-19 budget surplus of £248,928 into 
        Reserves to assist with future financial sustainability (as 

        detailed in 1.9).  
 

(x)   That the Total Net Expenditure of the Council is £7,289,624 
        for 2018-19. 

 
(xi)   That the Council Tax Support Grant paid to Town and Parish     

Councils is reduced by 8.6% for 2018/19 as per Appendix A. 
This equates to a payment of £64,744 for 2018/19. 

 
(xii)   That the fees and charges set out in Appendix H are  

approved. 
 

(xiii) The 2018/19 Capital Programme projects as per Appendix C. 

 
(xiv) The financing of the Capital Programme as per Appendix C. 

 
(xv)   That the level of reserves as set out within this report and  

         the assessment of their adequacy and the robustness of  
         budget estimates  be noted. This is a requirement of Part 2 of  

         the Local Government Act 2003. 
 

 

 
1.  Executive summary  
1.1       The Council’s Medium Term Financial Position (MTFP) is based on a 

      financial forecast over a rolling five year timeframe to 2022/23.  
 

1.2 The Council, along with other local authorities, has faced 
unprecedented reductions in Government funding since the 
Comprehensive Spending Review 2010.  
 

1.3 Between 2009/10 and 2019/20, the Council’s Core Government 
funding has reduced by £3 million. 

 



1.4 West Devon has continued to work in partnership with South Hams 
District Council which has allowed West Devon Borough Council to 
achieve annual savings of £2.2 million and more importantly protect all 
statutory front line services.  
 

1.5 Between both Councils the annual shared services savings being 
achieved are over £6 million. However, the Councils continue to face 
considerable financial challenges as a result of uncertainty in the wider 
economy and constraints on public sector spending as outlined in the 
Comprehensive Spending Review.  

 
1.6 West Devon Borough Council is currently forecasting a £931,676 

budget gap by 2020/21. This is approximately £150,000 higher than the 
position predicted at the end of November 17, due to less New Homes 
Bonus being received and therefore there is less NHB in future years to 
assist with funding the revenue base budget. If the Government were to 
remove the negative Revenue Support Grant within the Council’s  
2019-20 funding allocation, then this would better the Council’s budget 
position by £300,000 for 2019/20 and future years (and reduce the 
budget gap by this amount). Negative Revenue Support Grant is 
explained in sections 5.5 and 5.6 and the Government has 
acknowledged the funding difficulties that this is causing Councils and 
a Government consultation will take place in the Spring on this. 
 

1.7 On 28th November 2017, the Hub Committee considered the latest 
Revenue and Capital Proposals for 2018/19. Since that meeting date, 
the Government has announced the draft Local Government Finance 
Settlement. A further report to the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 
(16th January 2018) was updated to show the changes from the draft 
finance settlement being announced and other changes to the budget 
which have been identified. Appendix G of the Overview and Scrutiny 
report set out the detailed breakdown of the changes which were made 
to the Budget Proposals for 2018-19, since the last budget report to the 
Hub Committee on  28th November. In addition, the changes since the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee meeting on 16 January 2018 are 
shown. The Budget Proposals were considered by the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on 16th January. Minute *O&S 66 refers. 
 

1.8 The main change is that Devon has been successful in achieving 
business rates Pilot status for 2018-19 and this is predicted to generate 
extra business rates funding of £460,000 for 2018-19 (one year only). 
 

1.9 This extra business rates funding has resulted in the 2018-19 Budget 
now showing a £248,928 one-off budget surplus. Members’ views are 
sought on putting this additional funding into an Earmarked Reserve to 
assist with future financial sustainability and to assist in meeting the 
budget gap in 2019-20, if required (albeit this is only a short term 
solution). 
 
 



1.10 A Cross Party Member Working Group (Financial Stability Review 
Group) was set up in November with defined Terms of Reference to 
look at the Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2018-19 onwards and 
to further look at options for securing financial stability for the longer 
term. This Member Working Group will report back to Members early in 
2018. 

 
1.11 The Partnership Task and Finish Group has reviewed the level of 

partnership funding going forward and has made recommendations as 
set out in Appendix F. These recommendations were approved by the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 16th January 2018 (Minute O & S 
66 refers). 

 
2. OVERALL POSITION – BUDGET GAP 
2.1 Appendix B illustrates the overall financial forecast for the forthcoming 

five years. The Council’s Net Budget is £7.4 million in 2017/18. A 
Summary forecast is shown below of the potential budget situation if all 
of the budget pressures and the savings and income generation in 
Appendix A were approved. It also shows the situation if the Council 
Tax is increased by 2.99% (shown in Appendix B). 

 
2.2 The following table illustrates the predicted budget gap from 2018/19 

onwards for the Council as shown in Appendix B: 
 

 2018/19 
£ 

2019/20 
£ 

2020/21 
£ 

2021/22 
£ 

2022/23 
£ 

Cumulative 
budget gap 

£Nil 
(assumes 
budget 

surplus of 
£249K is 
put into 

reserves) 

£735,538 £931,676 £986,645 £754,973 

  
Note: If these budget gaps are not closed annually, the aggregated 
budget gap would equate to over £3.4 million by 2022/23, as shown in 
Appendix A.  

 
2.3    This shows that by 2020/21 the Council has a £931,676 budget gap 

(with over £735K to find for 2019/20).  
      
2.4 The cost pressures, savings and additional income already identified 

for 2018/19 are shown in Appendix A. It is to be noted that this is the 
best estimate of the financial position at the current time and new items 
could arise and the report will be updated. 

 
 
 
 
 



3 THE FOUR YEAR SETTLEMENT FUNDING OFFER  
 
3.1 During 2016/17 the Government offered Local Authorities the 

opportunity to apply for a four year agreed funding settlement, subject 
to the production of an efficiency plan. The Council applied and was 
accepted for the four year agreement.  

  
3.2 By 2018/19 the Council receives no Government funding (Revenue 

Support Grant) and the Council will need to be self-sufficient. The 
withdrawal of Government funding has happened two years earlier 
than expected. The Council’s Settlement Funding Assessment 
(Government Grant and funding from Business Rates) is reducing by a 
further 37% between now and 2019/20.  
This compares to a 18.7% cut for Metropolitan Districts and 32.4% for 
Shire Districts. Counties vary between 30% to 31%.  

 
3.3 District Councils such as West Devon have also suffered a large 

reduction in their New Homes Bonus funding (£0.5 million in 17/18) due 
to the number of years payments being reduced from six years to five 
years in 17/18 and four years from 18/19 onwards. The funding being 
released is to contribute towards adult social care costs, a function 
carried out by Unitary and County Councils.  

  

 
 
 
3.4  It can be seen from the graph above that between 2009/10 and 

2019/20 the Council’s Core Government funding will have reduced by 
£3 million. Note: the graph does not reflect the one-off pooling gain in 
2018/19. 



 
4   ASSUMPTIONS FOR FINANCIAL MODELLING PURPOSES 
4.1  The National Employers have made a final pay offer covering 1 April 

2018 to 31 March 2020. The majority of employees (those on salaries 
starting at £19,430 p.a.) would receive an uplift of 2% on 1/4/18 and a 
further 2% on 1/4/19, with those on lower salaries receiving higher 
increases. The cost of this would be £85,000 in 2018/19 and a further 
£95,000 in 2019/20. This has been reflected in Appendix A. The 
Medium Term Financial Position is not an expression of Council Policy 
on pay awards, but a means of ensuring an appropriate provision is 
made as part of the overall financial planning of the Council. 

 
4.2 The report assumes inflation will run at 2% over the five year period. 

The Consumer Prices Index (CPI) was 3.0% in October 17. 
 
4.3 The Medium Term Financial Position has included a cost pressure of 

£70,000 for Inflation and increases on Goods and Services. The main 
items are:- 

  
 £20,000 – Business Rates increases  
 £2,500 – Apprenticeship Levy 
 £7,500 – Utilities inflation 
 An amount of £40,000 is to fund a 2.5% uplift on other expenditure 

budgets. 
 
4.4 The predicted interest rate forecast from our treasury management 

advisors, Capita, is that interest rates will remain at 0.5% up to 
September 2018 and then in December 2018 the base rate is predicted 
to rise to 0.75%. By December 2019 the bank base rate is predicted to 
increase to 1%. Extra treasury management income of £20,000 per 
annum has been built into the financial modelling for this. 

 
4.5    An increase in council tax of 2.99% for the next five years has been 

modelled for council tax purposes. This would equate to a Band D 
council tax for West Devon of £224.91 in 2018/19 as shown in 
Appendix B and equates to a council tax increase of 2.99%. 

 
4.6 It has been assumed that the number of properties within the Borough 

will increase by 160 per annum from 2018/19 to 2022/23 – this is an 
increase of approx. 0.8% - the Council had 19,948.77 Band D 
equivalent properties in 2017/18. These additional properties have 
been used to calculate the amount of additional Council Tax and also 
the potential for New Homes Bonus.  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 



5. BUSINESS RATES AND COUNCIL TAX 
 
5.1 Retained Business Rates - The Government introduced the Business 

Rates Retention system from April 2013. There is a risk of volatility in 
the system because Councils are exposed to any loss of income if 
businesses go into decline. The Council is part of the Devonwide 
Business Rates Pool. 

 
5.2 Of the Business Rates collected of £11 million, the Council currently 

retains approximately 14p  in every £1 to run our services.  
 
 Self-sufficient local government: Business Rates Retention 
 
5.3 The Secretary of State has announced in December 2017 that local 

business rates retention would move from 50% to 75% in 2020/21. 
 
5.4 Business Rates Pilot status for 2018-19 

Devon was successful in achieving Business Rates Pilot status for 
2018-19 and the pilot will begin on 1st April 2018. Financial modelling 
shows that the Devon business rates pool could benefit by somewhere 
in the region of between £10m to £16.9m by becoming a pilot in 
2018/19.  The modelling shows that West Devon could benefit by 
approximately £460,000. This is one-off additional revenue money for 
the year of the pilot only (2018-19).  The bid set out how pilot status for 
Devon would meet the principles of assisting financial sustainability for 
the District Councils, higher levels of investment in economic 
regeneration in Devon and support for Upper Tier Councils with the 
growing financial cost pressures of areas such as adult social care and 
children’s services. There will be a further opportunity for Councils to 
bid to be a pilot in 2019-20 and further details of this will be issued by 
the Government. 
 
Tariff/Top Up Adjustment in 2019/20 (negative Revenue Support 
Grant) 
 

5.5 The Tariff/Top Up Adjustment is an amount in 2019/20 which increases 
an authority’s tariff. It is applied where cuts to a Council’s Settlement 
Funding Assessment (SFA) cannot be achieved through further cuts to 
the Revenue Support Grant (RSG), as the RSG is already zero. 

 
 In effect the Tariff/Top Up Adjustment is negative Revenue Support 

Grant. Settlement Funding Assessment  is the income received by 
local authorities in the form of (i) Revenue Support Grant from Central 
Government and (ii) a share of business rates retained locally.  

 
 
 
 
 
 



Draft Local Government Finance Settlement for 2018-19 
 
5.6 In the draft Local Government Finance Settlement, the Government 

has said that a consultation will take place in Spring 2018 regarding the 
current £153million in negative RSG that remains in the 2019/20 
funding allocations, with the outcome feeding into the 2019/20 local 
government finance settlement. The negative RSG currently included 
within the Council’s funding allocation for 2019/20 amounts to 
£293,377. If the Government were to remove this following the 
consultation process, the Council’s budget position would be bettered 
by £300K for 2019/20 and future years. 

 
5.7 Rural Services Delivery Grant – the 2018/19 funding has been 

increased from £50 million to £65 million. This has meant extra RSDG 
funding of £85,993 for 2018/19 as the Council’s allocation has 
increased from £286,645 to £372,638. The £372,638 has been built 
into the Council’s business rates baseline due to the Council’s Pilot 
status. 

 
 Council Tax 
5.8 West Devon Borough Council’s share of the council tax bill in 2017/18 

was 12%, being £218.39 out of an average Band D council tax bill of 
£1,809. The total income from council tax in 2018/19 is predicted to be 
£4.525 million. A 1% increase in council tax generates an extra 
£44,000 for West Devon.  

 
Increases of less than 3% council tax referendum limit for District 
Councils 
 

5.9 The draft Finance Settlement has stated that for District Councils, 
increases of less than 3% or up to and including £5 (whichever is 
higher), can be made without triggering a council tax referendum. This 
is for 2018/19 and 2019/20 (this is to reflect the level of inflation). 

 
 
 For West Devon Borough Council:- 
 

i) A £5 increase (2.29%) - This would mean a Band D council tax 
for West Devon would increase from £218.39 to £223.39 in 
2018/19 - a council tax increase of 2.29%. This generates extra 
council tax income of £100,590. 

 
ii) Alternatively a 2.99% increase would mean that the Band D 

would increase from £218.39 to £224.91 – an increase of £6.52. 
This generates extra council tax income of £131,160. 

 
 

A council tax increase of 2.99% per annum has been modelled in 
Appendix A for illustration purposes. A council tax increase of 2.99% is 
recommended to Council in recommendation i). 



Below is an extract of Minute O&S66 (Meeting on 16th January):- 
With regard to the proposed increase in Council Tax for 2018/19, the 
meeting was of the view that, whilst it was again regrettable, the 
Council had no choice other than to increase Council Tax for 2018/19 
by 2.99% and a motion was PROPOSED and SECONDED and when 
put to the vote declared CARRIED to that effect. 

 
5.10 At the Members’ Budget Workshop held on 10th October 2017, there 

was early support for increasing council tax by the maximum allowable. 
At this event it was recognised that this measure would increase the 
base budget for ensuing years and protect the delivery of services and 
the Council’s financial resilience. In the Members’ Budget survey, 94% 
of the Members who responded stated that they would support 
increasing council tax by the maximum currently allowable for 2018-19. 
(Note, the council tax referendum principles have now been published 
by the Government for 2018-19, with the current limit being increased 
to 2.99% or £5 (whichever is higher) for District Councils). 

 
5.11 In the draft Local Government Finance Settlement, the Government 

has also announced that it will defer the setting of referendum 
principles for town and parish councils for three years. However, this is 
conditional upon the sector taking all available steps to mitigate the 
need for council tax increases. 

 
6 BUDGET PRESSURES, SAVINGS AND INCOME GENERATION   
6.1 Financial modelling has been undertaken for the next five years to 

predict the Council’s financial situation for the short and medium term. 
 
6.2 Appendix A to the Medium Term Financial Position sets out the 

Budget Pressures forecast for the next five years and the additional 
savings and income forecast. These figures in Appendix A show the 
changes to the existing base budget. A description of the larger 
budget pressures are set out below. 

 
6.3 Salaries – A 2% provision for a pay award has been included for 

2018/19 and 2019/20. This is explained in section 4.1.  
 
6.4 Trees Maintenance – The Borough Council is legally obliged to have a 

proactive management system in place to monitor trees and ensure 
that any required work is undertaken to ensure that trees remain as 
safe as possible. The Council has a backlog of inspections and a 
budget of £40,000 is required to address this, but this could be reduced 
to £20,000 per year from 2020 onwards. 

 
6.5 ICT support contracts - An extra cost pressure of £65,000 has been 

added for 2018/19 for ICT support contracts, to align the budget to 
actual expenditure. The additional cost of ICT contracts such as IEG4 
(software) are offset by additional recovery of housing benefit 
overpayments of £85,000.   

 



6.6 The following cost pressures have been identified since the 28th 
November Budget Proposals to the Hub Committee and have been 
included within this report:- 

• £20,000 provision for salary costs for a steady state review of 
staffing roles and grades now that the Transformation 
Programme is embedded 

• £15,000 provision for IT to replace ageing network switches 

• £15,000 cost pressure for a lease renewal within the waste 
service 

 
 SAVINGS AND INCOME GENERATION 
 
6.7 Commercial Property Acquisition Strategy – An income target of 

£100,000 from investments in commercial property has been built into 
the 18/19 Base Budget. This income target will be revised as and when 
commercial property opportunities are realised. Note this income target 
has been lowered from the original target of £200,000 which was 
contained within the 28th November draft budget proposals. This is due 
to the recent experiences of the Council in bidding for commercial 
properties and recent Government consultations on the subject. 
 

6.8 Re-procurement of contracts (leisure) – The Medium Term Financial 
position shows the savings in Appendix A from the re-procurement of 
outsourced contracts e.g the leisure contract. 

 
6.9 Car Parking - An income target of £180,000 for car parking income 

from a review of charges has been built into the 2018/19 Budget. The 
Car Parking Strategy Group will undertake a review of car parking 
charges for 2018/19.  

 
6.10 The Car parking income target has also been increased by £40,000 in 

18/19, to reflect actual income being achieved in 16/17. 
 
6.11 Review of Accommodation/Office requirements – Officers are 

working with the local Members at what an alternative service provision 
may look like if the Okehampton office was closed as part of the budget 
proposals for 2018/19. Following the meeting of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee on 16 January (Minute O & S 66), the current 
budget proposals envisage that this would become effective from 1st 
April 2018, saving £82,000. 

 
6.12 Housing Benefit recoveries of overpayments - A sum of £85,000 

has been built into the 2018/19 forecasts as a recurring income for 
Housing Benefit recoveries of overpayments. 

 
 
 
 
 



6.13 Cessation of accepting cash and cheques – The proposal is to 
remove the facility for accepting cash and cheques at Council 
premises, excluding Car Parks.  The Council would procure a new card 
acquiring contract.  Customers (as now) will be able to pay by cash or 
cheques via Paypoint or at Post Office. The current budget proposals 
envisage that this would become effective from 1st April 2018, saving 
£35,000. 

 
6.14 Reduction in Partnership funding levels – Appendix F sets out the 

Partnership Task & Finish Group’s recommendations regarding future 
funding levels. These recommendations were agreed by the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee on 16th January 2018 (Minute O & S 66). The 
level of funding reduction would equate to £28,000 for 2018/19. 
Partners would be able to apply to the Council’s community lottery 
scheme for further funding as set out in Appendix F. 

 
6.15 Budget Monitoring position - The nine monthly revenue Budget 

Monitoring position showed a predicted underspend against budget of 
£45,000 for 2017-18. Where there are variances identified against 
budget, the budget for 2018/19 has been adjusted where necessary.  

 
6.16 Direct Lets Scheme – If Members are supportive of the scheme, this 

is predicted to produce savings of £10,000 in 2018/19, increasing to 
£22,000 by 2019/20. 

 
6.17 Results of the Members’ Budget Survey – Other budget items which 

were supported by Members in the Members Budget Survey were as 
follows:-  
(These have been included as Savings/Additional Income in 2018/19 in 
the modelling in Appendix A) 
 
i) Reduction in the size of the Hub Committee from 9 Members to 

6 Members, effective from the May 2018 Annual Council 
(£11,500) 

ii) Paperless Committee agendas (£3,500) – To be effective from  
February 2018. A paper copy will be produced for the Chairman 
and Vice-Chairman of the Committee. 

iii) Charging for duty planning service (£6,500) – The proposal is to 
increase the appointment time from 15 mins to 30 mins and 
charge £30 per appointment 

iv) Charging for more formalised food advice (£5,000) – More 
formalised advice is a service that could sit outside the current 
regulatory role (where informal advice is sometimes given) and 
generate income. This maybe especially attractive to new 
businesses and those with more complex systems and products 
(manufacturers for example). 

 
 
 



6.18 The following savings have been identified since the 28th November 
Budget Proposals to the Hub Committee and have been included 
within this report:- 

 

• £35,000 saving on the re-procurement of the Insurance contract 

• £8,000 saving on external audit fees for 2018-19 onwards 
 
 
6.19 Fees and Charges – On 23 January 2018, the Development 

Management and Licensing Committee reviewed the Development 
Management Fees and Charges for 2018/19. There were no changes 
to the Base Budget as a result of this report. 

 
6.20 Attached in Appendix H are the Environmental Health proposed Fees 

and Charges for 2018/19. If the charges are approved, an additional 
income of £5,000 could be generated as per Appendix A. 

 
 
7 CAPITAL PROGRAMME AND PRUDENTIAL BORROWING 
 
7.1 The Capital Programme is set by the Council and may be funded by 

sale proceeds from the disposal of assets (capital receipts), external 
grants and contributions, directly from revenue or from borrowing. 

 
7.2 A proposed Capital Programme for 2018/19 onwards is set out in 

Appendix C.      
 
7.3 Prudential Borrowing - The Council will consider the use of prudential 

borrowing to support capital investment to deliver services and will 
ensure that the full costs of borrowing are taken into account when 
investment decisions are made.  

 
7.4 In July 2016 (Minute CM28), the Council agreed to undertake 

prudential borrowing of £1.5 million for the new leisure contract. Also at 
Council on 26 July 2016 (Minute CM27), Council agreed to undertake 
borrowing for the waste fleet. 

 
7.5 Officers will make recommendations in February/March 18 on the 

strategy for internal borrowing and external borrowing for the waste 
vehicles and the leisure investment. This will be as part of the Treasury 
Management Strategy. 

 
8. EARMARKED AND UNEARMARKED RESERVES 
8.1 A schedule of Earmarked and Unearmarked Reserves is shown in 

Appendix D. The Council currently has £1.1 million in Unearmarked 
Reserves and £3.7 million in Earmarked Reserves. 

 
 
 
 



 
9 MEMBERS’ BUDGET WORKSHOP 
 
9.1 A Members’ Budget Workshop was held on 10th October. Members 

considered budget options that fell into the following categories such 
as:- 

 i) further income generation 
 ii) external contracts 
 iii) Reductions in service levels 
 iv) financing options 
 
9.2 A Cross Party Member Working Group (Financial Stability Review 

Group) was set up in November with defined Terms of Reference to 
look at the Medium Term Financial Strategy for 2018-19 onwards and 
to further look at options for securing financial stability for the longer 
term. This Member Working Group will report back to Members early in 
2018. 

 
10 NEXT STEPS 
 
10.1   Appendix A shows there is a budget surplus for 2018/19 of £248,928. 

Members’ views are sought on putting this additional funding into an 
Earmarked Reserve to assist with future financial sustainability and to 
assist in meeting the budget gap in 2019-20, if required (albeit this is 
only a short term solution). 

 
10.2 Officers will continue to work with the Cross Party Member Working 

Group and the results of this will be incorporated into future Budget 
reports. A revised MTFS (Medium Term Financial Statement) will be 
presented to Members in April 2018. 

 
10.3 The Government sets planning application fees and the long awaited 

20% increase in fees comes into force on 17 January 2018. Although 
this will significantly increase income from planning applications, it is 
important to recognise that this increase is ring-fenced for the planning 
service and is in addition to the existing budget for the planning 
service. The extra 20% in planning fee income and the extra 20% 
expenditure will have a net Nil impact on the Budget position.  

 
10.4 The Budget Timetable is shown in Appendix E. 
 
10.5 Tell Us What You Think – Budget Engagement – The Council is 

encouraging residents and businesses to engage with the Council on 
the budget proposals and more details are on the Council’s website. 

 
 
 
 
 
 



 
11.  IMPLICATIONS 
 
Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y            The Hub Committee is responsible for 
recommending to Council the budgetary 
framework. It is the role of the Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee to scrutinise the Budget 
proposals being proposed by the Council. In 
accordance with the Financial Procedure 
Rules, Council must decide the general level of 
Reserves and the use of Earmarked Reserves. 

 
           The preparation of the Budget report is 

evidence that the Council has considered and 
taken into account all relevant information and 
proper advice when determining its financial 
arrangements in accordance with statutory 
requirements, and in particular, that it will set a 
lawful budget.  
 

Financial 
 

Y            The financial implications are set out in  
           Sections 2 and 3 of the report. 

Risk 
 
 

Y Each of the budget options taken forward by 
Members will consider the risks of the option. 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 
 
Equality and 
Diversity 

 Comprehensive Impact Assessments are completed 
for the budget proposals. 

Safeguarding  None directly arising from this report. 
Community 
Safety, Crime and 
Disorder 

 None directly arising from this report. 
 

Health, Safety and 
Wellbeing 

 None directly arising from this report. 
 

Other implications  None directly arising from this report. 
 
Supporting Information 
Appendices: 
Appendix A – Budget pressures and savings 
Appendix B – Summary of the Budget position 
Appendix C – New Homes Bonus and Capital Programme  
Appendix D - Schedule of Reserves (Unearmarked and Earmarked) 
Appendix E – Budget Timetable 
Appendix F – Partnership Funding 
Appendix G – Summary of changes to the Budget 



Appendix H – Proposed Environmental Health fees for 2018/19 
 
Approval and clearance of report 
Process checklist Completed 
Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes 
SLT Rep briefed Yes 

Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes 
Data protection issues considered Yes 
If exempt information, public (part 1) report 
also drafted. (Committee/Scrutiny) 

N/A 

 





BUDGET PRESSURES AND SAVINGS APPENDIX  A

WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL

BASE Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4 Yr5

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

BUDGET PRESSURES £ £ £ £ £ £

Waste collection, recycling and cleansing contract (estimate) 510,000 190,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000

Inflation on the street cleaning and public conveniences 30,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

Reduction in planning income 125,000 0 0 0 0 0

Triennial Pension revaluation 80,000 25,000 0 75,000 0 0

Inflation on goods and services 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000 70,000

Increase in salaries - increments and pay and grading 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000 40,000

Increase in salaries - pay increase at 2% modelled 40,000 85,000 95,000 40,000 40,000 40,000

Maintenance of trees 0 40,000 0 (20,000) 0 0

Reduction in Recycling credits 40,000 25,000 0 0 0 0

Planning Community of Practice - staffing resource 30,000 0 0 0 0 0

ICT support contracts - increase the budget to align to actual expenditure 0 65,000 0 0 0 0

Reduce income target for Kilworthy Park to align to actual income received 0 25,000 0 0 0 0

Reduction in Housing Benefit administration subsidy  30,000 16,500 20,000 10,000 10,000 10,000

National Insurance and National Living Wage 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000 20,000

Provision for salary costs for steady state review 20,000

IT - replace ageing network switches 15,000

Waste - lease renewal 15,000

Revenue implication of the waste capital bid in 2017/18 capital programme 0 13,000 0 0 0 0

Finance Community of Practice - staffing resource 15,000 0 0 0 0 0

Business Information Point (increase from £8,340 to £15,100) -                                                 

Economy Working Group recommendations 6,760 0 0 0 0 0

Reinvest saving of £2,811 in Town Benchmarking reports and £1,000 to Youth Markets                                               

(Economy WG recommendations) 3,811 0 0 0 0 0

The following are all one-off cost pressures in 2016/17 and are not required in 

2017/18 and are therefore reversed out in 2017/18

Trading company - specialist advice  - One off (150,000) 0 0 0 0 0

Specialist resource - Waste and Cleansing options review and delivery -one off (80,000) 0 0 0 0 0

Our Plan (75,000) 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL IDENTIFIED BUDGET PRESSURES 735,571 674,500 325,000 315,000 260,000 260,000

WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL BASE Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4 Yr5

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

£ £ £ £ £ £

Contribution to Earmarked Reserves                                                                                                

(This line shows the annual contributions into the Reserve)

Contribution to IT Development Reserve (£25K per annum) 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000

Contribution to Planning Reserve (£25K per annum) 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000 25,000

Transformation Project (T18) - Approved at 9th December 2014 Council                                    

(One-off investment costs)                                                                                                    

Contribution to Strategic Change Reserve to meet redundancy and pension costs - 

Contributions reduce to zero in 2020/21 

160,000 10,000 10,000 0 0 0

Net contribution to T18 Reserve to meet other non-recurring costs                       

(Contributions are offset by savings as per the Business Case)
67,000 0 0 0 0 0

Total Contribution to Earmarked Reserves 277,000 60,000 60,000 50,000 50,000 50,000



BUDGET PRESSURES AND SAVINGS APPENDIX  A

SAVINGS AND INCOME GENERATION IDENTIFIED BASE Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4 Yr5

2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

£ £ £ £ £ £

Income from investments in commercial property
0 100,000 0 0 0 0

Re-procurement of contracts (e.g. savings from Leisure contract) 346,000 0 50,000 135,000 130,000 260,000

Budget Scouring exercise (£45,000 reduction in the contribution to the repairs and 

maintenance earmarked reserve for car parking maintenance, £25,000 saving on 

purchase of equipment and £5,000 on staff travel) 
75,000 0 0 0 0 0

Opt-in charged garden waste service 67,500 122,500 0 0 0 0

Car parking income from a review of charges 
0 180,000 0 0 0 0

Additional car parking income  (increase income target to reflect actual income being 

achieved) 0 40,000 0 0 0 0

Review of Accommodation/Office requirements (effective 1 April 2018) 0 82,000 0 0 0 0

Housing Benefit recoveries of overpayments (increase income target to reflect actual 

income being achieved) 0 85,000 0 0 0 0

Cessation of accepting cash and cheques (effective 1 April 2018) 0 35,000 0 0 0 0

Planning Fees (increase income target to reflect actual income being achieved) 0 15,000 0 0 0 0

Business Rates pooling gain 30,000 0 0 0 0 0

Reduction in Partnership funding (as per Appendix F) 0 28,000 0 0 0 0

Villages in Action (£8,000 to £4,000), SW Museum (£2,000 to £1,000) and cease 

Economy Grants (£5,571) - Economy Working Group recommendations 10,571 0 0 0 0 0

Extra treasury management income 0 20,000 20,000 20,000 0 0

Trade waste income 0 15,000 0 0 0 0

Introduction of Direct Lets Scheme 0 10,000 12,000 0 0 0

Reduction in the size of the Hub Committee 0 11,500 0 0 0 0

Paperless Committee agendas 0 3,500 0 0 0 0

Council Tax Reduction Scheme - 8.6% reduction in Town and Parish Grant 6,600 6,100 5,500 0 0 0

Charging for duty planning service 0 6,500 0 0 0 0

Charging for food advice/ environmental health fees and charges 0 5,000 0 0 0 0

Savings from the re-procurement of the Insurance contract 0 35,000 0 0 0 0

Saving on external audit fees for 2018-19 0 8,000 0 0 0 0

Reduced running costs at Kilworthy Park and additional leasing income 5,000 0 0 0 0 0Income generation from alternative investment vehicles (e.g. property investment fund - 

CCLA) 25,000 0 0 0 0 0

TOTAL SAVINGS AND INCOME GENERATION 565,671 808,100 87,500 155,000 130,000 260,000



FINANCIAL STRATEGY APPENDIX B

Line Council Tax is increased by £2.99% annually BASE Yr1 Yr2 Yr3 Yr4 Yr5

No. Modelling for the financial years 2018/19 onwards 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23

£ £ £ £ £ £ 

1 Base budget brought forward 7,253,325 7,423,224 7,538,552 6,791,586 6,755,449 6,830,480

2 Budget pressures (as per Appendix A) 735,571 674,500 325,000 315,000 260,000 260,000

3 Savings already identified (as per Appendix A) (565,671) (808,100) (87,500) (155,000) (130,000) (260,000)

4 Less one-off contribution to reserves in 2018/19 (248,928)

5 Projected Net Expenditure:  7,423,225 7,289,624 7,527,124 6,951,586 6,885,449 6,830,480

Funded By:-

6
Council Tax income  - Modelling a 2.99% increase in council tax each year        

(Taxbase 16/17 = 19,733.41 Band D Equivalent properties)
4,356,612 4,524,706 4,696,958 4,875,449 5,060,480 5,252,151

7 Collection Fund Surplus 178,000 96,000 80,000 80,000 80,000 80,000

8 Revenue Support Grant (Nil from 2018/19 onwards) 223,284 0 0 0 0 0

9
Localised Business Rates (baseline funding level - includes Rural Services 

Delivery Grant of £372,638 in 2018/19 due to Pilot status)
1,539,000 1,957,846 1,620,367 1,650,000 1,690,000 1,730,000

10 Tariff/Top Up Adjustment amount (negative RSG) 0 (293,377) (300,000) (400,000) (400,000)

11 Business Rates - Pilot Gain 0 460,000 0 0 0 0

12 Funding from Rural Services Delivery Grant (see Note 9) 372,638 0 372,638 300,000 300,000 300,000

13 Funding from New Homes Bonus 860,000 560,000 375,000 200,000 150,000 150,000

14 Funding from Transition Grant 30,689 0 0 0 0 0

15 Less: Contribution to Earmarked Reserves -277,000 -60,000 -60,000 -50,000 -50,000 -50,000

16 Less: Contribution from Budget Surplus Contingency Earmarked Reserve 140,002

17 Total Projected Funding Sources 7,423,225 7,538,552 6,791,586 6,755,449 6,830,480 7,062,151

18

Budget gap/(surplus) per year                                                                               

(Projected Expenditure line 5 - Projected Funding line 17) 0 -248,928 735,538 196,137 54,969 -231,671

Less contribution to reserves 248,928

Actual Predicted Cumulative Budget Gap                                                0 0 735,538 931,676 986,645 754,973

Aggregated Budget Gap (if no action is taken in each individual year to 

close the budget gap annually) 0 735,538 1,667,214 2,653,859 3,408,832

Modelling Assumptions: (Assumes an increase in Band D Equivalent 

properties of 160 per annum)

Council Tax (Band D) (an increase of 2.99% per annum has been modelled) 218.39 224.91 231.63 238.55 245.68 253.02

Council TaxBase 19,948.77 20,117.85 20,277.85 20,437.85 20,597.85 20,757.85





APPENDIX C 

 

New Homes Bonus funding and Capital Programme for 2018-19 onwards 

 

 

1. NEW HOMES BONUS (NHB) 

1.1 The Council has received notification of its 2018-19 allocation for NHB of £642,946.    

1.2 The New Homes Bonus was introduced in 2011 to provide a clear incentive for local 

authorities to encourage housing growth in their areas. It rewards local Councils for 

additional homes added to the council tax base, including newly built properties and 

conversions as well as long term empty properties brought back into use, after deducting 

demolitions.   

1.3 Following consultation, the Government has implemented reforms to the scheme that 

sharpen the incentive for housing growth. The length of New Homes Bonus payments was 

reduced in length from 6 years to 5 years in 2017-18 and 4 years from 2018-19.  It can be 

seen from the Table below that this reduction from 6 years to 5 years has meant the Council 

has lost £568,622 in New Homes Bonus funding in 2017/18. The Council has repeatedly 

made the point that the current crisis in funding for Adult Social Care is a national problem 

which needs new Government money, as opposed to reducing the New Homes Bonus 

funding to pay for this and therefore further burdening the council taxpayer to fund social 

care costs. 

  

1.4 From 2017-18 the Government has introduced a national baseline for housing growth of 

0.4% below which New Homes Bonus will not be paid, which the Government has said 

reflects a percentage of housing that would have been built anyway. The baseline equated 

to 97 Band D Equivalent properties for West Devon and NHB was lost of £119,000.  

1.5 In the draft Local Government Finance Settlement issued just before Christmas, the 

Government has confirmed that NHB payments will be for a period of 4 years and a baseline 

of 0.4% will continue. No further adjustments to NHB are being made at this stage (for 2018-

19). 

  

 

 

  

 

 

 



1.6  The table below shows the NHB received to date and a forecast for future years. 

 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 

 (£) (£) (£) (£) (£) 

2011/12 323,920 323,920    

2012/13 568,622 568,622 

(this year 

has dropped 

off by a 

reduction to 

5 years of 

payment)   

2013/14 133,255 133,255 133,255 
 

 

2014/15 222,997 222,997 222,997 
  

2015/16  248,975 248,975 248,975 248,975 
 

2016/17  247,527 247,527 247,527 247,527 

2017/18    108,515 108,515 108,515 

2018/19     37,929 37,929 

2019/20     40,000 

New Homes 

Bonus  

returned  4,913     

 

NHB  

Received/  

Forecast 

1,502,682 

Actual  

received 

1,749,449 

Actual  

received 

961,269 

Actual  

received 

642,946 

Allocation 

433,971 

Forecast 

 

 

 

 

 



1.7 The table below shows estimated amounts of NHB receivable in future years and potential 

uses of the NHB funding:- 

 

 2018-19 

(£) 

2019-20 

(£) 

2020-21 

(£) 

Predicted NHB 

amount 

642,946 433,971 228,000 

Amount 

required to fund 

Capital Projects  

65,000 101,000 101,000 

To fund the 

Revenue 

Base Budget 

560,000 375,000 200,000 

Dartmoor 

National Park 

allocation 

TBA TBA TBA 

Funding 

shortfall 

£17,946 

remaining 

 

£42,029 

shortfall 

£73,000  

shortfall 

 

The NHB recommended to fund the Revenue Base Budget in 2018-19 has been reduced to 

£560,000, in view of the lower allocation received for 2018-19. 

 

1.8 Dartmoor National Park (DNP) – On an annual basis Dartmoor National Park request a share 

of the New Homes Bonus to reflect new homes delivered within the park. The money is used 

to support a local community fund and, for example, joint work through the rural housing 

enabler. Members consider this on an annual basis as part of the Budget process.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



2. CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2018/19 to 2022/23 

2.1 The table below shows an outline capital budget proposal for the Capital Programme for 

2018/19 to 2022/23.  

 

 

 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21 2021/22 2022/23 

Tenants Incentive 

Scheme (TIS) 

 

15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 

Village Halls and 

Community Projects  

(Note 1) 

 

0 36,000 36,000 36,000 36,000 

Affordable Housing 

(Note 2) 

 

50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 50,000 

Private Sector Renewals 

including Disabled 

Facilities Grants  

450,000 450,000 450,000 450,000 450,000 

      

      

TOTAL CAPITAL  

PROGRAMME 

515,000 551,000 551,000 551,000 551,000 

Suggested method of funding the Capital Programme: 

Better Care funding  

towards DFGs  

(assumed will match the 

spend) 

(450,000) (450,000) (450,000) (450,000) (450,000) 

New Homes 

Bonus (Required to 

fund the Capital 

Programme) 

65,000 101,000 101,000 101,000 101,000 



Note 1 – Village Halls and Community Projects 

There is sufficient underspend in the 2017/18 Capital Programme on this project which can be rolled 

forward into 2018/19. Therefore no new budget allocation is required for 2018/19. 

Note 2 – Affordable Housing 

Within the last year, the capital programme has helped to support the following schemes: 

• Cannonsmead Cottages, South Tawton.  This is a scheme of 6 units all for rented 

accommodation which will be advertised through Devon Home Choice once complete.  The 

properties will be owned and managed by Rural Specialists Hastoe Housing.  Completion is 

expected to be in the middle of next year.  Consultation events took place earlier last year 

and officers will raise awareness of this scheme prior to its completion. 

• Walkham Meadows,Horrabridge.  This scheme is 10 units in total and all of which will be for 

affordable rent.  The scheme is being owned and managed by DCH who also own the 

properties on the adjacent scheme.  The properties will be advertised through Devon Home 

Choice and awareness events will take place in Horrabridge prior to completion. 

In terms of the capital programme, housing officers would like to ask for £50k to support schemes 

similar to the above.  Developments have not come forward in a timely manner which would have 

provided a commuted sum and therefore this amount is requested to enable affordable housing 

developments to come forward. 

 

 

 





           APPENDIX D 

      

EARMARKED AND UNEARMARKED RESERVES 

1.1 The Council’s Net Budget is £7.4 million in 2017/18. It is still recommended to retain the same policy 

of maintaining a minimum level of Unearmarked Reserves of £750,000.  

1.2 Our financial strategy recognises the need to maintain un-earmarked revenue reserves to provide 

stability for both medium and longer term planning and to provide a contingency against unforeseen events. 

In setting the minimum level at £750,000, the following have been taken into account: 

 

• The size of the authority 

• The volatility of some income and expenditure budgets due to a dependency on the weather, 

tourism and state of the economy 

• The risks faced by the Council with regard to funding unforeseen events 

• Uncertainty over future Government funding and Business Rates  

• Uncertainty over future New Homes Bonus allocations 

 

1.3 The Unearmarked Reserves (General Fund) balance of £1.1 million stands above the minimum 

balance of £750,000 and acts as a safeguard against unforeseen financial pressures.  

1.4 Specific Earmarked Reserves - The level and commitments for each reserve are kept under review 

each year to make sure the committed balance is adequate for its purpose (in accordance with LLAP Bulletin 

99, a guide on ‘Reserves’ from the Chartered Institute of Public Finance).  

1.5 A schedule of Earmarked Reserves for 16/17 is shown below. The Council has Earmarked Reserves of 

£3.7 million. 

1.6 The tables below show the movements on the two Earmarked Reserves that were set up as part of 

the Budget approved for 2016/17.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

EARMARKED RESERVES  

2016/17 

 

 

 

Balance at 

31 March 

2016 

Transfers 

Out 

Transfers 

In 

Balance at 

31 March 

2017 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

General Fund     

Car Parking Maintenance 408  32 440 

ICT Development  0 (18) 42 24 

JSG Future Options                0 - 46 46 

Planning Policy & Major Developments 0 - 39 39 

16/17 Budget Surplus Contingency 0 - 669 669 

Innovation Fund (Invest to Earn) 0 (16) 922 906 

Outdoor Sports & Recreation 0 - 7 7 

Waste & Cleansing Options Review 0 - 80 80 

Community Housing Fund 0 - 248 248 

Leisure Services 0 (99) 273 174 

LA Business Growth 25 (25) - - 

Habitats Reserve 15 (2) - 13 

Landscape Maintenance 5 - - 5 

Invest to Save 27 - - 27 

Elections 24 - - 24 

DCC Localism Support Officer 4 - - 4 

REIP – Localism Projects 1 - - 1 

DCC TAP Funds 63 (63) - - 

New Burdens CLG 3 - - 3 

CLG – Assets Community Value 8 - - 8 

Neighbourhood Planning Grants 65 (7) - 58 

World Heritage Key Site 5 - - 5 



EARMARKED RESERVES  

2016/17 

 

 

 

Balance at 

31 March 

2016 

Transfers 

Out 

Transfers 

In 

Balance at 

31 March 

2017 

 £000 £000 £000 £000 

Cannons Meadow 19 (3) - 16 

Millwood Homes 15 - - 15 

Young Persons Prevention Officer 10 (10) - - 

DCLG Business Support Scheme 13 (13) - - 

Inspire Annex 111 7 (7) - - 

DCC Public Health 25 (19) - 6 

Revenue Grants - - 59 59 

Business Rates Retention Scheme 844 (626) - 218 

Town Teams & Economic Grants 17 - 6 23 

Flood Works 20 (2) - 18 

New Homes Bonus 697 (2,288) 1,818 227 

Homelessness 30 - - 30 

Strategic Change (T18) - (81) 192 111 

Planning Enforcement 45 (40) - 5 

Maintenance Fund (Estates) - 

 

(17) 240 223 

TOTAL EARMARKED 

REVENUE RESERVES 
2,395 (3,336) 4,673 3,732 

 

Car Parking Maintenance - In line with the Council’s car parking strategy, a car parking maintenance reserve 

is maintained to ensure that major planned works on car parks can be carried out at the appropriate time, in 

line with a cyclical programme of maintenance and repairs. 

16/17 Budget Surplus Contingency – This reserve was created as part of the 2016/17 Budget setting 

process. There is an uncommitted balance remaining of £221,000. 

 



Innovation Fund (Invest to Earn) – This fund has a remaining balance of £906,000. Of this, £500,000 has 

been deposited with CCLA in their Local Authority Property Fund.  This is a long term investment and on 

average is expected to generate yields of c.5%. The remainder of this fund will be used to acquire and 

develop land within West Devon to support local housing need (Hub Committee 12/9/17).   

Community Housing Fund – This reserve was set up to hold the Community Housing Fund Grant. We are 

working on developing a community housing initiative, which is designed to help local residents to 

determine and deliver appropriate and affordable housing for their communities. 

Business Rates Retention Scheme - The business rates reserve covers any possible funding issues from the 

new accounting arrangements. 

New Homes Bonus – This reserve was established to show how New Homes Bonus funding has been used 

on an annual basis.  

Strategic Change Reserve (T18) – This reserve was set up to finance one off investments under the Council’s 

Transformation Programme that are required for development or the release of ongoing efficiencies.  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



          APPENDIX E 

West Devon Borough Council - Budget Timetable for 2018/19 onwards  

Date Committee 

10th October 2017 Members’ Budget Workshop – To consider 

budget options 

31st October 2017 Hub Committee – To consider the results of 

the Members’ Budget Workshop 

28th November 17 Hub Committee – Draft Budget Proposals for 

2018/19 

16th January 2018 Overview & Scrutiny Committee – To 

comment on the Draft Budget Proposals for 

2018/19 

23rd January 2018 Development Management and Licensing 

Committee – To consider fee and charges 

within the remit of the Committee. 

 6th February 2018 Hub Committee – To recommend Final 

Budget Proposals to Council for 2018/19 

 15th February 18 Date which Council Procedure Rule 16 

applies 

20th February 18 Full Council – To approve Final Budget 

Proposals for 2018/19 and set the WDBC 

share of the Council Tax 

21 February 18 Council Tax Resolution Panel – to agree the 

Council Tax Resolution for 2018/19 

(This is WDBC share plus all other precepting 

authorities share). 

Note 1- Council Procedure Rule 16 states that ‘Where a member intends to 

move a motion or amendment in relation to the Budget, the text of that 

motion or amendment must be put in writing and submitted to the Head of 

Paid Service  by 9am on the third working day before the meeting, in order 

that officers may have sufficient time to consider and advise the Council of the 

financial implications of any such motion or amendment’. As per the timetable 

above, this would need to be submitted by 9am on Thursday 15th February 18. 





 

Page | 1 

 

          APPENDIX F 

LIST OF PARTNERSHIP FUNDING 

 

Reduction in Partnership funding levels – The Council has a Task and Finish Group 

for Partnerships (which has reviewed the level of partnership funding by making direct 

contact with partners). The following recommendations are made regarding future 

funding levels. These were considered by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 

16th January. Below is an extract of O & S Minute 66:- 

It was then PROPOSED and SECONDED and when put to the vote declared 

CARRIED that:- 

‘The Committee support each of the recommendations of the Partnership Task and 

Finish Group (as outlined at Appendix F of the presented agenda report).’ 

 

It was noted at the meeting of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee that partners 

would be able to apply to the West Devon and South Hams Community Lottery to 

access funding. Organisations would need to apply to be part of the Lottery. The 

elements below set out how the Lottery scheme can further support local causes: 

• Maximising benefits to the community – to bolster support and to help in 

continuing the good work West Devon and South Hams already does with the 

voluntary and community sector (VCS).   

• Facilitating a wider benefit – whilst the lottery will help current funding of local 
VCS groups, it will also enable VCS groups to fundraise in partnership with the 
local authority and hence can be seen as the Council enabling local groups to 
help themselves.  It will enable groups to access lottery funding without facing 
barriers such as licensing, administration or ability to support such an 
endeavour.   

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 

CVS (£8,500) 

Supporting Community Action for a Thriving West Devon.  West Devon CVS supports 

voluntary groups, charities, social enterprises and other not-for-profit organisations to 

bring about positive change and build stronger communities.  The CVS also help to 

promote active citizenship through volunteering. The CVS have an office in the 

Ockment Centre in Okehampton and a pop-up office in Tavistock Library and employ 

1.5FTE and 3 core volunteers. A key project for 2017/18 has been facilitating and 

coordinating the Okehampton and Tavistock Health and Wellbeing Alliances to 

achieve economies of scale and better outcomes for local people.  WDBC contributes 

£8,500 (30%) core funding to CVS with DCC providing the remaining 70%.  



 

Page | 2 

 

i. Recommendation: Reduce CVS funding by 10% (£850) for 2018/19 and 

consider further cuts to funding in 2019/20 as this is not a statutory borough 

council function.  

 

 

Citizens Advice (£32,900) 

Torridge, North, Mid and West Devon Citizens Advice operates as a local independent 

charity providing free confidential, impartial advice to everyone in the West Devon 

Borough.  West Devon offices are located at the Ockment Centre, Okehampton and 

Kingdon House, Tavistock.  The Citizen Advice service in West Devon makes a 

significant contribution to the local community and in the first 6 months of 2017/18 

supported local people with over 1,750 issues and generated over £487,000 income 

gains for local people.  Benefits and tax credits are the most common issues dealt with 

by West Devon Citizens Advice followed by debt, employment, housing and 

relationship and family issues.  WDBC provides £32,900 per annum to the Citizens 

Advice which equates to 29% of its total funding.  Other notable funders include DCC 

and charitable trust grants. Calculations show that WDBC pays just £2.52 for every 30 

minutes of advice given to local people. 

ii. Recommendation: Reduce Citizens Advice funding by 10% (£3,290) for 

2018/19 and keep to this level of funding for two years whilst continuing to 

closely monitor the work of Citizens Advice via 6 monthly progress reports.   

 

Tavistock & District Local Transport Partnership (£10,315) 

Tavistock and District Local Transport Partnership is the charity name for Tavistock 

Ring and Ride which was established in 1990.  The main funders of the service are 

Devon County Council, West Devon Borough Council, and Tavistock Town Council 

with contributions from some parishes. Tavistock Ring & Ride is the preferred 

providers for 2 contracts for DCC namely, children with complex needs to school and 

frail and vulnerable adults to a day centre.   

Annually Tavistock’s Ring & Ride accounts show a small surplus or a break even 

position. Any reduction in funding would take the scheme into a negative position. 

Tavistock Ring & Ride carry the necessary reserves advised by auditors in accordance 

with good practice.  The budget for 2017/2018 shows expected income £84,520 and 

expenditure £83,500.   

Provided funding remains, it is expected 2018/2019 will be similar. The percentage 

split of funding is approx. Contracts 56%, DCC 18%, WDBC 12% (£10,315), Fares 

Parishes etc. 10%, TTC 4%.  Tavistock Ring & Ride employ 2 full time drivers, 2 part 

time escorts, 1 part time co-ordinator and 1 reserve driver.  One average Tavistock 

Ring & Ride carry 4,160 passengers per year, servicing Tavistock and surrounding 

areas.  It is estimated the Ring and Ride customers contribute £108,400 to the local 

economy. 

 



 

Page | 3 

 

 

 

Okehampton & District Ring and Ride (£10,315) 

West Devon Borough Council also provides funding to the Okehampton and District 

Ring and ride.  Both Tavistock and Okehampton Ring & Ride Schemes receive 

£15,000 each from Devon County Council. 

iii. Recommendation: Reduce Ring & Ride Funding by 10%  

10% to both Okehampton and Tavistock i.e. £515 each for 2018/19 and consider 

further cuts to funding in 2019/20 as this is not a statutory borough council function.  

 

Tamar Valley AONB (£8,835) 

An Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) is a statutory designation and is of 

equal standing to a National Park.  AONBs are serviced by a core AONB team and 

their main purpose is to deliver a Management Plan that will conserve and enhance 

the natural beauty on behalf of a local Partnership reflective of the area. The funding 

to employ the core team (circa 5 FTE) and some modest project funding is provided 

through a contribution of 25% from the constituent Local Authorities and when this is 

provided, Defra provide a further 75% funding.   

Statutory duties in relation to AONBs are provided for in Section 85 of the Countryside 

and Rights of Way (CRoW) Act 2000. Specifically, the Act states that, “in exercising or 

performing any functions in relation to, or so as to affect, land in these areas, relevant 

authorities (which includes the constituent Local Authorities) “shall have regard” to 

their purposes”.   

Sections 88 and 89 of the Act state that each Local Authority shall prepare and publish 

a Management Plan for their AONB which should then be reviewed at intervals of no 

more than five years. Management Plans are adopted statutory policy of the Local 

Authority(s).  Note, WDBC pays the Tamar Valley AONB £8,835 per annum for the 

production and delivery of the required Management Plan.  

iv. Recommendation: Maintain funding at current level due to statutory 

requirement to produce a management plan. 

 

Tamar Estuaries Consultative Forum (TECF) (£4,500) 

WDBC contributes £4,500 per annum.  The total budget of the TECF is £48,875 which 

equated to a 9.2% contribution from WDBC.  The marine environment is under 

increasing pressure from human activity, which can damage and further threaten 

marine ecosystems. The Government is aiming to protect habitats and species in UK 

seas by contributing towards a network of well-managed Marine Protected Areas 

(MPAs). The National MPA Steering Group has produced a document which sets out 

the duties of public authorities in relation to MPA management and this is appended.  

 



 

Page | 4 

 

The waters of Plymouth Sound and the Tamar Estuaries are classified as MPAs 

through their designation as: Plymouth Sound and Estuaries Special Area of 

Conservation; Tamar Estuaries Complex Special Protection Area; and Tamar 

Estuaries Marine Conservation Zone.  Management measures are therefore required 

to protect the vulnerable features within the MPAs and Relevant Authorities need to 

consider appropriate measures when determining applications for development or 

permitting activities in or near the sites.  

This requires a thorough knowledge of marine issues and access to marine data and 

is best achieved through collaborative management measures to protect the 

vulnerable features within it. For well over 20 years, Tamar Estuary Consultative 

Forum has been successfully managing the recreational waters of Plymouth Sound 

and the Tamar Estuaries through a collaborative approach. During that period we have 

seen the legislative burden increase on Relevant Authorities as the importance of 

protecting our key marine assets becomes more fully understood. There have been 

numerous studies which have shown that without the Forum, the financial burden on 

the individual organisations would be much higher than their contribution to TECF and 

so by working collaboratively, savings are being delivered to the Relevant Authorities 

– WDBC being one of them.  An example of work undertaken by the TECF this year 

includes providing the specialist marine input into the Habitat Regulations Assessment 

of the local authorities’ Joint Local Plan. 

v. Recommendation: Maintain funding at current level due to statutory 

requirement to produce a management plan. 

 

South West Museums (£2,000) 

Unlike many other councils, West Devon does not provide direct funding for museums 

and galleries. As such this inhibits their ability to access Arts Council’s investment at 

regional and national level which in turn also limits their opportunities to access 

national pots of funding and programmes.  Predominately driven by a volunteer 

workforce, local museums are not just for the community, they are of the community.  

This community commitment to heritage is demonstrated on a daily basis through the 

vast number of hours dedicated to supporting the delivery of local museums.  Rurality 

hinders the region to fair access of opportunities, as such South West Museums is at 

the heart of national discussions with Arts Council England and provides a valuable 

broker function to increase awareness of rural issues and ensure that museums and 

heritage organisations in rural areas can have fair access to publically funded, national 

programmes.   

During 2015/16 the five Accredited Museums in West Devon received almost 203,000 

visits which generated economic impact of over £902,984 of local visitors and 

£3,578,465 of day visitors. Focusing on the three independent museums of Tavistock, 

Fairground Heritage and Dartmoor Life these museums received visits of over 34,800 

in 2015/16 and 45,872 in 2016/17 generating an almost 25% increase in visitors. The 

economic value generated from these local and day visits by the three predominately 

volunteer run independent museums on the local economy was £771,485 over 2015-

2017.   



 

Page | 5 

 

Furthermore a key success for 2017 has been the Devon Museum Development 

Officer working in conjunction with Somerset to secure £98,089 from across six 

funding sources including the Lottery and Arts Council England for the MUSE: Makers 

in Museums a project with six museums in Devon and Somerset.  The Museum of 

Dartmoor Life is one of the six museums who has directly benefited from over £16,000 

of investment from the project.  This investment was only possible due to the capacity 

and expertise of the Museum Development Officer funded by South West Museums 

(£8,500).  Grants, training and specialist advice to local museums from South West 

Museums equated to £6,392. In short, the £2,000 WDBC investment in 2016/17 has 

generated £30,892 of real investment in the sector. 

vi. Recommendation: Cease funding 

 

Young Devon (£7,500) 

WDBC funding (£7,500) contributes greatly to the delivery of the youth counselling 

and young carer’s service for the area. Without this Young Devon would not have been 

able to support so many young people and carers. In the first 6 months of 2017/18 

Young Devon has provided counselling for 30 young people with a wide range of 

mental health issues including anxiety, depression and behavioural issues.   

The number of counselling sessions is up by nearly 30% compared with the same 

period for last year.  Counselling is provided by two female volunteer counsellors and 

one of the counsellors receives some paid hours to coordinate the service. The 

relationship with the local surgery where the service is based is very positive.  The 

Young Carers programme currently has 180 young carers registered in West Devon.  

Young Devon has provided 104 sessions in one to one support for young carers in the 

area which is up on the same period compared to last year due to additional youth 

hours support in Okehampton.  Young Devon has also provided trips and activities for 

35 young people since April in a bid to give them respite from their day to day caring 

responsibilities.  Other funders of the Young Carers initiative this year include the 

Devon Community Foundation and Okehampton Rotary Club. 

vii. Recommendation: Reduce funding by £2,500 for 2018/19 and consider further 

cuts to funding in 2019/20 as this is not a statutory borough council function.  

 

Carn2Cove / Villages in Action (£4,000) 

The WDBC annual contribution is £4,000.  If this funding was ceased, the remainder 

of the 2018/19 season rural arts events would be at risk.  Carn2Cove / ViA obtain 

match funding (often far exceeding the amount granted by WDBC) from the Arts 

Council.  The Arts Council have stated in other instances that where no local match is 

available, it is minded to cease funding.  If this were to happen, such events would not 

be hosted on a local basis and the goodwill of the volunteer network would be lost. 

 



 

Page | 6 

 

Carn2Cove are progressing communications with town and parish councils, 

requesting their support.  If successful, this would form a match for future Arts Council 

funding. 

As background, ViA / C2C have organised events in 33 West Devon Villages since the 

organisations inception. The number of events held each year has steadily fallen, as 

funding from local authorities has fallen.  The funds raised effectively “underwrite” 

events in communities where ticket sales alone would not cover the cost of running 

the event.  This disproportionately effects smaller communities / venues.  (9 such 

events have been held so far this financial year).  C2C do not make profits (they are a 

charity) but make surpluses which go to sustain local resources e.g. the village hall, 

social activity, small rural businesses, sole traders (performers).   

viii Recommendation: Cease funding as this is not a statutory borough function.  

 

BIP – Business Information Point (£15,000) 

In the comments in the Members’ Budget Survey, Members suggested that the grant 

(£15,000) should be reduced back to the £8k granted in 2016/17. A survey has been 

sent to all prior clients of the BIP, to gauge the impact the intervention has had in the 

area.  Evidence has been received of both new businesses starting and growth within 

the area.  Responses will continue to be collated and analysis will be available in time 

for the January budget setting session.  The team, operating from its Okehampton 

base, hold consultations with referrals, workshops on various topics such as touching 

on marketing, budgeting, taxation, strategy, innovation and signpost businesses to 

sources of funding.  In the year to date, 11 pre-start consultations have been held and 

21 existing business consultations.  

 

Part of the current £15k funding is an amount of £1200 per annum (committed for a 

further 2 years) which supports the Devon-wide Growth Support Programme.  This 

began in January 2017 and offers an impartial diagnostic service for small and medium 

sized enterprises, aiming to help them grow in regional, national and international 

markets and to engage in the innovation process.   

All businesses receive an initial 3-hour diagnostic after which they are either 

signposted to other support appropriate to their needs or can receive an additional 9 

hours of intensive support via the programme. This project is funded by other Devon 

Districts, the LEP and County and the European Regional Development Fund (ERDF- 

this is European funding).  BIP deliver this programme in West Devon.  As it is funded 

by ERDF, some business sectors are ineligible. 

BIP undertake some activity in the area which is not funded by WDBC.  This could 

continue without WDBC funding.  However, this would likely result in lower activity and 

impact on the local economy.  It is important to note that BIP activity targets potential 

businesses, start-ups and small to medium sized businesses.  Not all of these will 

succeed and not all will pay business rates.  However, if successful, they are creating 

and impacting on the economic prosperity of the region. BIP will advise the expected 

impact of any grant cut before the budget is finalised in January 2018. 



 

Page | 7 

 

ix. Recommendation: Reduce funding by £7,000 but note this is a contract 

and not a discretionary partnership contribution and as such should be 

market tested. 

 

OCRA (£2,000) 

Offer ‘A lifetime of activity for all in West Devon’.  The £2,000 core funding provided 

by WDBC allows the charity to deliver a wide range of activities, support groups and 

attract other funding, events and initiatives to the West Devon area.  In 2017 OCRA 

delivered Sports, Health initiatives, Arts, Dance, Music, Fitness, Training, Events and 

Adventure sessions to over 5,000 children and adults of all ages and abilities. 

Through OCRA’s support of over 60 different local clubs /groups and development / 

running of facilities OCRA impacted positively on 100’s more.  OCRA’s aim is to 

maintain and increase activity levels, build confidence, develop skills, inspire healthier 

individuals and create vibrant communities.  

x. Recommendation: Cease funding as this is not a statutory borough 

function. 

 

Devon & Cornwall Rail Partnership (£2,500) 

The Partnership is still in operation but WDBC ceased making financial contributions 

to the partnership circa 2010. 

xi. Recommendation: Cease funding as this is not a statutory borough 

function. 

 

Crowdfunding Platform 

To allow for transparent awarding of discretionary funding it is recommended a pilot 

crowdfunding website is established in partnership with Devon County Council and 

other interested partners.  Plymouth City Council has successfully backed a 

crowdfunding site since 2015 and has found it a useful tool to discern which projects 

to fund and those with the most local support.  The £120,000 they have invested to 

date has supported projects worth nearly £1 million the majority of funds coming from 

individuals and businesses.  

xii. Recommendation: To transfer £10,000 from the capital community fund to 

a crowdfunding revenue pot to back local projects. 
 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Page | 8 

 

 

PARTNERSHIP FUNDING SUMMARY (reduction of £28,000 in 2018/19) 

Partnership  Current  
Allocation 

Proposed  
2018/19 

Proposed  
2019/20 

CVS £8,500 £7,650 £? 
Citizens Advice £32,900 £29,610 £29,610 
Tavistock Ring & Ride £10,315 £9,800 £? 
Okehampton Ring & Ride £10,315 £9,800 £? 
Tamar Valley AONB £8,835 £8,835 £8,835 

Tamar Estuaries Consultative Forum £4,500 £4,500 £4,500 
South West Museums £2,000 £0 £0 
Young Devon £7,500 £5,000 £? 
Villages in Action (Carn2Cove) £4,000 £0 £0 
BIP (subject to market testing) £15,000 £8,000 £8,000 
OCRA £2,000 £0 £0 
Devon Rail Partnership £2,500 £0 £0 

WHS £4,000 £4,000 £4,000 
Junior Life Skills £2,160 £2,160 £2,160 
Devon Youth Games £3,000 £0 £0 
HoSWLEP £5,000 £5,000 £5,000 
TOTAL £122,525 £94,355 

(reduction 
of 
£28,000) 

£62,105+ 

 

 

 

2019/20 Funding Contributions 

In fairness to partners, it is recommended a settlement (partnership contribution) for 

2019/20 is communicated to partners in Spring 2018 in order that they can plan 

accordingly. A timely mechanism for agreeing future funding will need to be 

considered. 



          Appendix G 

Summary of the changes to the Draft Budget Proposals for 2018-19  

(This shows the changes from the budget gap reported at the 28th November 2017 Hub Committee). 

 Total (£) 

Budget Gap reported at the Hub Committee on 28th November 2017 £166,860 

Additional Income/Savings or reduction in expenditure  

Gain from Business Rates Pilot £(460,000) 

Increase the car parking income from a review of charges from £90,000 

to £180,000 

£(90,000) 

Increase in the allocation of Rural Services Delivery Grant from 

£286,645 to £372,638 

£(85,993) 

Model a council tax increase of 2.99% and reflect the TaxBase for 

2018/19 of 20,117.85 

£(18,087) 

Saving on the re-procurement of the Insurance contract £(35,000) 

Saving on the audit fees for 2018-19 £(8,000) 

Housing Benefit administration subsidy – Actual notification has been 

received which states the Council’s grant will decrease from £145,476 

to £129,056 – a reduction of £16,420 (previously £20K reduction has 

been modelled) 

£(3,500) 

Increase in the reduction in Partnership contributions from £25,000 to 

£28,000 (as per Appendix F) 

£(3,000) 

  

Additional expenditure/reduction in savings or income previously 

modelled 

 

Reduce the Income target for investments in commercial property from 

£200,000 to £100,000 for 2018/19 

£100,000 

Less New Homes Bonus funding available to fund the Base Budget 

(£650,000 has been reduced to £600,000) 

£50,000 

Reduce the anticipated saving from Accommodation/Office 

requirements from £82,000 to £40,000 to reflect the fact that the 

changes are envisaged to be effective from half way through the year 

i.e. 1st October 2018  

£42,000 

Modelling of the pay offer of 2% for 2018-19  – cost of £85,000 

(£40,000 had previously been modelled) 

£45,000 

Provision for salary costs for steady state review £20,000 

Reduce the anticipated saving from the cessation of accepting cash and 

cheques to reflect the fact that the changes are envisaged to be 

effective from half way through the year i.e. 1st October 2018 

£17,500 

IT - Replace ageing network switches £15,000 

Waste service -  lease renewal £15,000 

Reduction in the Business Rates Baseline funding from £1,588,000 to 

£1,585,208 for 2018/19 

£2,792 

Revised Budget Surplus reported to the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee on 16th January 2018 

£(229,428) 

 

Please see overleaf for further changes. 

 



The further changes since the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 16th January are shown below: 

Revised Budget Surplus reported to the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee on 16th January 2018 

£(229,428) 

Increase the anticipated saving from Accommodation/Office 

requirements from £40,000 to £82,000 to reflect the fact that the 

changes are envisaged to be effective from 1st April 2018 

(42,000) 

Increase the anticipated saving from the cessation of accepting cash 

and cheques to reflect the fact that the changes are envisaged to be 

effective from 1st April 2018 

(17,500) 

Reduce the amount of New Homes Bonus funding the Revenue Base 

Budget from £600,000 to £560,000 to reflect the lower NHB allocation 

received for 2018/19 

40,000 

Revised Budget Surplus reported to the Hub Committee on 6th 

February 2018 

£(248,928) 

 



Appendix H - Environmental Health Charges Proposed for 2018/19

Current Fee Proposed Fee with

2017/18 Inflation - 2018/19

Food Exports - Export Certificate initial set up £145.00
£149.00

Food Exports - Export Certificate £54.00 £59.00

Housing Act Enforcement Notice fee £38.50 per hour £40.00

Depositing site rules with Local Authority £75.00 £77.00

House in Multiple Occupation (HMO) Licence £350.00
£361.00

Food Hygiene Score Revisit inspection fee No Fee £120 per visit

Film classification licence fee No Fee £100 per film 

£500 per festival

Private Water Supply sampling fee increase £50.00 £70.00

Private Water Supply risk assessment 
£200 per risk 
assessment

£206 per risk 
assessment

There is a proposed increase in existing Environmental Health charges, notably food export certificates and 

private water supply sampling charges to reflect additional service costs. 

A small number of charges have been introduced for services which were previously provided for no fee. 

These include food hygiene revisit fees and review of film classification. It is estimated that the additional 

income from the proposed charges in the Appendix will generate an extra £5,000.





Report to: Hub committee  

Date: 6th February 2018 

Title: Consider the Air Quality Strategy and 
recommend the commencement of a public 

consultation 

Portfolio Area: Strategy and Commissioning 

 

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: 

 

Urgent Decision:  N Approval and 

clearance obtained: 

Y 

Date next steps can be taken: Referral to Full 
Council to determine to make an order and to 

adopt the strategy.  

 

  

Author: James Kershaw Role: Senior Specialist  

Contact: Tel.: 01803 861287/ 

email: james.kershaw@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 

 

 

Recommendations:   

1. That the Executive consider the proposed Air Quality Strategy and 
RECOMMEND to Full Council that West Devon Borough Council 

commence a public and statutory consultation. 

 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 
 

 



1. Executive summary  
1.1  As part of a review of best practice environmental health have been 

working with Devon County Council on a draft air quality strategy. 
We now wish to commence a period of public consultation on this 

document, prior to seeking it being adopted later this year.  
 
2. Background  

 
2.1 The Environment Act 1995 lays down a number of statutory duties 

for Local Authorities regarding the management of air quality in 
their districts.  Under Section 82 of this Act, local authorities must 
regularly review and assess air quality according to specified 

criteria.  If air quality is found to exceed health-based National Air 
Quality Objectives a local authority must designate the area 

affected as an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) (section 83 of 
the Environment Act).   
 

2.2 Following designation of an AQMA, a local authority is required, 
under section 84(1) of the Act, to undertake a further assessment 

of air quality in that area so as to evaluate any options that may be 
available to improve air quality.  The further assessment involves a 

detailed examination of the problem and identification of the 
specific sources (e.g. types of vehicle) that contribute the most 
pollution. 

 
2.3 Environmental Health monitor the levels of nitrogen dioxide through 

the use of diffusion tubes placed in suitable locations. Generally the 
air quality in West Devon is excellent, but there are some hot spots 
of concern, however currently there are no designated areas within 

the Council areas. 
 

2.4 It is clear that the primary cause for the elevated levels of NO2 is 
due to traffic. NO2 is emitted in large quantities from both petrol 
and diesel engines and, in simple terms, the closer you are to a 

road the greater the concentration of NO2. As you move away from 
a road the concentration decreases very quickly. 

 
2.5 As part of a review of good practice, and due to a need to review 

planning policies with the implementation of the joint local plan 

discussions were commenced with Devon County Council. The 
strategy brings together a number of policies which would have a 

positive impact on air quality in the area.  
 

2.6 Good practice stipulates that prior to adoption of an air quality 

strategy, a period of public consultation should be undertaken to 
seek the views of those that might be impacted by the strategy. 

Therefore having produced a draft strategy we seek approval to 
commence a public consultation in April for a period of 8 weeks.  
 

 
 

 



3. Outcomes/outputs  
3.1 Before an Air Quality Action Plan can be formally adopted it is 

good practice that there is a consultation with the public and other 
stakeholders. The aim of the consultation will be to seek the views 

of the public on our proposals and to encourage ideas to come 
forward that can be considered to improve air quality in the area.  

 

4.  Proposed Way Forward  
4.1 That the Hub committee recommend to full Council that a period 

of public consultation commences on the Air Quality Strategy for a 
period of 8 weeks commencing in April 2018, with an aim for 
Environmental Health to report back to Executive in September 

with a final version of the strategy. 
 

4.2 This final version will then need to be submitted to DEFRA for 
approval prior to being implemented.  

 

5. Implications  
 

Implications 
 

Relevant  
to  

proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to address  

Legal/Governance 
 

 The UK government has a duty imposed on them 
by the European Union directive 96/62/EC and 
99/30/EC.  

 
The UK government were successfully sued by 

pressure group Climate Earth in April 2015, due to 
their inaction in resolving air quality problems. The 
Localism Act 2013 allows the UK government to 

pass any fines received in European Courts to local 
authorities if the fine is due to the failure of an 

authority.  
 

The Council has a legal duty under the 
Environment Act 1995 to review and assess air 
quality in their area. It also has a duty to prepare 

adequate plans to address air quality deficiencies 
within its area.  

 
The objective limits that the Council should be 
achieving are set in the Air Quality Regulations 

2000, and the Air Quality (England) (Amendment) 
Regulations 2002. 

 

Financial 

 

 There is no immediate financial implications to the 

Council.  
 
Should the Council fail in its duty to manage the air 

quality problems in its area then there is a risk that 



any future fines received by the UK government 

could be passed down to the local authority. 
 

Risk  Should we fail to have a suitable strategy to tackle 
air quality there is a risk that there will be a 
detrimental impact on air quality within the Council 

area which furthermore will have a negative impact 
on the residents of the Borough.  

 
The strategy does include several options that may 
not be publically supported, however these should 

be viewed as a last resort as they are highly 
unlikely to be deliverable. 

 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 

 

Equality and 

Diversity 
 

 None foreseen 

Safeguarding 
 

 None foreseen 

Community 
Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 

 

 None foreseen 
 

Health, Safety 

and Wellbeing 

 None foreseen 

Other 

implications 

  

 

 

 
 
 

 
 

 
Supporting Information 

 
Appendices: 
 
Draft Air Quality Strategy for South Hams and West Devon 

 

 
 
Background Papers: 

 
None 

 
 
Approval and clearance of report 

 



 
 

 
 

 

Process checklist Completed 

Portfolio Holder briefed  Yes/No 

SLT Rep briefed Yes/No 

Relevant  Exec Director sign off (draft) Yes/No 

Data protection issues considered Yes/No 

If exempt information, public (part 1) report 
also drafted. (Cabinet/Scrutiny) 

Yes/No 

 





 

 

 

 

 

 

 

A CLEAN AIR STRATEGY FOR 

SOUTH HAMS AND WEST DEVON 

 

INCORPORATING THE AIR QUALITY 

ACTION PLANS 
 

 

April 2018 

 

www.southhams.gov.uk/airquality 

www.westdevon.gov.uk/airquality 

 

  



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 1 April 2018 

 

Foreword 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Steve Jorden 
Executive Director for Strategy and 
Commissioning 
 

 

South Hams District Council and West Devon Borough Councils 

recognise the importance of the environment in protecting and promoting 

good health of its residents.  

While air quality is generally good across the two areas, there are a 

number of hot spots of concern in South Hams and as such the Council 

have declared 3 air quality management areas being; 

• an area on Western Road, Ivybridge 

• an area of the A38 running through Dean Prior 

• an area of the A385 stretching from True Street Junction, Berry Pomeroy and 

Clay Lane, Dartington 
 

In West Devon there are currently no Air Quality Management Areas, 

although monitoring is undertaken. This strategy seeks to ensure that 

there is no degradation of the situation, but should a declaration need to 

be made in the future a solution can be implemented quickly. 

This document highlights the problems facing air quality in the two 

areas, details the proposed planning policies guidance for developers 

and places the proposed air quality action plans into a single strategic 

document for the two areas. The aim of which is to identify best practice 

solutions to improve and protect air quality across the area. 

South Hams and West Devon are sited within the Devon County 

Highway Authority area and have a number of strategic transport 

networks running through them. This document has been produced with 

our partners and neighbouring authorities and is viewed as providing an 

essential strategy for protecting and improving air quality in the region. 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 2 April 2018 

Table of Contents 
Foreword ................................................................................................................................................ 1 

Executive Summary ................................................................................................................................. 5 

1. Policy Context ................................................................................................................................. 8 

1.1 Local Air Quality Management ............................................................................................... 8 

2. Baseline Information ....................................................................................................................... 9 

2.1 South Hams and West Devon Population data ....................................................................... 9 

2.2 South Hams and West Devon Traffic information .................................................................. 9 

2.3 National Trends in Vehicle Types .................................................................................................. 9 

3. Air Pollution in South Hams and West Devon .............................................................................. 11 

3.1 Existing Air Quality Management Areas ............................................................................... 11 

Figure 3.1 Map showing AQMA for Totnes declared in 2015 ....................................................... 12 

Figure 3.2 Map showing AQMA for Ivybridge declared 2009 ....................................................... 13 

Figure 3.3 Map showing AQMA for Dean Prior declared 2005..................................................... 14 

3.2 Industry within South Hams and West Devon: Part A and B Processes ............................... 15 

3.3 Road Traffic Pollution ............................................................................................................ 15 

4. Health effects of Air Pollution ....................................................................................................... 17 

4.1 Health Related to NO2 exposure .......................................................................................... 17 

4.2 Health related to Particulate Matter Exposure .................................................................... 17 

 .......................................................................................................................................................... 19 

5. Local Policies, Programmes and Strategies ................................................................................... 20 

5.1 The Joint Local Plan Overview............................................................................................... 20 

5.2 Joint Local Plan Planning Policies .......................................................................................... 20 

5.3 Development within the South Hams and West Devon ....................................................... 21 

5.4 The role of Highways England and Devon County Council ................................................... 21 

5.5 Taxi Licensing Policy .............................................................................................................. 22 

6. Planning and Air Quality: Guidance for Developers ..................................................................... 23 

6.1 How can planning impact on air quality? ............................................................................. 23 

6.2 When should a planning application be accompanied by an air quality assessment? ......... 24 

6.3 How do I Prepare an Air Quality Assessment?...................................................................... 25 

6.4 What are suitable off-setting measures?.............................................................................. 26 

7. Strategy to Reduce Emissions of PM2.5 in South Hams and West Devon ................................... 27 

7.1 Why do we need to reduce emissions of PM2.5? ...................................................................... 27 

7.2 Monitoring of PM2.5 in South Hams and West Devon ............................................................... 27 

7.3 Measures to Reduce PM2.5 ........................................................................................................ 27 

8. The Air Quality Action Plans for South Hams ................................................................................ 28 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 3 April 2018 

8.1 The Air Quality Working Group Overview ............................................................................ 28 

8.2 Air Quality Action Plan .......................................................................................................... 28 

8.3 Consultation Overview .......................................................................................................... 28 

8.4 Nitrogen Oxides/ Nitrogen Dioxide (NOx/ NO2) .................................................................... 29 

8.5 Evaluating options for Air Quality ......................................................................................... 29 

8.6 Monitoring of the Air Quality Action Plan ............................................................................ 30 

Air Quality Action Plan for Ivybridge ..................................................................................................... 31 

Ivybridge option 1: Removal/alteration to parking along Western Road......................................... 31 

Ivybridge option 2: A Southern Link Road from St. Peters Way to the A38 Junction ....................... 32 

Map showing location of Option 2 ............................................................................................... 33 

Ivybridge option 3: A new junction onto the A38 serving the East of Ivybridge .............................. 33 

Ivybridge option 4: Promotion of Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEVs) .......................................... 34 

Ivybridge option 5: Promotion of Green Travel Vouchers ................................................................ 34 

Ivybridge Option 6: Developers to pay for Green Travel Planning ................................................... 35 

Ivybridge option 7: Compulsory/Voluntary Purchase of the principle at risk residential premises. 36 

Air Quality Action Plan for Totnes......................................................................................................... 37 

Totnes option 1: Changes to the nature of pedestrian crossings along the A385............................ 37 

Totnes option 2: A Bypass to Totnes ................................................................................................ 38 

Map showing potential location of Option 2 A Bypass to Totnes .................................................... 38 

Totnes option 3: Promotion of public transport alternatives for commuting traffic ....................... 39 

Totnes option 4: Promotion of Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEVs) .............................................. 39 

Totnes option 5: Promotion of Green Travel Vouchers .................................................................... 40 

Totnes Option 6: Developers to pay for Green Travel Planning ....................................................... 40 

Totnes option 7: Compulsory/Voluntary Purchase of the principle at risk residential premises. .... 41 

Air Quality Action Plan for Dean Prior .................................................................................................. 42 

Dean Prior Option 1: Reduction in the speed limit along the stretch of the A38 in the AQMA ....... 42 

Dean Prior Option 2: Installation of an engineered road side barrier .............................................. 43 

Dean Prior Option 3: Tree planting on verge adjacent to the houses .............................................. 43 

Dean Prior option 4: Compulsory/Voluntary Purchase of the principle at risk residential premises.

 .......................................................................................................................................................... 43 

Shortlist of options ................................................................................................................................ 44 

Generic shortlist ................................................................................................................................ 44 

Shortlist of options for Totnes .......................................................................................................... 44 

Shortlist of options for Ivybridge ...................................................................................................... 45 

Shortlist of options for Dean Prior .................................................................................................... 45 

References ............................................................................................................................................ 46 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 4 April 2018 

 

  



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 5 April 2018 

Executive Summary 
 

Currently there are three air quality management areas (AQMAs) declared in the 

South Hams and none in West Devon. The air quality action plans to support these 

declarations are out of date and in need of review, hence the production of this 

strategy.  

The first AQMA was declared in 2005 for an area adjacent to the A38 at Dean Prior, 

further AQMAs were declared for Ivybridge and Totnes in 2009 by South Hams 

District Council. In 2016 having undertaken further assessments the AQMA for 

Totnes was amended and extended, triggering the need to review the AQAP for the 

area. 

All three AQMAs were declared on the basis of exceeding the National Air Quality 

Strategy annual mean objective for Nitrogen Dioxide, with road traffic being the 

predominant source of pollution.  

This strategy was developed with the aim of formalising the Councils’ approach to 

dealing with air quality through the development management process with the key 

aim of protecting and improving the air quality of the region.  

South Hams and West Devon Councils will continue to monitor the air quality across 

the two areas in order to monitor the impact of the action plans. This strategy, has 

the two general aims of being in a position to revoke the existing AQMAs in South 

Hams and ensure that no further AQMAs need to be declared in either Council area. 

The aim of this strategy will be to:- 

• educate the public regarding the levels of pollution affecting the region and steps 

they can take to reduce their exposure and contribution; 

• significantly reduce levels of pollution within AQMAs, with fundamental aim of 

reducing these to below the objective levels; 

• raise awareness and provide policy, guidance, and a framework for development 

and impact mitigation to those wishing to develop in South Hams or West Devon; 

• promote the uptake of Ultra Low Emission Vehicles with the objective of a zero 

emission car and truck fleet by 2050; 

• ensure that the Councils own air quality impact is minimised through corporate 

policies on travel and fleet procurement; 

• provide an approach for screening potential sources of and then reducing 

emissions of fine particulates (PM 2.5) in order to help improve and protect public 

health in accordance with the National and Devon public health strategies;  

• ensure that permitted processes in the two Council areas are regulated to 

minimise their contributions to air pollution.  

 

This strategy and associated action plans have been developed in recognition of the 

legal requirement on the Local Authorities to work towards Air Quality Strategy 

(AQS) objectives under Part IV of the Environment Act 1995 and relevant regulations 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 6 April 2018 

made under that part and to meet the requirements of the Local Air Quality 

Management (LAQM) statutory process. 

This Plan will be reviewed every five years at the latest and progress on measures 

set out within this plan will be reported on annually within South Hams and West 

Devon Councils’ air quality Annual Status Report (ASR). 

Having reviewed the limited options above, there are no easy solutions for the 

problems faced in Totnes, Ivybridge or Dean Prior. It is believed that the Council 

should promote alternatives to private car use through the adoption of a planning 

policy to require contribution towards green travel vouchers and green travel 

planning, with promoting green travel to new residents. 

At the same time planning policies should seek the promotion of ultra low emission 

vehicles, by ensuring the infrastructure is designed into the new developments. 

Shortlist of options for Totnes 

In the short term funding should be secured from developers to secure 

improvements to public transport signage, and to the pedestrian crossings in the 

town to off-set the impact of their developments.  

There is the potential for greater use of cycling for short regional journeys within 

Totnes and the immediate area, however the road network does not easily facilitate 

this.  

There is no intention at this time to consider the further the option of 

compulsory/voluntary purchase at this time. 

Shortlist of options for Ivybridge 

On top of the generic options identified the most feasible option is to consider the 

parking changes along Western Road, and this work should be commenced in 2018. 

The work will involve consultation with the public along Western Road in regards to 

the proposed benefits of the scheme, and the proposed alternative parking 

proposals. Once the consultation has been carried out Devon County Council are 

happy to explore the road traffic order needed as long as there is local public 

support. 

The Councils will continue to work with landowners and others to determine the 

feasibility of an alternative access route for Eastern Ivybridge to the South of the 

A38. In order to progress options 2 or 3 a traffic assessment and some initial design 

work will be needed, Devon County Council commenced feasibility work in 2017 for 

these projects. 

There is no intention to consider further the option of compulsory/voluntary purchase 

at this time. 

Shortlist of options for Dean Prior 

The Council will need to work with Highways England further to determine whether 

there is any technically feasible options for this area of the A38. Should a technically 

feasible option be found then this may be progressed with the homeowners to 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 7 April 2018 

determine whether it is acceptable to them. Although voluntary purchase and 

compulsory purchase is not viewed as being appropriate at this time. 

 

  



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 8 April 2018 

1. Policy Context 
 

1.1 Local Air Quality Management 

It is a requirement of Section 82 of the Environment Act 1995 that every local authority 

shall review the air quality within its area, this shall include an assessment of the 

current situation and the predicted future air quality. Section 83 requires local 

authorities to designate an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) where air quality 

objectives are not being achieved, or are not likely to be achieved, as set out in the Air 

Quality (England) Regulations 2000. Once the area has been designated, Section 84 

requires the local authority to develop an Action Plan detailing remedial measures to 

tackle the problem within the AQMA.  

The air quality objectives set out in the Air Quality (England) Regulations 2000, as 

amended by the Air Quality (England) (Amendment) Regulations 2002, provide the 

statutory basis for the air quality objectives under Local Air Quality Management 

(LAQM) in England. As previously stated South Hams currently has 3 AQMAs and 

West Devon has 0. 

Local authorities in England are expected to report on nitrogen dioxide (NO2), 

particulate matter (PM10) and sulphur dioxide (SO2) as standard within their Annual 

Status Report. However, local authorities are no longer expected to report on 

Benzene, 1,3-butadiene, Carbon Monoxide and Lead as objectives for these 

pollutants have been met for several years and are well below limit values. In addition 

to the objectives set in Regulations, local authorities have a new, flexible role in 

working towards reducing emissions and concentrations of PM2.5.  

In the past local authorities were required to undertake a process of ‘Review and 

Assessment’ over a three year period detailing monitoring data and actions. From 

2016 one Annual Status Report (ASR) is required.  

It is recommended that all local authorities, should consider drawing up an Air Quality 

Strategy. The strategy helps to focus on areas with and without Air Quality 

Management Areas (AQMA) in place and drive improvements in air quality.  

PM2.5 has been included in this strategy on the basis that there are no recognised 

safe levels for this pollutant and there is significant public health concern due to the 

highly respirable nature of this pollutant. This strategy also sets out how sources of 

this pollutant will be screened and then targeted for reduction and links with both the 

National and Devon Public Health Strategies.  

 

 

 

  



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 9 April 2018 

2. Baseline Information 
 

2.1 South Hams and West Devon Population data 

South Hams has a population of roughly 84,600 living in 43,000 households, whilst in 

West Devon there are 54,000 people living in roughly 25,000 properties 

(https://new.devon.gov.uk/factsandfigures/). 

The population of the two Authorities is focussed around the main towns which are for 

South Hams; Dartmouth, Ivybridge, Kingsbridge and Totnes; and for West Devon are; 

Tavistock and Okehampton. 

 

2.2 South Hams and West Devon Traffic information 

In 2011 there were 54,303 cars registered in the South Hams and 33,823 in West 

Devon. There are approximately 500,000 visitors to the South Hams area each year.  

The traffic flowing in the Air Quality Management areas is a key concern to the 

Authorities. The A385 through Totnes has roughly 22,000 vehicles a day travelling 

along the stretch around Bridgetown Hill an increase of 26% since 2000, while in 

Ivybridge there are no recent traffic count data provided by Devon County to the 

Department for Transport. The graph showing the vehicle counts by year is shown in 

appendix A1. 

In regards to the A38, traffic flows through the Dean Prior AQMA has not changed 

dramatically over the last 17 years. The graph showing the vehicle counts by year is 

shown in Appendix A2.  

While there are no current air quality management areas currently in West Devon, 

there is traffic data for Tavistock. In Tavistock, the traffic data is collected on the 

stretch of road between the A390 and the B3557 and there were 13,400 vehicles a 

day in 2015, a decrease of 12% since 2000.  

2.3 National Trends in Vehicle Types 

By the end of 2016 there were 12.1 million diesel cars on the roads in the UK, 

accounting for 39% of the total, up from only 10% in 1996. There were only 388,000 

alternative fuel cars licensed by December 2016, but this was up 25% over the year. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/60837

4/vehicle-licensing-statistics-2016.pdf 

In total, 41,819 new ultra-low emission vehicles (ULEVs) were registered for the first 

time in the United Kingdom in 2016, up 140% from 29,965 in 2015. Most of this 

increase has been due to vehicles eligible for plug-in car and van grants. 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/60812

6/veh0170.ods 

 This trend is also largely believed to be due to taxation incentives for company car 

drivers and lower road fund licence fees encouraging the take up of vehicles with lower 

CO2 emissions. 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 10 April 2018 

 

 

  

Summary: Our Commitments 

AQ1: WE WILL REVIEW THE COUNCIL FLEET TO ASSESS THE SUITABILITY OF LOW 

EMISSION VEHICLES 

AQ2: WE WILL INCREASE THE NUMBER OF ELECTRIC CHARGING POINTS AVAILABLE 

WITHIN COUNCIL CAR PARKS AND IN OTHER LOCATIONS 

AQ3: WE WILL SEEK ADDITIONAL TRAFFIC MONITORING POINTS WITHIN OUR AQMAS 

AND OTHER KEY LOCATIONS, TO ENABLE BETTER ASSESSMENT OF TRAFFIC FLOWS. 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 11 April 2018 

3. Air Pollution in South Hams and West Devon 
 

3.1 Existing Air Quality Management Areas 

The declaration of an Air Quality Management Area (AQMA) is undertaken where 

there is sufficient evidence to demonstrate that the air quality in a certain area fails to 

meet the national statutory air quality objective levels. After declaration, the local 

authority has 12 months to devise an air quality action plan (AQAP) which sets out 

the measures it intends to follow to ensure that the air quality is improved.  

There are currently 3 AQMAs in the South Hams area, the maps on the next few 

pages show the areas covered by the AQMA Orders. 

At the time of writing this strategy there are no AQMAs declared in West Devon, 

monitoring in Okehampton in 2016 show that the air quality is not meeting the 

national objectives at East Street. We will continue to monitor the situation here and 

seek a declaration when/if it is believed appropriate. 

 

  



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 12 April 2018 

Figure 3.1 Map showing AQMA for Totnes declared in 2015 

 

 

 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 13 April 2018 

Figure 3.2 Map showing AQMA for Ivybridge declared 2009 

 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 14 April 2018 

Figure 3.3 Map showing AQMA for Dean Prior declared 2005 

 

 

 

 

 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 15 April 2018 

3.2 Industry within South Hams and West Devon: Part A and B Processes 

Part A (1) installations are activities listed for control, by the Environment Agency 
(EA), under Schedule 1 to the Environmental Permitting Regulations.  
 
Part A (1) installations are generally perceived to have a greater potential to pollute 
the environment than Part A (2) installations.  
 
Part B installations (which include vehicle re-spraying, cement batching and 
unloading of petrol) have the least potential to pollute. 
 
There are 4 A(1) installations still operating in the South Hams and 2 former 
installations. There are 4 A(1) installations operating in West Devon. 
 
Part A(1) installations are regulated by the Environment Agency and include large 
food manufacturers (e.g. Ambrosia, and Taw Valley Creamery), Hatherleigh abattoir, 
the processing of tungsten ore (Wolf Minerals) and the Langage Energy Centre. 
 
There are currently 45 A(2) and B installations permitted by South Hams District 
Council to operate, and 18 premises permitted by West Devon Borough Council.  
 
Part A(2) and B installations are regulated by the Councils, and include smaller 
industrial processes such as clay products drying,  paint spraying, foundries, petrol 
stations and dry cleaners. 
 
While there are significant industrial estates within the two councils’ areas including 
mineral extraction sites, these facilities are regulated by stringent regulatory control 
by either the Environment Agency, the two Councils or the Mineral Planning 
Authorities. 
 
There are no significant emissions from industry in either South Hams or West 
Devon, and consequently it has been determined that the principle source of air 
pollution in the region is road traffic emissions. 
 
Both Imerys Minerals and Wolf Minerals both undertake PM10 monitoring which is 
reviewed periodically by the Council and the Environment Agency. This has shown 
no cause for concern. 

 

3.3 Road Traffic Pollution 

Road traffic pollution is the principle source of NO2 in the region and across the UK. 
Section 2.3 provides information on current trends in traffic volumes in the area  
This highlights that the number of vehicle movements is increasing in the key areas 
of concern.  
 
South Hams and West Devon both have slightly more diesel cars than the National 
average. Diesel cars make up 41.8% and 45.2% of the total car numbers 
respectively, this is compared to a national average of 39.5%. 
(https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/6237
42/veh0105.ods) 
 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 16 April 2018 

 
Monitoring of NO2 throughout the area has shown that there a number of key 
locations where levels of NO2 exceed the UK annual mean objective. Up to 
date details of monitoring can be found in the annual reporting that South Hams and 
West Devon have produced which are available on our websites.  

 
 

 

 

  

Summary: Our Commitments 

AQ4: WE WILL CONTINUE TO MONITOR THE AIR QUALITY WITHIN THE AREA AND 

REPORT AGAINST THE NATIONAL AIR QUALITY OBJECTIVES, ADDING NEW SITES TO 

THE MONITORING PROGRAMME WHERE INFORMATION INDICATES AIR QUALITY 

COULD BE A CONCERN. 

AQ5: WE WILL DECLARE NEW AIR QUALITY MANAGEMENT AREAS WHERE MONITORING 

INDICATES A NEED TO DO SO. 

AQ6: WE WILL CONTINUE TO REGULATE INDUSTRY WITH OUR PARTNERS TO A HIGH 

STANDARD, REQUIRING BEST PRACTICE TO BE ADHERED TO AND ENFORCING 

WHERE IT IS DEEMED APPROPRIATE TO DO SO. 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 17 April 2018 

4. Health effects of Air Pollution 

4.1 Health Related to NO2 exposure 

The principle pollutant of concern in both the South Hams and West Devon Area is 

NO2. Up until recently the link between high levels of NO2 and the impact on health 

were not proven. It was, however, understood that poor air quality had a negative 

impact on health. In 2015 the Committee for the Medical Effects of Air Pollutants 

(COMEAP) deemed that sufficient evidence was now available to demonstrate the 

short and long term impact of exposure to NO2, and as such concluded;  

“Evidence associating NO2 with health effects has strengthened substantially in 

recent years and we now think that, on the balance of probability, NO2 itself is 

responsible for some of the health impact found to be associated with it in 

epidemiological studies.” 

Much of the evidence in regards to long-term average NO2 concentrations has been 

obtained through observational epidemiological studies. Therefore COMEAP also 

stated that; 

"…it is possible that, to some extent, NO2 acts as a marker of the effects of other 

traffic-related pollutants…" 

On this basis it is not only remaining compliant with the legislative requirements of 

the Environment Act 1995 that drives South Hams and West Devon to improve air 

quality but the protection of public health as well.  

In order to adequately protect public health, the key aims within the AQMAs should 

be to improve the air quality within those areas. It may also be viewed as being 

appropriate to limit the exposure of the public to poor air quality by making sure the 

link between poor health and poor air quality is understood. 

 

4.2 Health related to Particulate Matter Exposure 

PM10 is a measurement of particulate matter measuring 10 microns or less, and is 
one of the pollutants of concern in the national objectives. Screening for the likely 
sources of this pollutant has been carried out in the past and monitoring has 
occurred in the South Hams, but the objective levels were not breached. 
 
However, in 2010 The Mortality Effects of Long-Term Exposure to Particulate Air 
Pollution in the United Kingdom: A report by the Committee on the Medical 
Effects of Air Pollutants (COMEAP), concluded: 
 

• Removing all anthropogenic particulate matter air pollution (measured as 
PM2.5) could save the UK population approximately 36.5 million life years 
over the next 100 years and would be associated with an increase in UK life 
expectancy from birth of six months. 

• A policy which aimed to reduce the annual average concentration of PM2.5 by 
1 µg m-3 would result in a saving of approximately 4 million life years or an 
increase in life expectancy of 20 days in people born in 2008. 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 18 April 2018 

• The current (2008) burden of anthropogenic particulate matter air pollution is 
an effect on mortality in 2008 equivalent to nearly 29,000 deaths in the UK at 
typical ages and an associated loss of total population life of 340,000 life-
years. The burden can also be represented as a loss of life expectancy from 
birth of approximately six months.” (COMEAP 2010). 
 

In 2014, Public Health England published a report which further supported 
these findings and provided figures down to a Local Authority Area. For South Hams, 

the total number of deaths for all causes in 2010 was 886 (25 years and older) and 

561 in West Devon. Of these deaths, it is thought that 54 across the two areas were 

due to exposure to PM2.5 (34 and 20 respectively). This is equivalent to 312 and 194 

life years lost, and attributable fractions of 3.8 and 3.5%. This estimate is a central 

estimate and compared to other areas across Devon, the South West and England 

the two Authorities have relatively low attributable fractions.  

More information on how these figures were calculated by Public Health England can 

be found in the 2014 publication’s Appendix A, 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/33285

4/PHE_CRCE_010.pdf 

There are currently no sites within the area covered by this report where there is 
monitoring of either PM10 or PM2.5 by the Local Authorities. Improvements in levels of 
NO2 will not necessarily lead to an equivalent improvement in particulate matter 
emissions as these may be influenced by other sources such as brake and tyre 
wear, however NO2 emissions are viewed by many as being a general marker for 
exposure to road traffic related pollution. 
 
Domestic use of wood burning stoves and heating equipment has become very 
popular in recent years. We will provide advice through the planning process to 
applicants on the appropriate use and maintenance of their equipment, and we will 
also provide this advice on our website.  



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 19 April 2018 

 

  

Summary: Our Commitments 

AQ7: WE WILL PROVIDE UP TO DATE INFORMATION ON OUR WEBSITES IN REGARDS TO 

THE HEALTH IMPACTS OF EXPOSURE TO POOR AIR QUALITY ALONG WITH 

PROVIDING WARNINGS WHEN METEOROLOGICAL CONDITIONS ARE LIKELY TO 

WORSEN AIR QUALITY IMPACTS. 

AQ8: WE WILL EXPLORE THE PROMOTION OF TRAVEL PLANNING WITH SCHOOLS TO 

REDUCE EXPOSURE BY PUPILS TO POOR AIR QUALITY WHEN WALKING TO AND 

FROM SCHOOL.  

AQ9: WE WILL PROVIDE EDUCATION AND ADVICE TO OWNERS OF WOOD BURNING 

STOVES AND EQUIPMENT ON THE APPROPRIATE USE TO MINIMISE AIR POLLUTION. 

 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 20 April 2018 

5. Local Policies, Programmes and Strategies 

5.1 The Joint Local Plan Overview 

The Joint Local Plan (JLP) sets out the vision for development across South Hams, 

West Devon and Plymouth, with an aim of identifying the principle locations and 

specific sites for new housing, community infrastructure, shops and employment.  

At the time of writing, the Plan is in draft and has not been through formal inspection, 

following successful scrutiny the plan and policies contained will be used to 

determine planning applications. 

 

5.2 Joint Local Plan Planning Policies  

The planning policies in regards to air quality were reviewed as part of the JLP 

process. Based on the limited progress to date in resolving the air quality issues 

within the existing AQMAs, the revised AQMA in Totnes and the deteriorating air 

quality in other parts of the two districts it was felt imperative that the planning 

policies were tightened. This is to ensure that we could adequately protect the public 

and deliver on our legal duties, whilst supporting the need for sustainable 

development. 

The new policy will sit within a policy concerning the protection of the environment 

and as drafted reads; 

Air, water, soil, noise and land 

Development proposals which could cause unacceptable harm to human health or 

environmental quality by unacceptable levels of soil, air, water or noise pollution or 

land instability will not be permitted.  Development should: 

1. Remediate and mitigate contamination in line with established procedures and 
guidance. 

2. Protect, and reduce the risk to, people and the environment from unsafe, 
unhealthy, and polluted environments by avoiding or mitigating against 
harmful impacts and health risks from air, water, land and noise pollution, and 
hazards afforded from future climate change impacts; and 

3. Ensure that the development singularly or cumulatively, will not create new Air 
Quality Management Areas (AQMAs) or negatively impact on the ability of the 
Local Authority to improve air quality within its AQMAs. Furthermore 
development likely to have an impact on an AQMA will be required to offset its 
impact through positively contributing towards the Councils’ air quality action 
plans and local transport plans. 

4. Prevent deterioration and where appropriate protect, enhance and restore 
water quality in line with established procedures and guidance.   

5.  Limit the impact of light pollution on local amenity, intrinsically dark 
landscapes and nature conservation. 

6. Protect and enhance valued soils, safeguarding the long term potential of best 
and most versatile agricultural land and conserving soil resources. 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 21 April 2018 

7. Maintain and where appropriate improve the noise environment in accordance 

with the Noise Policy Statement for England (including any subsequent 

updates). Developments will be acceptable where the applicant can 

demonstrate that the effect of the exposure created by the proposal will not 

breach the lowest observed adverse effect level. 

 

5.3 Development within the South Hams and West Devon 

The Joint Local Plan is based around the Plymouth Housing Market Area (HMA) and 

as part of the planning process an assessment was undertaken of the objectively 

assessed need for housing for the HMA. This has been calculated at 30,300 new 

homes needing to be delivered between 2014 and 2034. The National Planning 

Policy Framework (NPPF) states that local plans should seek to address the 

objectively assessed need in full. 

When determining the dispersal of development, a number of options were identified, 

however the preferred option recognises the importance of Tavistock and Ivybridge 

to the delivery of sustainable developments.  

Ivybridge already has excellent public transport links with Plymouth, however studies 

by Devon County Council have shown that the railway station is severely 

underutilised 

(https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/PlymouthSouthWestDevonJLPBaseli

neTransportConditionsReportAppendixA.pdf).  

It is also adjacent to the strategic road network, however access to the A38 is reliant 

upon the road network through the AQMA. This will be the challenge to further 

development and will need to be addressed. 

Commuters from Tavistock are currently reliant upon the A386, which is identified as 

having capacity issues during peak travel times. Further work is also identified in 

relation to the re-instatement of the rail line to Plymouth via Bere Alston. 

Elsewhere across the two Council areas the level of growth is not believed to pose 

significant concerns to air quality, although any development in and around 

Okehampton and Totnes will be expected to protect and improve air quality. 

 

5.4 The role of Highways England and Devon County Council 

Neither South Hams nor West Devon are highways authorities, and therefore it will 

be imperative that good working relationships are developed and maintained with 

these organisations to ensure that air quality is maintained and improved within the 

two Council areas. 

The AQMA of Dean Prior is principally due to the proximity of housing to the A38 at a 

point where the topography of the road causes a significant increase in emissions. 

This road network is the responsibility of Highways England. 

Highways England has developed a delivery plan for the period 2015 – 2020 which 

includes a commitment to the environment. This included funding for air quality 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 22 April 2018 

improvement trials in 10 locations, the development of lessons learned during those 

trials and a toolkit to be used to address air quality on its network.  

These trials were designed to last up to 12 months and therefore it is too early to say 

what this may mean to the Dean Prior AQMA, however it will be important to make 

sure that the site remains a priority. 

Discussions have been held with Devon County Council when devising the Air 

Quality Action Plans. This identified that there are limited infrastructure projects 

identified in Totnes which would have a positive impact on air quality. Devon County 

have agreed to commission some further investigative works 

 

5.5 Taxi Licensing Policy 

In 2017, South Hams and West Devon Councils consulted on a new taxi vehicle 

licensing policy. As part of this policy, the Councils sought to encourage vehicles 

becoming more environmentally friendly by heavily subsidising the licensing cost of 

ultra-low emission vehicles.  

There will also be requirements for taxi drivers sitting at ranks and waiting for 

passengers to be mindful of their engine emissions by minimising their idling.  

  

Summary: Our Commitments 

AQ10: WE WILL DELIVER TRANSPORT INTERVENTIONS WHICH: 

A. REDUCE RELIANCE ON THE PRIVATE CAR;  

B. MAKE PUBLIC TRANSPORT MORE ACCESSIBLE, RELIABLE AND AN ATTRACTIVE 

ALTERNATIVE; 

C. MAKE INFRASTRUCTURE IMPROVEMENTS AND PROMOTE CYCLING AS AN  

ALTERNATIVE MEANS OF TRANSPORT;  

D. REQUIRE TRAVEL PLANS TO BE SUBMITTED FOR NEW DEVELOPMENTS; 

 

AQ11: WORK WITH THE LICENSING TEAMS TO DEVELOP THE TAXI POLICY TO PROMOTE 

THE USE OF ULTRA LOW/ ZERO EMISSION VEHICLES AND SET MINIMUM EMISSION 

STANDARDS.  

AQ12: WE WILL WORK WITH OTHER DEVON DISTRICTS TO INTRODUCE ECO STARS TAXIS 

SCHEMES ACROSS DEVON. 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 23 April 2018 

6. Planning and Air Quality: Guidance for Developers 

6.1 How can planning impact on air quality? 

Developments can have a significant impact on air quality by introducing new 

receptors, new sources, or increase traffic flows in areas where the aim is a 

reduction in flow. The National Planning Practice Guidance stipulates; 

“Whether or not air quality is relevant to a planning decision will depend on the 
proposed development and its location. Concerns could arise if the development is 
likely to generate air quality impact in an area where air quality is known to be poor. 
They could also arise where the development is likely to adversely impact upon the 
implementation of air quality strategies and action plans and/or, in particular, lead to 
a breach of EU legislation (including that applicable to wildlife)…” Paragraph: 005 
Reference ID: 32-005-20140306 

Revision date: 06 03 2014 

Piecemeal development can have a greater cumulative impact on air quality than a 

single allocated site whose impacts are known and can be off-set through local 

planning policies. This is the importance of consideration of impact through the Joint 

Local Plan and Neighbourhood Plans.  

In order to off-set the impact of smaller developments on air quality the Councils will 

seek to make sure that developments do not exacerbate existing air quality problems 

or create new air quality management areas.  

Planning policies will seek to promote non-car modes of transport by promoting 

green travel alternatives through the provision of green travel vouchers, and the 

development of site specific travel plans. 

Policies will also promote the uptake of greener car technology through the provision 

of off-street electric charging points.  

All major developments will be required to assess their impact solely and 

cumulatively, utilising the guidance produced by the Institute of Air Quality 

Management (IAQM). Where a significant impact is determined suitable off-setting 

measures will need to be considered. It is also likely that developments will need to 

contribute towards measures outlined in the air quality action plan. 

  



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 24 April 2018 

6.2  When should a planning application be accompanied by an air quality 

assessment? 

The Council has a validation checklist which includes guidance on what sort of 

applications would require an air quality impact assessment. In principle, we follow 

the screening guidance issued by the Institute of Air Quality Management (IAQM) 

which stipulates that there is a 2-stage process to screening the need for an 

assessment. A summary of the screeening assessment is set out below; 

Stage 1: the development involves any of the following proceed to stage 2 

Development involves the building of 10 or more residential units or a site area of 

more than 0.5 Ha  

More than 1000m2 of floor space for all other uses or a site area greater than 1 Ha 

 

And 

The development has more than 10 parking spaces 

The development will have a centralised energy facility or other centralised 

combustion process 

 

Stage 2: Indicative criteria for requiring an air quality assessment 

The development will: Indicative Criteria to Proceed to an Air Quality 

Assessment a 

1. Cause a significant change in Light Duty 

Vehicle (LDV) traffic flows on local roads 

with relevant receptors. (LDV = cars and 

small vans <3.5t gross vehicle weight). 

A change of LDV flows of: 

-  more than 100 AADT within or 

adjacent to an AQMA  

–  more than 500 AADT elsewhere. 

2. Cause a significant change in Heavy 

Duty Vehicle (HDV) flows on local roads 

with relevant receptors. (HDV = goods 

vehicles + buses >3.5t gross vehicle 

weight). 

A change of HDV flows of: 

-  more than 25 AADT within or 

adjacent to an AQMA -  more than 100 

AADT elsewhere. 

3. Realign roads, i.e. changing the 

proximity of receptors to traffic lanes. 

Where the change is 5m or more and the road is 

within an  

AQMA. 

4. Introduce a new junction or remove an 

existing junction near to relevant receptors. 

Applies to junctions that cause traffic to 

significantly change vehicle 

accelerate/decelerate, e.g. traffic lights, or 

roundabouts. 

5. Introduce or change a bus station. Where bus flows will change by: 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 25 April 2018 

-  more than 25 AADT within or 

adjacent to an AQMA -  more than 100 

AADT elsewhere. 

6. Have an underground car park with 

extraction system. 

The ventilation extract for the car park will be 
within 20 m of a relevant receptor. 
Coupled with the car park having more than 100 

movements per day (total in and out). 

7. Have one or more substantial 
combustion processes, where there is a 
risk of impacts at relevant receptors.  

NB. this includes combustion plant 

associated with standby emergency 

generators (typically associated with 

centralised energy centres) and shipping. 

Typically, any combustion plant where the single 

or combined NOx emission rate is less than 5 

mg/seca is unlikely to give rise to impacts, 

provided that the emissions are released from a 

vent or stack in a location and at a height that 

provides adequate dispersion. 

In situations where the emissions are released 
close to buildings with relevant receptors, or 
where the dispersion of the plume may be 
adversely affected by the size and/or height of 
adjacent buildings (including situations where the 
stack height is lower than the receptor) then 
consideration will need to be given to potential 
impacts at much lower emission rates.  

Conversely, where existing nitrogen dioxide 

concentrations are low, and where the dispersion 

conditions are favourable, a much higher 

emission rate may be acceptable. 

 

• We may also require an assessment where the development is close to a heavily 
trafficked road, with emissions that could give rise to sufficiently high 
concentrations of pollutants (in particular NO2), that would cause unacceptably 
high exposure for users of the new development; and 

• the presence of a source of odour and/or dust that may affect amenity for future 

occupants of the development. 

Developers should contact the Environmental Health team at as early a stage as 

possible to scope the level of assessment required. 

6.3 How do I Prepare an Air Quality Assessment? 

The most important starting point of an air quality assessment is scoping the 

assessment with the aid of Environmental Health, there is currently no charge for this 

work. An assessment will only be deemed valid if all potential impacts have been 

considered i.e. on-site, off-site and construction phase impacts.  

We will expect that developer’s consultants will use the most valid guidance 

documents for devising their assessments including the various guidance documents 

produced by the Institute of Air Quality Management. 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 26 April 2018 

As a matter of good practice the Council expects the applicant to consider the 

baseline situation, some data is available from the Council; free of charge, for this 

purpose, however it may be necessary to undertake further monitoring before an 

application is submitted. Further monitoring can take some months to achieve and 

therefore early involvement of Environmental Health in the project is highly 

recommended.  

6.4 What are suitable off-setting measures? 

Where the outcome of an air quality assessment predicts that there will be an impact 

on an area with existing poor air quality, or where a new air quality problem is likely 

to be created, developers will be expected to provide mitigation or contributions 

towards the Air Quality Action Plan or other agreed measures. Any measures will 

need to meet the requirements of the Community Infrastructure Levy criteria. 

Green travel planning can have a positive impact on encouraging new residents to 

use alternative and more sustainable forms of transport. It is proposed that for all 

developments which meet the stage 1 screening above a contribution should be 

sought to pay for a green travel planning advisor to work with the site occupants 

once built.  

 

 

  

Summary: Our Commitments 

AQ13: WE WILL REQUIRE ALL NEW DEVELOPMENT PROPOSALS TO UNDERTAKE AN AIR 

QUALITY IMPACT ASSESSMENT IN ACCORDANCE WITH THE INSTITUTE OF AIR 

QUALITY MANAMENT’S GUIDANCE.  

 

AQ14: WE WILL SEEK ALL DEVELOPMENTS TO OFF-SET THEIR IMPACT BY SUPPORTING 

ULTRA LOW EMISSION VEHICLES. 

 

AQ15: WE WILL SEEK CONTRIBUTIONS FROM MAJOR DEVELOPMENTS TO PAY TOWARDS 

THE COST OF DEVELOPING A GREEN TRAVEL PLAN FOR THE DEVELOPMENT. 

 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 27 April 2018 

7. Strategy to Reduce Emissions of PM2.5 in South Hams and West 

Devon 
 

7.1 Why do we need to reduce emissions of PM2.5?  

Life expectancy can be significantly affected due to exposure to poor air quality.  
In its report on ‘The Mortality Effects of Long-Term Exposure to Particulate Air 
Pollution in the United Kingdom’, published in 2010, the Committee on the Medical 
Effects of Air Pollutants (COMEAP) estimated that poor air quality is responsible for 
approximately 29,000 deaths and an estimated loss of 340,000 life-years.  
 
The Defra Local Air Quality Management Policy Guidance (2016) (LAQM.PG(16) 
promotes that Local Authorities produce a strategy for reducing the emissions of 
PM2.5.  
 

7.2 Monitoring of PM2.5 in South Hams and West Devon 

There has been no monitoring of PM2.5 in either South Hams or West Devon and 

there is no intention to introduce monitoring at this time. This decision was based 

upon the fact that there is no ‘safe’ level for PM2.5, therefore we should be working 

to reduce the emissions anyway. 

 

7.3 Measures to Reduce PM2.5 

This strategy does not propose specific measures to reduce the emissions of PM2.5 

however there is evidence to link that actively tackling NOx has a positive impact on 

this pollutant as well. 

  



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 28 April 2018 

8. The Air Quality Action Plans for South Hams 
 

8.1  The Air Quality Working Group Overview 

The Air Quality Action Plan was formulated by Environmental Health with input from 
Specialists from across the Councils and Devon County Council. As a result a 
number of options have been identified and decisions taken as to the likely 
effectiveness and costs of these options. 
 
All stakeholders have a degree of ownership of this document and this in turn will 
ensure that no reasonable options for improvement have been missed. 
 

8.2 Air Quality Action Plan 

Upon declaring an air quality management area the Councils must submit an Air 

Quality Action Plan (AQAP) to DEFRA. The AQAP must describe the measures the 

Local Authority intends to take to improve air quality.  

While every effort will be taken to tackle poor air quality the Council will also need to 

consider the wider socio-economic impacts of an Action Plan. Although no specific 

modelling has been done the specific and generic proposals listed within the Action 

Plan have the potential to impact beneficially on air quality.  

South Hams District Council did previously adopt an Air Quality Action Plan in 2013, 

however following the need to amend the Air Quality Management Area in Totnes it 

was felt appropriate to review and refresh that plan.  

The actions in the AQAP shortlist are those which are currently considered to be the 

most cost effective and appropriate, however radical and more costly options have 

been considered and are still within the action plan in case they become more 

feasible due to external funding opportunities. 

 

8.3 Consultation Overview 

The following action plan will be subject to public consultation following adoption of 

this clean air strategy by the Councils. In order to ensure that all stakeholders have 

been consulted and that they have a degree of ownership of this document which in 

turn improves the likelihood of the plan succeeding in reducing pollution levels.  

By consulting the public it gives an opportunity to ensure that there have been no 

solutions overlooked which might have a more positive impact on air quality. 

In accordance with Schedule 11 of the Environment Act 1995 the following 

consultees will be contacted; 

• Secretary of State for the Environment 

• The Environment Agency 

• Highways England 

• Devon County Council (Highways, Planning, and Public Health Teams). 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 29 April 2018 

• Local Ward Councillors in AQMA  

• Public Health England 

• Members of the public 

• Totnes Town Council, Ivybridge Town Council, Dean Prior, and Berry Pomeroy 

Parish Councils 

 

It is recognised that it will be very difficult in some locations to achieve the level of 

reduction in Nitrogen Dioxide required to achieve the National NO2 objective level. 

This is assuming that there won’t be any significant changes in vehicle emission 

technology. 
 

8.4 Nitrogen Oxides/ Nitrogen Dioxide (NOx/ NO2)  

Emissions from car exhausts consists of a mixture of chemicals resulting from the 

combustion process. One of these chemicals is nitrogen oxides (NOx) which is 

converted to Nitrogen Dioxide (NO2), the influencing factors for this conversion 

include temperature and the presence or lack thereof of other chemicals in the 

atmosphere. Therefore in summer months the speed of reaction is greater, leading 

to higher proportion of NOx being converted to NO2, we also tend to see an increase 

in road traffic levels in summer months. However we do not always see an increase 

in NO2 levels as measured by our diffusion tubes. Therefore when assessing levels 

of NO2 we use an annual average of the measured levels.  

8.5 Evaluating options for Air Quality 

Officers worked with Devon County Council to assess the costs and effectiveness of 

the proposed actions for reducing air pollution and these have then been given a 

subjective score out of 5 for both the impact on air quality and cost benefit. The air 

quality score is based on the scale of improvement expected to occur by delivering 

the option.  

The cost score is a subjective assessment of the cost of implementing the option, 

with 5 being a very low cost (£100’s) and 1 being very high (£000,000’s) 

The two scores will be amalgamated to form a cost effectiveness value as shown 

below; 

  

Cost 

5 4 3 2 1 

Air 
Quality 
Impact 

5 
Very 
High 

Very 
High High Medium Low 

4 
Very 
High High Medium Low Low 

3 High Medium Medium Low 
Very 
Low 

2 Medium Medium Low Low 
Very 
Low 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 30 April 2018 

1 Medium Medium Low 
Very 
Low 

Very 
Low 

8.6 Monitoring of the Air Quality Action Plan 

The Action Plan will be monitored through the submission of the Annual Status 

Report to DEFRA and particularly the Action Plan Progress part of this report. We 

will also continue to monitor air quality in these areas to determine what long term 

trends are happening with air quality in the area. 

  



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 31 April 2018 

Air Quality Action Plan for Ivybridge 

Ivybridge option 1: Removal/alteration to parking along Western Road 

This option has been considered previously, and work was done by Devon County 

Council to produce the necessary road traffic order. This was not supported due to 

the local residents reaction to the perceived loss of parking. The proposal would 

involve the removal of on street parking along the Western Road from just past the 

former Fire Station Building to the roundabout at Majorie Kelly Way. 

Air Quality Impact of option 1: 4/5 

A modelling exercise was undertaken in 2010 to predict what would happen if the 

parking was removed from the northern side to the southern side, with the road 

centreline also being moved further from the properties on the southern side. The 

results are given in table 2 below and they indicate that this would certainly improve 

air quality at the properties on the southern side of the road.  Receptors 3,5 and 7 for 

example are all situated on or close to the terrace on the southern side. 

Table 2 Showing improvements in NO2 levels if parking was altered on Western 

Road 

 

 

Clearly this solution on its own does not solve the Air Quality issues in Western Road 

but it does help to off-set some of the impact in regards to increases in road traffic 

volumes.  

Cost of Option 1 without car parking being provided 4/5 

Cost of Option 1 with car parking being provided 3/5 

A principle reason why this scheme has not been brought forward was local 

objection to the proposals by residents on Western Road who were concerned that 

these proposals would lead to a loss of car parking in the vicinity of their homes. 

Whilst they have no legal right to park outside of their houses the knock on impact on 

the community of losing substantial amounts of parking could be politically 

unfavourable. A site could be found to off-set the loss in parking and early 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 32 April 2018 

suggestions would be the former fire station and land adjacent to Wayside, 

Ivybridge. The land and building is in the ownership of South Hams District Council, 

to enable this to be off-set parking we would need: to demolish the fire station 

building, build a new access onto Wayside, and provide Grasscrete to the proposed 

parking area. We would need to consider the long term management of the parking 

(although Grasscrete is a low maintenance product) including whether this would 

remain a South Hams asset or whether we could gift this to Ivybridge Town Council/ 

residents to manage. 

 

Cost Effectiveness Score: Medium to High 

 

Ivybridge option 2: A Southern Link Road from St. Peters Way to the A38 Junction 

This scheme has been considered previously, although no proposed routes for this 

road have been secured or costings for the scheme considered. This scheme could 

have been delivered as part of a new housing scheme to the south of the A38, 

although the land owner did not nominate this land for consideration and therefore it 

was not considered as part of the Joint Local Plan.  

The land immediately to the south of the A38 is constrained by a flood plain at the 

south and west of the site and a high voltage power cable on pylons on the north of 

the site. Alternatively there is an existing road running from the bottom of St. Peters 

Way to the A38 but the road is not classified as a principle road route, and would 

therefore need to be widened and re-laid to meet modern road standards. 

 

Air Quality Impacts of Option 2: 3/5 

By improving this road route it would hopefully remove traffic flows from the east of 

Ivybridge from travelling down Western Road. The only concern would be that 

schools and other facilities are still located on the Western Road route and therefore 

the likely off-setting may not be as great as predicted i.e. 100% of traffic from these 

developments may not use this route instead of Western Road. 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 33 April 2018 

We may need to consider means of discouraging the use of Western Road as well 

as incentivising this route. 

Cost of Option 2: 1/5 

Improvements to the length of highway and the potential for CPO on landowners to 

allow for the widening of the road could be very costly. Should a site to the South of 

the A38 be found and the access road to the site be uprated to make it the primary 

route for traffic this would reduce costs. 

 

Map showing location of Option 2 

 

Cost Effectiveness of Option 2: Very Low 

 

Ivybridge option 3: A new junction onto the A38 serving the east of Ivybridge 

This scheme has previously been promoted by Ivybridge Town Council, however the 

scheme is not supported by Highways England due to the proximity of the existing 

junction at Ivybridge and an insufficient unmet demand on the current junction, or a 

proposed population serving this new junction. 

Air Quality Impact of Option 3: 3/5 

This would be likely to have a similar positive impact on air quality on Western Road 

as option 2, if not greater, as it might provide a more attractive alternative route for 

the community of Bittaford. 

Cost of Option 3: 1/5 

Due to the lack of support by Highways England, the insufficient level of 

development to support a new junction, and the lack of a suitable site for the junction 

the cost of this option precludes it from further consideration as a realistic option. 

Cost Effectiveness of Option 3: Very Low 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 34 April 2018 

Ivybridge option 4: Promotion of Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEVs) 

This would involve developers positively planning for the uptake of ULEVs by 

providing the infrastructure necessary to support charging points at home and in 

town centre car parks. This is viewed as good practice by the Institute of Air Quality 

Management for all new developments. 

Air Quality Impact of option 4: 2/5 (short term) 4/5 (Long Term) 

In the short term (i.e. next 5- 10 years) this is unlikely to have a significant 

improvement to air quality along Western Road due to the current low percentage of 

ULEVs in the fleet of vehicles in the local area.  

However the promotion of the infrastructure will allow for a greater uptake in the 

future of these vehicles which will have the potential to eliminate the vast majority of 

local air quality problems. 

Cost of Option 4: 5/5 

The cost of installing electric charging points on new developments is fairly 

inexpensive (£250/ property), the cost of developing a charging network in town 

centre car parks needs further examination but has been undertaken by both Exeter 

and Plymouth Councils. 

Cost Effectiveness of option 4: Medium to Very High 

 

Ivybridge option 5: Promotion of Green Travel Vouchers 

This is a Devon County Council policy whereby new developments contribute 

towards a bus service and bike vouchers for new households. The scheme aims to 

actively encourage households to consider alternative forms of travel to offset their 

impact. 

The uptake of the scheme by households is hard to quantify and therefore the level 

of off-setting is not determinable, but this is viewed as good practice. It is suggested 

in Ivybridge that the scheme should also include the promotion of rail travel to 

Plymouth and Exeter through the provision of rail cards, further discussions would be 

needed with Great Western Rail on this. 

Air Quality Impacts of Option 5: 1/5 

Unlikely to have a significant impact on air quality as there is not a sufficient benefit 

to new homeowners to discourage private car use, however the promotion of these 

vouchers is seen nationally as good practice. 

Cost of Option 5: 5/5 

The cost of this scheme is fairly low compared to other options outlined above, and 

is good practice nationally as recognised by the Institute of Air Quality Management. 

Cost Effectiveness of option 5: Medium 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 35 April 2018 

Ivybridge Option 6: Developers to pay for Green Travel Planning 

Currently on larger developments developers will offer to undertake a green travel 

plan for the new development which actively seeks to promote more sustainable 

methods of transportation with the new householders.  

The quality and delivery of these plans has been varied across the various 

developments that have happened in Devon. As such it is proposed that in future the 

production of these plans be secured by planning obligation to the local authorities, 

the types of development where s.106 contributions would be sought needs to be 

determined but the following would be an indicative list; 

• Development that involves the building of 10 or more residential units or a site 

area of more than 0.5 Ha  

• More than 1000m2 of floor space for all other uses or a site area greater than 

1Ha 

 

In 2016 South Hams District Council and Plymouth City Council, jointly sought 

DEFRA funding for a Green Travel Planning Advisor to work with existing larger 

employers in the Plymouth area to try and encourage employees to consider 

alternative methods of commuting to work. This scheme would be an extension to 

that proposed scheme. 

Air Quality impact of option 6: 2/5 

The potential impact of this option is dependent upon the alternative options 

available to householders and employees of traveling to and from work and other 

key journeys. However currently Ivybridge is well served by a number of bus routes, 

and is a serviced stop on the South West railway serviced by Great Western railway, 

allowing access to Plymouth and Exeter City centres. 

Cost of option 6: 3/5 

The cost of delivering green travel plans is currently held by developers by proposing 

to make this a planning obligation enables a more consistent quality of green travel 

plan and supports the aim of Plymouth City Council and South Hams District Council 

to offset the impact of current and future developments on the road network in both 

areas. 

Cost effectiveness of option 6: Medium 

  



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 36 April 2018 

Ivybridge option 7: Compulsory/Voluntary Purchase of the principle at risk 

residential premises. 

Poor air quality is determined based on sensitive receptors being exposed to unacceptable 

levels of air pollution. Sensitive receptors are determined as being residential dwellings, 

schools and hospitals.  

The Council does have powers to compulsory purchase properties, however the impact on 

the community of forcing people out of their homes cannot be underestimated, and the 

health benefit of alleviating the air quality exposure step compared to the socio-economic 

impact could be viewed politically as being unacceptable. 

A more moderate option would be for the Council to write to all of the owners of the 

properties to offer to purchase their property at any point in the future should they be wishing 

to sell. 

Air Quality impact of option 7: 5/5 

Should all of the properties exposed to unacceptable levels of pollution no longer be deemed 

as a sensitive receptor then there would no longer be an Air Quality Management Area 

needed for the area. 

Cost of option 7: 1/5 

Due to the number of properties in the area exposed to unacceptable levels (approximately 

10) and the house values in this area the cost of implementing this option would likely be in 

the millions. There would however be an asset in the Council’s ownership which could be 

changed to a less/none sensitive receptor such as offices. 

Cost effectiveness of option 7: Low 

  



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 37 April 2018 

Air Quality Action Plan for Totnes 
The options below recognise the limited opportunities for improvements to this 

strategic road network, and the fact that journeys along this route have a number of 

different starting locations and destinations (i.e. it is not as simple as Torbay to 

Plymouth, or Totnes to Plymouth). 

 

Totnes option 1: Changes to the nature of pedestrian crossings along the A385 

In 2012, Devon County Council published a Totnes Transport Strategy. This report 

highlighted the difficulties with the A385 corridor through Totnes, including the 

number of pedestrian crossings and potential impacts of traffic at peak times. 

Some of the work has been done such as improvements to the pedestrian crossings 

at Redworth Junction. However other work has yet to be done such as changing the 

Traffic Light Controlled crossing at Bridgetown to a Pelican/Zebra Crossing which 

would limit waiting times for cars. 

Air quality impact of option 1: 2 

A previous study on air quality impacts of the Devon County report found through 

modelling that there would be limited improvements to air quality from highway 

improvements. 

Cost of option 1: 2 – 4 

Depending upon the nature of the changes the cost does vary, replacing a Light 

controlled crossing to a pelican crossing is likely to be a low and reasonable cost, 

however options such as a pedestrian underpass to the railway station are likely to 

be more expensive (£00,000’s). 

Cost effectiveness of option 1: Medium 

  



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 38 April 2018 

Totnes option 2: A Bypass to Totnes 

This option has been discussed in a number of previous air quality action plans, 

there has been no technical work done on likely routes or the benefits of providing a 

new strategic road network. There are limited routes available for such a bypass, 

however it is likely that any route would have to go north of the A385. 

Map showing potential location of Option 2 A Bypass to Totnes 

 

Air quality impact of option 2: 4 

The level of impact depends upon the amount of traffic that would use the new road, 

as well as the location of the by-pass. However previous studies have shown that the 

vast majority (approximately 70%) of journeys on the A385 are through traffic, 

therefore the potential impact is great. 

Cost of option 2: 1 

The cost of such a large bypass is likely to be very high due to the technical 

challenges posed by any route, the need to compensate landowners etc.  

Cost effectiveness of option 2: Medium 

Whilst this option is technically feasible at this time it is felt not worth exploring 

further due to the excessive cost and the environmental impact of such a large 

infrastructure project. 

  



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 39 April 2018 

Totnes option 3: Promotion of public transport alternatives for commuting traffic 

The 2012 report highlighted that Totnes is served by railway station enabling 

journeys to Plymouth, Bristol, London et al. It was recognised that there are times of 

the day at which the station is not well served. It is not felt that there would be much 

support Regionally or Nationally to increasing the number of trains stopping at 

Totnes. 

Other work has been carried out previously to increase the use of public transport in 

neighbouring authority areas (Torbay) and this work should be supported as it would 

lessen the number of car journeys on the A385. This work has focussed on ensuring 

that trains between Torquay and Newton Abbot tie-in with trains to Plymouth to make 

this an attractive option to commuters. 

The report also highlights the potential improvements to signage for bus connections 

to Totnes for visitors to the area.  

 Air quality impact of option 3: 1 

Whilst the promotion of public transport alternatives to private cars will have some 

positive impacts on car journey numbers it is not believed it will have a great impact, 

as not all areas are highly served by public transport. 

Cost of option 3: 5 - 3 

The suggested improvements in signage are likely to be low cost, whilst any 

increases in services will be of a higher cost and would need to be assessed for their 

business case. 

Cost effectiveness of option 3: Medium to Low 

 

Totnes option 4: Promotion of Ultra Low Emission Vehicles (ULEVs) 

This would involve developers positively planning for the uptake of ULEVs by 

providing the infrastructure necessary to support charging points at home and in 

town centre car parks. This is viewed as good practice by the Institute of Air Quality 

Management for all new developments. 

It would also involve the Council supporting a low carbon economy through providing 

charging places in their car parks. 

Air Quality Impact of option 4: 2/5 (short term) 4/5 (Long Term) 

In the short term (i.e. next 5- 10 years) this is unlikely to have a significant 

improvement to air quality along A385 due to the current low percentage of ULEVs in 

the fleet of vehicles in the local area.  

However the promotion of the infrastructure will allow for a greater uptake in the 

future of these vehicles which will have the potential to eliminate the vast majority of 

local air quality problems. 

 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 40 April 2018 

Cost of Option 4: 5 – 3  

The cost of installing electric charging points on new developments is fairly 

inexpensive (£250/ property). The cost of developing a charging network in town 

centre car parks needs further examination but has been undertaken by both Exeter 

and Plymouth Councils. Initial conversations have been had with the Car Park teams 

and due to the low number of electric vehicles currently on the roads in the area, the 

loss of earnings for car park spaces given to electric vehicle charging is viewed as 

too great. Funding associated with providing charging points at the Council offices 

has been allocated and this will be progressed. 

Cost Effectiveness of option 4: Medium to Very High 

 

Totnes option 5: Promotion of Green Travel Vouchers 

This is a Devon County Council policy whereby new developments contribute 

towards a bus service and bike vouchers for new households. The scheme aims to 

actively encourage households to consider alternative forms of travel to offset their 

impact. 

The uptake of the scheme by households is hard to quantify and therefore the level 

of off-setting is not determinable, but this is viewed as good practice. It is suggested 

in Ivybridge that the scheme should also include the promotion of rail travel to 

Plymouth and Exeter through the provision of rail cards, further discussions would be 

needed with Great Western Rail on this. 

Air Quality Impacts of Option 5: 1/5 

Unlikely to have a significant impact on air quality as there is not a sufficient benefit 

to new homeowners to discourage private car use, however the promotion of these 

vouchers is seen nationally as good practice. 

Cost of Option 5: 5/5 

The cost of this scheme is fairly low compared to other options outlined above, and 

is good practice nationally as recognised by the Institute of Air Quality Management. 

Cost Effectiveness of option 5: Medium 

 

Totnes Option 6: Developers to pay for Green Travel Planning 

Currently on larger developments developers will offer to undertake a green travel 

plan for the new development which actively seeks to promote more sustainable 

methods of transportation with the new householders.  

The quality and delivery of these plans has been varied across the various 

developments that have happened in Devon. As such it is proposed that in future the 

production of these plans be secured by planning obligation to the local authorities, 

the types of development where s.106 contributions would be sought needs to be 

determined but the following would be an indicative list; 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 41 April 2018 

• Development that involves the building of 10 or more residential units or a site 

area of more than 0.5 Ha  

• More than 1000m2 of floor space for all other uses or a site area greater than 

1Ha 

Air Quality impact of option 6: 2/5 

The potential impact of this option is dependent upon the alternative options 

available to householders and employees of traveling to and from work and other 

key journeys. However currently Totnes is well served by a number of bus routes, 

and is a serviced stop on the South West railway serviced by Great Western railway, 

allowing access to Plymouth and Exeter City centres. 

Cost of option 6: 3/5 

The cost of delivering green travel plans is currently held by developers. By 

proposing to make this a planning obligation, this  enables a more consistent quality 

of green travel plans and supports the aim of Plymouth City Council and South Hams 

District Council to offset the impact of current and future developments on the road 

network in both areas. 

Cost effectiveness of option 6: Medium 

 

Totnes option 7: Compulsory/Voluntary Purchase of the principle at risk 

residential premises. 

Poor air quality is determined based on sensitive receptors being exposed to unacceptable 

levels of air pollution. Sensitive receptors are determined as being residential dwellings, 

schools and hospitals.  

The Council does have powers to compulsory purchase properties, however the impact on 

the community of forcing people out of their homes cannot be underestimated, and the 

health benefit of alleviating the air quality exposure step compared to the socio-economic 

impact could be viewed politically as being unacceptable. 

A more moderate option would be for the Council to write to all of the owners of the 

properties to offer to purchase their property at any point in the future should they be wishing 

to sell. 

Air quality impact of option 7: 5/5 

Should all of the properties exposed to unacceptable levels of pollution no longer be deemed 

as a sensitive receptor then there would no longer be an Air Quality Management Area 

needed for the area. 

Cost of option 7: 1/5 

Due to the number of properties in the area exposed to unacceptable levels (approximately 

10) and the house values in this area the cost of implementing this option would likely be in 

the millions. There would however be an asset in the Council’s ownership which could be 

changed to a less/none sensitive receptor such as offices. 

Cost effectiveness of option 7: Low  



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 42 April 2018 

Air Quality Action Plan for Dean Prior 
The air quality management area for Dean Prior surrounds a small number of 

properties immediately adjacent to the A38. Options for improvements are extremely 

limited for this location due to the strategic importance of this route.  

Previous conversations with the homeowners has shown that the principally 

impacted elevation of the properties is not heavily utilised and therefore the health 

benefits of doing something may not outweigh the socio-economic benefits of doing 

nothing.  

Dean Prior Option 1: Reduction in the speed limit along the stretch of the A38 in 

the AQMA 

In 2014 – 2015 the stretch of A38 surrounding the AQMA had a temporary speed 

restriction due to the demolition and rebuild of a road bridge crossing the A38 at 

Rattery.  

 

Air quality impact of option 1: 4 

The table below shows the NO2 levels by year at a location on the A38 and shows a 

positive correlation between the reduction in speed and a reduction in measured 

NO2. 

  NO2 Annual Mean Concentration (µg/m3)  

Year 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016 

Bias Adjustment Factor 0.89 0.97 0.95 0.92 0.87 0.94 

NO2 Results 41.1 43.9 41.4 45.5 37.9 42.4 

 

Cost of option 1: 3 

Whilst the cost of signage reducing the speed at this point would be quite low, there 

would be limited benefit if this was not enforced with speed cameras and through 

positive Police patrols. The A38 is the main strategic road network and anything that 

harms speed on this road can have a negative impact on businesses in the area. 

Cost effectiveness of option 1: Medium 

  



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 43 April 2018 

Dean Prior Option 2: Installation of an engineered road side barrier 

A study in 2010 by the Dutch Air Quality Innovation Programme studied the benefits 

on air quality of erecting noise barriers adjacent to busy roads. For further 

information see: 

https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/documents/Dutch_Air_Quality_Innovation_Programme.pdf 

Air Quality impact of option 2: 4 

This study found that where a 4m high barrier is erected there can be a significant 

improvement in air quality of approximately 14% for NO2 or 20% for NOx. Whilst this 

would not completely eliminate the need for an AQMA it would have a significant 

positive impact. 

Cost of option 2: 4 

This would depend upon the material of the barrier chosen, however a simple close 

boarded wooden fence of 4m high would offer a reasonable level of protection and 

be a relatively cheap construct. 

Cost effectiveness of option 2: High 

 

Dean Prior Option 3: Tree planting on verge adjacent to the houses 

There is some evidence to demonstrate that certain species of trees are good at 

absorbing NOx and can have a positive impact on air quality. The planting of trees in 

this area may not be appropriate due to the close proximity to the junction. 

Air Quality impact of option 3: 2 – 3 

There is differing views on the effectiveness of vegetation in reducing NO2 levels 

especially at such short distances as exists at Dean Prior. It also may take some 

time for the trees to mature to a stage where they provide a sufficiently tall and 

dense barrier. 

Cost of option 3: 4 

There would be limited cost of tree planting in this area, however there would be an 

ongoing maintenance cost for the trees. 

Cost effectiveness of option 3: Medium 

 

Dean Prior option 4: Compulsory/Voluntary Purchase of the principle at risk 

residential premises. 

Poor air quality is determined based on sensitive receptors being exposed to 

unacceptable levels of air pollution. Sensitive receptors are determined as being 

residential dwellings, schools and hospitals.  

The Council does have powers to compulsory purchase properties, however the 

impact on the community of forcing people out of their homes cannot be 

underestimated, and the health benefit of alleviating the air quality exposure step 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 44 April 2018 

compared to the socio-economic impact could be viewed politically as being 

unacceptable. 

A more moderate option would be for the Council to write to all of the owners of the 

properties to offer to purchase their property at any point in the future should they be 

wishing to sell. 

Air quality impact of option 7: 5/5 

Should all of the properties exposed to unacceptable levels of pollution no longer be 

deemed as a sensitive receptor then there would no longer be an Air Quality 

Management Area needed for the area. 

Cost of option 7: 1/5 

Due to the number of properties in the area exposed to unacceptable levels 

(approximately 2 -3) and the house values in this area the cost of implementing this 

option would likely be high. There would however be an asset in the Council’s 

ownership which could be changed to a less/none sensitive receptor such as offices. 

Cost effectiveness of option 7: Low 

 

Shortlist of options 

Generic shortlist  

Having reviewed the limited options above, there are no easy solutions for the 

problems faced in Totnes, Ivybridge or Dean Prior. It is believed that the Council 

should promote alternatives to private car use through the adoption of a planning 

policy to require contribution towards green travel vouchers and green travel 

planning, with promoting green travel to new residents. 

At the same time planning policies should seek the promotion of ultra low emission 

vehicles, by ensuring the infrastructure is designed into the new developments. 

Shortlist of options for Totnes 

In the short term funding should be secured from developers to secure 

improvements to public transport signage, and to the pedestrian crossings in the 

town to off-set the impact of their developments.  

There is the potential for greater use of cycling for short regional journeys within 

Totnes and the immediate area, however the road network does not easily facilitate 

this, and therefore the Councils should consider developing a regional cycling 

strategy. 

Further work is still needed with Devon County Council to determine what other road 

improvements can be made to solve the poor air quality issues. 



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 45 April 2018 

Shortlist of options for Ivybridge 

The County Council signed up to undertaking a transport study of Ivybridge in 2017 

to help model the road problems and potential solutions. Once this has been carried 

out we will be able to more formally assess the options outlined above.  

However at this time the most feasible option is to consider the parking changes 

along Western Road. The work will involve consultation with the public along 

Western Road in regards to the proposed benefits of the scheme, and the proposed 

alternative parking proposals. Once the consultation has been carried out Devon 

County Council are happy to explore the road traffic order needed as long as there is 

local public support. 

The Councils will continue to work with landowners and others to determine the 

feasibility of an alternative access route for Eastern Ivybridge to the South of the 

A38.  

There is no intention to consider further the option of compulsory/voluntary purchase 

at this time. 

Shortlist of options for Dean Prior 

The Council will need to work with Highways England further to determine whether 

there is any technically feasible options for this area of the A38. Should a technically 

feasible option be found then this may be progressed with the homeowners to 

determine whether it is acceptable to them. Although voluntary purchase and 

compulsory purchase is not viewed as being appropriate at this time. 

  



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 46 April 2018 

References 
 

Census 2011,  
 
Department for Transport AADT data sets  
 
Department for Transport Vehicle Licensing Statistics Annual 2016, 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/60837
4/vehicle-licensing-statistics-2016.pdf 
 
Department for Transport, Ultra-low Emission vehicles registered for the first time: 
United Kingdom 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/60812
6/veh0170.ods 
 
COMEAP 2010. The Mortality Effects of Long-Term Exposure to Particulate Air 
Pollution in the United 
Kingdom. www.comeap.org.uk/documents/128-the-mortality-effects-of-long-term-
exposure-toparticulate-air-pollution-in-the-uk.html 
 
Public Health England (2014) Estimating Local Mortality Burdens Associated with 
Particulate Air Pollution 
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/33285
4/PHE_CRCE_010.pdf 
 
Jacobs 2012, Totnes Transport Strategy 
http://www.devon.gov.uk/totnes_transport_strategy.pdf 
 
Devon County Council 2017, Baseline Traffic Report 
https://www.plymouth.gov.uk/sites/default/files/PlymouthSouthWestDevonJLPBaseli
neTransportConditionsReportAppendixA.pdf 
 
IPL 2010, Dutch Air Quality Innovation Programme concluded 
https://laqm.defra.gov.uk/documents/Dutch_Air_Quality_Innovation_Programme.pdf 
 
  



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 47 April 2018 

Appendix 
A1 Graph showing vehicle count data for Totnes  

 
  

10000

12000

14000

16000

18000

20000

22000

24000

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

T
o

ta
l 

V
e

h
ic

le
 C

o
u

n
t

Year of Count

AllMotorVehicles



 

Air Quality Strategy  P a g e  | 48 April 2018 

A2 Graph showing vehicle count data for A38 at Dean Prior 

 
 
 

27000

28000

29000

30000

31000

32000

33000

2000 2001 2002 2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

T
o

ta
l 

V
e

h
ic

le
 C

o
u

n
t

Count Year

AllMotorVehicles

AllMotorVehicles





 

 

Report to: Hub Committee  

Date: 6 February 2018 

Title: PLANNNING ENFORCEMENT SERVICE 
REVIEW 

Portfolio Area: Customer First 

 

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: Overview and Scrutiny Committee  

 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 
clearance obtained: 

Y 

Date next steps can be taken: Upon the expiry of 
the Scrutiny Call-in Period on Wednesday, 14 
February 2018 

 

Author: Patrick Whymer Role: Community of Practice 
Lead – Development 

Management  

Contact: patrick.whymer@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION  

That the Hub Committee RESOLVES to: 
 

a) adopt the Local Enforcement Plan (as outlined at Appendix 

1); 
b) adopt the Planning Enforcement Member Engagement 

Protocol (as outlined at Appendix 2); 
c) endorse the proposed Actions as set out in Section 3 of the 

report;  
d) grant Delegated Authority to the Community Of Practice 

Lead Development Management, in consultation with the 

lead Hub Committee Member for Customer First, to make 
any minor amendments to the Plan, Protocol and Actions 

prior to their adoption; and 
e) note that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has 

requested inclusion in its Future Work Programme of a 

review within the next six months of this Plan, Protocol 
and Actions being adopted. 

 

1.  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  



 

 

 
1.1 A report on the Planning Enforcement Service was subject to scrutiny 

by the Overview and Scrutiny Committee on 5 September 2017 
(Minute *O&S 31 refers).  The report set out that a Local Enforcement 

Plan was to be drafted together with a re-assessment of how the 
planning enforcement service interacts with elected Members and an 
evaluation of the actions necessary to ensure that the planning 

enforcement service was efficient and effective.  
 

1.2 This report provides a Local Enforcement Plan at Appendix 1 and a 
Planning Enforcement – Member Engagement Protocol at Appendix 2 
together with actions as set out in Section 3. 

 
1.3 The Enforcement Plan follows guidance within The National Planning 

Policy Framework (NPPF) which recommends that local planning 
authorities publish a local enforcement plan to manage planning 
enforcement proactively and in a way that is appropriate to their 

area.  The Local Enforcement Plan sets out the West Devon Borough 
Council priorities for investigation, explains what will be investigated 

and what will not, and it outlines the Councils’ general discretionary 
powers with regard to planning enforcement. The plan sets out the 

priorities for responses to complaints and details the timescales for 
response by planning enforcement officers along with explaining the 
assessments and considerations that are undertaken and actions and 

outcomes that may result. 
 

1.4 The Member Engagement Protocol sets out how the Planning 
Enforcement team will keep Members up to date with open 
enforcement cases and the available channels of communication for 

Members with the Planning Enforcement officers. 
 

1.5 The Actions in Section 3 below set out that the existing Enforcement 
Team is sufficient to deal with the day to day workload but requires 
additional resource to clear older cases so that the team can 

concentrate on new cases and not a backlog.  To address this issue 
a further member of staff is now working in the Enforcement Team 

dealing with the older cases. 
 

1.6 Members will be aware that the Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

considered this matter at length at its meeting on 16 January 2018.   
 

In its deliberations, the following key points were raised: 
 
- Such was the importance of the Planning Enforcement function 

that the Committee requested that the Plan, Protocol and Actions 
be reviewed a further six-months after their adoption; 

- In terms of general service performance, Members recognised 
that progress had been made, but also emphasised the 
importance of maintaining this upward trend to ensure that trust 

and confidence were regained amongst town and parish councils 
and local residents; 

- A minor amendment was made to the Plan (Appendix A, 
paragraph 5.13 refers) to include reference to a planning 



 

 

application being invited ‘within a timeframe to be agreed 
between the applicant(s) and the Council’; 

- Some Members requested receipt of statistics related to how 
many Enforcement Notices had been served by the Council (and 

the average time taken to determine these) in the last twelve 
months.  In making this request, the importance of the legal 
function giving priority to the serving of Notices was also stated;  

- The production of the Enforcement Case lists by Ward (and not 
by Parish) was welcomed; 

- In light of there being some very minor numerical and 
typographical errors identified, it was suggested that Delegated 
Authority be given to the Community Of Practice Lead, in 

consultation with the lead Hub Committee Member for Customer 
First, to make any necessary minor amendments prior to the Plan, 

Protocol and Actions being finally adopted. 
 
Legal  

2.  BACKGROUND  
 

2.1 There has been an acknowledgement that there has been a need to 
improve the performance in dealing with Planning Enforcement Cases 

since early 2016 when a temporary team was put in place to deal 
with a backlog of enforcement cases.   

 

2.2 The backlog team was largely successful and dealt with the majority 
of the cases identified as backlog closing 620 out of 773 cases.  

However it became clear that the Planning Enforcement resource was 
insufficient to deal with the level of new cases and more new cases 
were being received than were being closed.  

 
2.4 As reported to this Committee last year, it was recognised that there 

was insufficient resource within the Planning Enforcement Function 
The appointment of the Enforcement Specialist (Chris Booty) 
increased the number of permanent dedicated planning enforcement 

staff to three who investigate all the alleged breaches of planning 
control across South Hams and West Devon Councils.  (The 

Enforcement Specialist and two Level 6 Enforcement Senior Case 
Managers).  These three are supported by other case managers 
undertaking administrative functions and Locality Officers 

undertaking a significant number of initial site visits. 
 

2.5 The report to this Committee last year further set out that once the 
Enforcement Specialist was in post a further review would be 
undertaken to establish what additional actions are required to 

ensure that an efficient and effective planning enforcement service is 
provided. 

 
2.4 Whilst there are no Government targets for planning enforcement 

complaints, there are legal timescales for taking planning 

enforcement action. Depending on the specifics of the case, an 
enforcement notice must be served within 4 or 10 years of the date 

of the original breach, after which the Council is unable to take 
enforcement action. 



 

 

 
3.0 Planning Enforcement Performance Update  

 
3.1 The Planning Enforcement Report to the Overview and Scrutiny 

Committee in September 2017 set out that as of the 12 July 2017 
there were 605 open cases across both Councils with some 200 in 
West Devon and some 400 in South Hams.   

 
3.2 The Number of current open Enforcement cases, as of the 4 January 

2018 is 564 with 350 in South Hams and 214 in West Devon.  Whilst 
this is only a small reduction of 6% (41) in the total number of open 
cases it does indicate that a team of three is sufficient to provide an 

efficient and effective planning enforcement service based on 
business as usual.  If a team of three was insufficient the overall 

numbers would continue to rise. 
 
 

3.  PROPOSED ACTIONS 
 

3.1 There are a number of proposed actions to improve the effectiveness 
of the Planning Enforcement Service. 

 
3.2 The Enforcement Plan clearly sets out how planning enforcement will 

be undertaken including how cases will be prioritised to ensure that 

our action is focussed on the cases that are most important to the 
local community and service level targets for dealing with cases. 

 
3.3 The attached Planning Enforcement – Member Engagement Protocol 

sets out how the service will have more interaction with elected 

Members and provide more information to keep Members up to date 
with open cases.  

 
3.4 Following a review of the Planning Enforcement Function by the 

Enforcement Specialist and the CoP lead it is considered that the 

team of three permanent Planning Enforcement Staff supported by 
Case Management and Localities Officers as set out in 2.4 above is 

sufficient to provide an on-going effective and efficient Planning 
Enforcement Service.  However the present caseload is not simply 
new cases but include a significant number of older cases that need 

to be considered and resolved. 
3.5 In order to deal with the older cases and allow the three permanent 

enforcement staff to concentrate on the newer and higher priority 
cases the permanent team of three require additional support to deal 
with the older cases. To address this issue an existing Level 6 Case 

Manager Post (in Development Management (DM)) has been re-
tasked to specifically work on older Enforcement Cases 4 days a week 

and other DM work a day a week.  This arrangement started on the 
4 January and will be reviewed in 6 months’ time. 

 

4.  CONSIDERATION OF RISK 
 

4.1 The absence of an effective and efficient Enforcement Service has a 
number of risks.  If the Council fails to take appropriate enforcement 



 

 

action within a specified timescale, the result is that the breach 
becomes unenforceable and undermines the Planning System.   

 
4.2 If the Council fails to take action on planning enforcement matters 

there is a significant risk to the reputation of the local planning 
authority, loss of confidence in the general public and a perception 
that unauthorised works can happen in the District with no action 

being taken.  Some breaches of planning regulations are 
prosecutable offence/criminal acts and the LPA should take action 

against these offences. 
 
5. IMPLICATIONS 

 

Implications 

 

Relevant  

to  
proposals  

Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to 

address  

Legal/Governance 

 

Y Paragraph 207 of the National Planning 

Policy Framework states “effective 
enforcement is an important as a means 
of maintain public confidence in the 

planning system.”. 

Financial 

 

N There are no direct financial implications 

of the contents of the report. 

Risk Y As outlined in section 4.0 of the report 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 

Equality and 
Diversity 

N  

Safeguarding N  

Community 
Safety, Crime 

and Disorder 

Y Planning enforcement officers work 
closely the police and other bodies 

Health, Safety 

and Wellbeing 

Y Planning enforcement can have a high 

impact on individuals and communities 

Other 

implications 

N  

 

 

Appendices: 
Appendix 1 – West Devon Local Enforcement Plan; and 

Appendix 2 – Planning Enforcement Member Engagement Protocol. 





APPENDIX 1 

 

WEST DEVON BOROUGH COUNCIL – LOCAL ENFORCEMENT PLAN 

 

1.  Introduction  

1.1  The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) recommends that local planning 
authorities publish a local enforcement plan to manage planning enforcement 
proactively and in a way that is appropriate to their area.  

 

1.2  Local Enforcement Plan sets out the West Devon Borough Council priorities for 
investigation, explains what will be investigated and what will not, and it outlines the 
Councils’ general discretionary powers with regard to planning enforcement. The plan 
sets out the priorities for responses to complaints and details the timescales for response 
by planning enforcement officers along with explaining the assessments and 
considerations that are undertaken and actions and outcomes that may result.  

 

1.3   Paragraph 207 of the NPPF sets out that effective enforcement is important as a means 
of maintaining public confidence in the planning system, that planning enforcement 
action is discretionary, and that Local Planning Authorities should act proportionately in 
responding to suspected breaches of planning control.  

 

1.4  This Local Enforcement Plan sets out how the Council will investigate alleged cases of 
unauthorised development and take action where appropriate. It also ensures that 
development takes place in a sustainable manner and that the credibility of the planning 
system in West Devon is not undermined. The planning enforcement function needs 
ongoing review recognising that the Council is required to set balanced budgets 
presenting how its financial resources are to be allocated and utilised; thus showing the 
Council’s financial plan for any coming year with regard to statutory services as well as 
local key priorities and objectives. West Devon Borough Council like many across the 
country remain subject to financial challenges. Discussions do include stakeholders, 
service users and the public who help us to re-design our services to achieve the best 
outcomes within the resource limits. The amount of resource which can be applied to 
planning enforcement will be subject to change over time and this Local Enforcement 
Plan must be reviewed and amended according to resource and priority setting.  

 

1.5  West Devon Borough Council believe that planning enforcement has a key role in 
achieving the high standards of development being sought, and the purpose of this Local 
Enforcement Plan is to set out our approach to handling planning related enforcement 
matters. It will be of interest to anyone who thinks the planning rules may have been 
broken in their area (often referred to as a ‘breach of planning control’). For example, if 
you think that: building work is taking place without approval; a building is higher or in 
some way different from the approved scheme; the use of some land or a building has 
changed without planning permission; conditions of a planning permission are not being 
met; works to a listed building are being carried out without approval; a piece of land or 
building has become an unacceptable eyesore; adverts have been displayed without 



consent; protected trees, or those in Conservation Areas, are being felled/pruned 
without approval. The Council will, in exercising their planning enforcement function, 
take account of National Planning Policies including the NPPF, the Governments 
Planning Practice Guidance, the relevant policies of the Local Plan and all other relevant 
material planning considerations.  

   

The relevant pages on planning enforcement from the Government’s Planning Practice 
Guidance can be accessed via the following link:-  

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/ensuring-effective-enforcement 

 

1.6  Specifically the Government’s Planning Practice Guidance sets out that the preparation 
and adoption of a local enforcement plan is important because it: allows engagement in 
the process of defining objectives and priorities which are tailored to local 
circumstances; sets out the priorities for enforcement action, which will inform decisions 
about when to take enforcement action; provides greater transparency and 
accountability about how the local planning authority will decide if it is expedient to 
exercise its discretionary powers; provides greater certainty for all parties engaged in 
the development process.  

 

1.7  Planning controls can assist in effectively guiding and managing the pattern of 
development and change across West Devon Borough Council and secure the delivery 
of planning objectives of the Local Plan. The Development Management team (of which 
the Planning Enforcement is a part) is at the heart of achieving this, and it is crucial that 
developments are not only authorised, but are also carried out in accordance with 
approved plans.  

1.8 One of the Council’s key corporate aims is to provide and safeguard an attractive built 
and natural environment. Planning enforcement, in association with other Council 
enforcement functions, contribute to the Corporate Enforcement Policy which has a key 
role to play in achieving this aim. The Council take breaches of planning control 
seriously, particularly if it is either done intentionally, or results in significant harm. 
Although it will try to negotiate solutions where this is appropriate and possible, it will 
use the powers available to take formal action where necessary and in a way 
proportionate to the harm caused by any breach. 

1.9  The Planning Enforcement Team will investigate possible breaches and take the 
appropriate form of action. The aim is to provide a service that is reactive to complaints 
made by citizens, members and stakeholders.  

 

1.10  Where appropriate, the Planning Enforcement Team will liaise and work with other 
enforcement bodies such as Building Control, Highways, Premises Licencing and 
Pollution Control.  

 

1.11  This Local Enforcement Plan has been approved by the Council for use in all its Planning 
enforcement work. As the plan does not form part of the Statutory Local Plan there is no 
requirement to conduct formal consultations.  

 

 

 



 

2. Key Service Aims  

The Council’s main aims for the Planning Enforcement Service are for it:-  

2.1  To operate in accordance with the procedures explained in this Plan, which sets out the 
level of service and performance the public and businesses can expect. We will regularly 
review these standards taking account of the views of stakeholders.  

 

2.2  To provide information and advice in plain language on the policies and procedures of 
the service, and to communicate this mainly by electronic means whilst giving access 
for all. Confidentiality will be maintained for complainants.  

 

2.3  To work with the community on compliance with planning controls on the basis that 
prevention is better than cure, and to ensure that our efforts are coordinated with other 
enforcement agencies within and outside the Council.  

 

2.4  To provide an efficient service with appropriate publicised contact points.  

 

2.5  To exercise the planning enforcement powers on an individual basis, considering fitness 
for purpose and having clear regard to an assessment in each case of the expediency 
and public interest tests, before taking action. The Council has a wide range of planning 
enforcement powers, but must act in accordance with national policy and guidance.  

 

2.6  To decide when a breach of planning control has occurred, whether or not this is 
sufficiently harmful as to require action to be taken in the public interest. At one end of 
the scale, if no or little harm is identified, the matter could be treated as a ‘technical 
breach’ with no further action to be taken, or a planning application might be invited to 
regularise the situation. At the other end of the scale, where it is assessed that serious 
harm has occurred, a formal notice might be served and other formal steps considered.  

 

2.7  To use the Council’s planning enforcement powers in a fair and consistent manner.  

 

2.8  To respond when required through the Council’s compliments, suggestions and 
complaints procedure in an appropriate, accessible, effective and timely manner.  

 
2.9  To protect and enhance the environment of West Devon Borough Council by active and 

responsible use of the full range of enforcement powers. 

 

3. Planning enforcement law and what is a breach of planning control  

 

3.1  The enforcement of planning law is complex; this is because the government attempts 
to strike a balance between the rights of individuals to use or alter their property in the 
way they wish, and the need to safeguard the character and quality of neighbourhoods 
and to uphold the planning policies of the local area.  

 



3.2  In general, the system tends to give the benefit of the doubt to anyone undertaking the 
unauthorised development, and the Council are expected to give those responsible for 
undertaking unauthorised development the chance to put matters right before taking 
formal action.  

 

3.3  If the Council’s actions are considered too harsh, hasty or legally incorrect, it can be 
ordered to pay costs or have its decisions overturned by the Planning Inspectorate or 
the Courts. However, the Local Government Ombudsman has held, in a number of 
investigated cases, that there is maladministration if a local authority fails to take 
effective enforcement action which was plainly necessary. Such a failing can lead to a 
compensatory payment to the complainant.  

 

3.4  The Council’s power to take enforcement action comes from laws passed by Parliament, 
principally by the Town and Country Planning Act 1990, the Planning and Compensation 
Act 1991 and the Localism Act 2011. These laws give Councils power to take action 
against those responsible for breaches of planning control.  

 

3.5  Not all works are classed as development and not all development requires planning 
permission. The main source of guidance on what is development and what requires 
permission includes: The Town & Country Planning Act 1990, The Town & Country 
Planning (General Permitted Development) Order; The Town & Country Planning (Use 
Classes) Order; and The Town & Country Planning (Control of Advertisement) 
Regulations.  

 

These documents, which are published by the government, contain schedules which list 
instances where consent is not required. For example, certain structures do not need 
permission because of their size, height, volume, location, etc. This is called ‘permitted 
development’ and specific guidelines are given in the General Permitted Development 
Order (the GPDO). The Use Classes Order places most types of use into classes (e.g., 
retail, business, etc.) and, in general, permission is required to change from one class 
to another. The Control of Advertisement Regulations set out what forms of advertising 
are exempt, what advertisements benefit from deemed consent and what requires 
express consent. 

 
3.6  The above Statutory Instruments are regularly revised and updated by Government, but 

up-to-date documents can be found on the Government’s Legislation website - 

http://www.legislation.gov.uk 

3.7  For a breach of planning control to have occurred, it must first be established that 
development requiring planning permission has taken place.  Development is a legal 
term and generally means building works and/or some changes of use.  

 

(i) Building works can include the erection of a building, excavations, alterations to 
buildings, larger fences, and so on, although small- scale extensions or alterations to 
houses may not need any permission.  

 

(ii) Changes of use can include a change from a shop to an office or a house to flats and 
so on. Changes of use that occur within the same Use Class Category do not require 
Planning permission. This might involve a change from a clothes shop to a hairdresser, 



or a change from a doctor’s surgery to a day nursery. In addition, some changes of use 
from one use class to another do not require planning permission, such as from a 
restaurant to an estate agent, or a solicitor’s office to a shop. 

 

3.8  The enforcement process is closely regulated by legal procedures, planning legislation 

and guidance from the Government. This provides the framework within which the 

Council’s planning policies and its enforcement process are applied. 

 

4.  Service commitments and reporting suspected breaches of planning control  

4.1  The Planning Enforcement Team will investigate complaints relating to suspected 
unauthorised development and changes of use, and non-compliance with planning 
consents and conditions. A certain amount of information is needed (e.g.: location, 
nature of activity) in order that the complaint can be registered.  

 

4.2  The Council encourages the reporting of suspected breaches of planning control, as 
development can gain immunity from enforcement action over time. It is important that 
any suspected breaches are reported as soon as possible in order that harmful 
development can be removed or minimised.  

 

4.3 If the information initially provided is insufficient we will ask for additional information 
before investigating the breach. In all but the most exceptional (Emergency) cases, the 
Planning Enforcement Service is unable to investigate alleged breaches of planning 
control from anonymous sources. If, during the course of investigation, the contact 
details of the complainant are found to be false, in most circumstances, the investigation 
will cease.  

 

4.4  The Council will not investigate complaints believed to be malicious or spurious or after 
provisional checks is found to be without basis.  

 

4.5  In accordance with the Data Protection Act 1998, the Council will not disclose any 
information relating to the identity of a complainant. However, as any occupiers of land 
or buildings close to the breach of planning control will usually be the most affected, it is 
possible that an individual subject of an investigation will make their own assumptions 
as to who may have informed the Council.  

 

4.6  To make the most effective use of resources all incoming enforcement cases are 
prioritised when registered based on information provided and an assessment of any 
planning history, with early site visits undertaken for deemed Emergency and High 
Priority cases. This will determine mainly the speed at which the cases are investigated 
and actioned and will be affected mainly by the assessment of the type and extent of the 
harm caused. There are three enforcement priorities:  

 

(a) Emergency – i.e.: where irreversible harm is likely to be caused if the Council does 
not act immediately. For example: Ongoing unauthorised works to listed buildings; 
unauthorised felling/pruning of protected trees.  

 



(b) High Priority – i.e.: where there is significant public concern or where there is (or is 

the potential for) significant harm to be caused to residential amenity in the surrounding 

area. For example: Breaches of planning conditions specifically identified to meet 

expressed public concerns, such as hours of operation; unauthorised uses/activities 

which are causing significant harm. 

(c) Lower Priority – i.e.: smaller scale infringements which do not result in significant 
immediate or irreversible harm. For example:  

Unauthorised building of walls/fences;  

Unauthorised erection of satellite dishes.  

 

Action Priority 

Emergency High Lower 

Register and allocate 
to case officer 

Immediate 
background/history 
check 

Within 4 working 
days  
 

Within 7 working 
days  
 

Site Visit  

(where applicable) 

As soon as possible, 
and certainly within 
24 hours (excluding 
weekend and 
Bank/Public 
Holidays) 

 

Within 5 working 
days  
 

Within 20 working 
days  
 

Contact complainant 
with case 
assessment, 
proposed course of 
action and likely 
timescale. 

As soon as possible, 
and certainly within 
72 hours (excluding 
weekend and 
Bank/Public 
Holidays) 
 

Within 10 working 
days  
 

Within 30 working 
days  
 

Commence formal 
enforcement or 
resolve the breach 
or conclude that the 
breach is not 
expedient to take 
action or a planning 
application to 
regularise the 
breach is submitted 

 

As soon as possible 
if irreversible harm is 
being done  

 

Within 10 weeks  

 

Within 20 weeks 

 

 

 

4.7  Our service targets which ensure our performance can be measured are: 

• Enforcement complainants received to be registered and allocated to an officer 

within the times as set out in the table at 4.6.  Target – 100% 



• Enforcement cases prioritised as emergency all of the timescales as set out in the 

table at 4.6.  Target -  100%  

• Enforcement cases prioritised as High all of the timescales as set out at 4.6.  

Target – 100% 

• Enforcement cases prioritised as Low all of the timescales as set out at 4.6, with the 

exception of registration and allocation.  Target – 80%.  

 

5.  The assessment and decision making process for planning enforcement cases  

5.1  Breaching planning control is not a criminal offence in most cases. For each allegation 
the Council will investigate the circumstances of the case and determine what, if 
required, would make the development acceptable and accord with planning 
regulations and policies.  

 

5.2  For the majority of cases, a council officer will undertake a visit to the site which is 
subject of the allegation to establish whether a breach of planning control has taken 
place. To allow timely investigation and effective work-planning, the majority of site 
visits are made without prior arrangement. It may not be necessary for the officer to 
visit a complainant’s property or meet with them.  

 

5.3   Planning Enforcement Officers are authorised under Section 196A of the Town and 
Country Planning Act 1990 to enter, at any reasonable hour and when it is reasonably 
necessary, any land to ascertain whether there is or has been any breach of planning 
control.  

 

5.4  If no occupier can be found at the time of visit, Officers have powers to inspect the land 
in their absence.  

 

5.5  Officers do not have powers to force entry into any dwelling house. Where appropriate, 
they will leave a calling card requesting the occupier of the land to contact the Council. 
In the event admission to a dwelling house is reasonably required, 24 hours’ notice of 
intended entry will be given to the occupier of the dwelling. If entry to land or buildings 
is refused and it is reasonably necessary to gain entry to the site, Officers may apply 
to the Magistrates Court for a Warrant under Section 196B of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990. This course of action will only be taken in cases where it is 
considered both necessary and proportionate to the alleged breach under 
investigation.  

 

5.6  Whilst on site, officers may ask questions of any present occupiers and may take 
photographs or measurements. Any information gathered will be used to ascertain 
whether a breach of planning control has taken place. If a breach has occurred, this 
information will be used to assess the most appropriate course of action to resolve the 
matter.  

 

5.7  Where officers can find no evidence of a breach of planning control the investigation 
will be closed, the relevant parties informed and no further action taken. In some 



circumstances the complainant may be asked to provide additional evidence to identify 
or substantiate the allegation, for example logs, records and diaries. Such cases will 
not be reinvestigated unless the complainant is able to provide more substantive 
evidence of the alleged breach of planning control.  

 

5.8  When investigating breaches of planning control, officers must identify whether or not 
a breach is immune from enforcement action. With the exception of works to Listed 
Buildings, breaches of planning control will become lawful by the passage of time. 
When this occurs the breach is immune from enforcement action and the Council is 
unable to remove or mitigate any planning harm. Immunity from enforcement action for 
all building and engineering operations occurs four years from the date the 
development was substantially completed. The four year rule also applies to any 
breach of planning control that involves the change of use of any building to a dwelling 
house. All other breaches of planning control are subject to immunity after 10 years 
have passed. Legislation covering Listed Buildings does not include an immunity 
period and action can be taken at any time, subject to expediency considerations, 
where it is found that unauthorised works harm its character as a building of special 
architectural or historic interest.  

 
 

5.9  The general test applied is “would planning permission have been granted for the 
development if it had gone through a planning application process”. Non-planning 
considerations will not be part of this process. Issues that cannot be taken into account 
include:  

Breaches of restrictive covenants, Private disputes, Competition between 
businesses, Damage to property, Boundary or other land disputes, reduction in value 
of land or property 

 

5.10  The Council will initially attempt to resolve all breaches of planning control through 
negotiation, with the exception of breaches of planning control which could not be 
rectified to meet planning criteria and should be resolved as a priority. Negotiation will 
not be allowed to unjustifiably delay any necessary planning enforcement action. 
Formal planning enforcement action is discretionary and will be taken where the 
Council considers it to be: essential having considered the provisions of the Local Plan 
and to any other material planning considerations; and necessary in the public interest 
(unacceptably affecting public space or the existing use of land and buildings requiring 
protection in the public interest).  

 

Public interest - it is not the role of the Council to protect the private interests of one 
party against those of another, unless these also coincide with the public interest. Nor 
is it the role of planning enforcement to act punitively against breaches of planning 
control, to punish minor or trivial breaches which do not result in demonstrable harm 
to the public interest. The Councils will need to ensure that any responses to breaches 
of planning control are proportionate and have regard to the extent to which the public 
interest is affected by a decision to take or not to take action. Part of this assessment 
is the expediency test.  

 

Expediency test: - In cases where it has been established that a breach of planning 
control has occurred at the initial stage, the Planning Enforcement Officer will 
undertake an assessment of expediency to determine which next course of action 
should be taken. An expediency test will usually involve the Planning Enforcement 
Officer assessing: whether the breach is in accordance with the policies of the Local 
Plan; the breach against any other material planning considerations; whether had a 



planning application been submitted before the development occurred, permission 
would have been likely to have been granted; whether the breach unacceptably affects 
public amenity; whether the breach unacceptably affects any existing land, use or 
buildings which merit protection in the public interest; whether action would be 
proportionate with the breach to which it relates; whether action would be in the public 
interest; whether action is plainly necessary 

 

5.11  The Council has a duty to ensure proper consideration in cases where there has been 
previous involvement or there will likely be future involvement of the Development 
Management Service; consultation with the relevant Development Management 
Officer will take place prior to concluding the expediency assessment to ensure 
consistency of decision making. This can include discussions around enforceability 
and reasons for conditions attached to planning decisions.  

 

5.12  In cases where specialist knowledge may be required to determine the expediency of 
taking action, the Planning Enforcement Officer will consult the relevant department or 
authority prior to concluding the expediency decision.  

 

5.13  Enforcement action will not be taken against a minor or technical breach which causes 
no harm to the local area, nor will enforcement action be taken purely to regularise 
breaches of planning control that have been found to be acceptable. In cases where 
an application would have a chance of success, an application will be invited for 
consideration through the usual process within a timeframe to be agreed between the 
applicant(s) and the Council. In cases where an application has been invited and no 
harm is being caused to the local area; no further formal action can be taken regardless 
of whether or not an application is submitted. In circumstances where the best 
reasonable course of action to deal with the harm being caused lies outside of planning 
controls; the planning enforcement team will refer the matter to the relevant 
department/team for action, as more effective and efficient outcomes can sometimes 
be achieved by use of powers outside the Town and Country Planning legislation, such 
as the Environmental Protection Act or the Highway Act.  

 

5.14  The decision to take enforcement action will normally be made by the Enforcement 
Specialist or another Specialist in Development Management in accordance with the 
Council’s officer scheme of delegation arrangements. Equally, decisions not to take 
enforcement action will be made under officer delegation arrangements and reasons 
for not taking action will be recorded in writing. It is in the public interest that decisions 
not to take enforcement action are properly recorded.  

 

5.15  The Council will not allow prolonged negotiation to delay essential enforcement action. 
The Councils will endeavour to overcome any harm caused by unauthorised 
development, by negotiation wherever possible. However, the enforcement system 
rapidly loses credibility if unacceptable developments remain due to protracted 
enforcement discussions. A time limit for concluding negotiations will therefore 
normally be set in accordance with the priority of the case.  

 

5.16  In situations where an unauthorised development may be acceptable, or made 
acceptable by appropriate planning conditions, a planning application will be invited so 
as to regularise the development. Where such an application is not forthcoming a 
decision of whether to take action will then need to be made.  

 



5.17  Details of the planning application process can be found here:-  

https://www.westdevon.gov.uk/article/680/Planning 

5.18  The Council will make efficient use of the relevant investigative powers and will justify 
their use as required. Full use will be made of Planning Contravention Notices or 
section 330 notices to elicit information about alleged breaches of control where 
evidence is not otherwise forthcoming. Where appropriate, powers of entry on to land 
will be used to obtain information for enforcement purposes.  

 

5.19  In carrying out its planning enforcement investigations the Council will make efficient 
use of HM Land Registry records and its own records. Close links are established with 
other Teams of the Council to improve and enhance investigations. Information 
relevant to enforcement investigations is held in a variety of locations. Sources outside 
the Council include HM Land Registry, national and local amenity groups, national 
bodies, (e.g.: Environment Agency, Health and Safety Executive, DVLA, Historic 
England). Within the Council, Housing and benefit records, electoral roll, and Council 
Tax records are all examples of areas where information relevant to enforcement 
investigations can be located. 

  

 

5.20  The Council will comply with the provisions of the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 
1984 (as amended) [PACE] when interviewing persons suspected of a criminal offence 
(in so far as it applies to those being interviewed by a non-police agency) and with the 
Criminal Procedures and Investigations Act 1996 [CPIA] and Section 222 of the Local 
Government Act 1972, when carrying out prosecutions. It is not a criminal offence to 
carry out development without first obtaining planning permission. However, it is an 
offence to erect unauthorised advertisements, do work to a protected tree without 
consent, carry out unauthorised works to a listed building, or fail to comply with an 
enforcement, breach of condition, planning contravention or stop notice. For a 
successful prosecution to take place it is essential that the provisions of PACE, CPIA 
and the Code of Conduct for Crown Prosecutors are followed.  

 

5.21  The Council will endeavour to allocate resources to see priority actions through to the 
end. Once a priority investigation has been commenced, the Council will ensure that 
resources are made available in order to ensure that the matter is concluded 
satisfactorily. This will mean that lower priority cases have less resource allocated to 
them. From time to time, the Council will prepare supplementary policies to deal with 
specific areas of focus relating to breaches of planning control which may arise.  

 

5.22  The Council will be clear and precise in specifying breaches and requirements. Every 
effort will be taken to ensure that those being regulated fully understand what action is 
being taken, the steps that are required to remedy the breach, and the possible 
implications should they fail to comply with the requirements of that action.  

 

5.23  The Council will make sure the reasons for issuing an Enforcement Notice match its 
requirements. Only those actions necessary to remedy a breach will be included in a 
notice. The Council will stick to procedural time limits unless there are justifiable 
reasons for extensions. In certain circumstances additional time may be required in 
order to comply with the Council’s requirements. When this is apparent, due 
consideration will be given to permitting such requests so long as the apparent harm 
to third parties can be minimised. 

 



5.24  There is a right of Appeal against a Planning Enforcement Notice.  The details of which 
can be found at this link: - https://www.gov.uk/appeal-enforcement-notice 

 

5.25  The Council will be flexible and consider genuine solutions. Where possible, any 
alternative solution will be considered in order to achieve a satisfactory conclusion to 
a reported breach of planning control. The use of formal enforcement action will in 
some circumstances be as a last resort and shall not be used without first seeking a 
remedy by other means, for instance through negotiations.  

6.  Planning enforcement interventions and powers available to the Council  

Where negotiations fail we may decide to instigate formal proceedings. This 
could result in one or more of the actions set out below being pursued.  

6.1  Planning Contravention Notice (PCN). The main purpose of a PCN is to gather initial 
information so that the Council can establish whether there is a case for taking 
Enforcement Action. It is an offence if the recipient of the notice fails to provide the 
required information. If convicted of such an offence the offender would be liable on 
conviction to a fine currently not exceeding £2,500.  

 

6.2  Enforcement Notice. This is the most common form of notice used to deal with 
unauthorised development, operations and/or uses. Before such action is embarked 
upon the Council must be satisfied that it is appropriate to issue the notice having 
regard to the nature of the unauthorised development and in the light of Government 
guidance. An Enforcement Notice will specify the alleged breach, the steps that must 
be taken to remedy the breach, and a time period in which to comply. The recipient of 
the notice has a right of appeal to the Secretary of State. If any person is subsequently 
found to be in breach of an Enforcement Notice the Authority will consider whether to 
prosecute. If found guilty in any court hearing that person would be liable on conviction 
in the Magistrates Courts to a maximum fine of £20,000.  

 

6.3  Breach of Condition Notice (BCN). This type of notice can only be used where planning 
consent has been granted subject to conditions. The Council can issue a BCN to 
ensure full or part compliance with planning conditions. As with the Enforcement Notice 
a BCN would specify the breach and steps required to secure compliance with the 
notice. Unlike the Enforcement Notice a BCN must allow a minimum of 28 days in 
which to comply with the requirements. There are no rights of appeal against a BCN. 
If any person is found to be in breach of a valid BCN he or she shall be guilty of an 
offence with a maximum fine currently not exceeding £2,500 on conviction.  

 

6.4  Stop Notice. The Council can, when appropriate to do so, serve a Stop Notice requiring 
activities to cease immediately. Such a notice can only follow the service of an 
Enforcement Notice. There are limitations on the service of this notice and additionally 
compensation may be payable by the Council in some circumstances if the recipient 
makes a successful challenge. It is used very selectively and it is not necessarily an 
instant solution.  

 
6.5  Injunction. Where the Council considers a breach of planning control to be a serious 

and immediate risk to health and safety, or necessary in terms of expediency, it may 
apply to the County or High Court for an Injunction. This can be extremely expensive, 
but can be effective in appropriate circumstances. 



6.6  Temporary Stop Notices. Where the Council consider that there has been a breach of 
planning control and it is necessary in order to safeguard the amenity of the area that 
the activity that amounts to the breach should stop immediately, Section 171E of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990 enables the local planning authority to issue a 
temporary stop notice. This differs from the normal stop notice powers because the 
temporary stop notice does not have to wait for an enforcement notice to be issued. In 
addition, the effect of the temporary stop notice will be immediate, it will not have to 
wait three days before the temporary stop notice takes effect or give reasons why the 
temporary stop notice will take effect immediately.  

 

6.7  Section 215 Notice. The condition of certain buildings or land often causes serious 
harm to the visual amenity of an area. Should the Council consider it appropriate to do 
so they may serve on the owner and occupier a Notice under Section 215 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act, 1990. Such a notice would require steps for remedying the 
condition of the land or buildings and specify a period of time for complying but in any 
event not less than 28 days. This Notice can be appealed via a magistrates’ hearing. 
If any person is subsequently found guilty of an offence of not complying with the 
requirements of a 215 Notice they shall be liable on conviction to a fine currently not 
exceeding £2,500  

 

6.8  High Hedges. If a complaint has been properly made and we decide that action should 
be taken to resolve the complaint, we may issue a formal notice to the person 
responsible for the hedge, setting out what must be done and by when. This action is 
under the Anti-Social Behaviour Act 2003 and is known as a remedial notice. This can 
include long-term maintenance of the hedge at a lower height. It cannot involve 
reducing the height of the hedge below 2 metres, or its removal. Although we cannot 
require such action, the hedge owner is free to go further than the remedial notice 
requires. The remedial notice becomes a charge on the property and legal obligations 
under such a notice pass to any subsequent owners.  

 

6.9  Signs and Advertisements Where an advertisement is not lawfully displayed and 
causes harm to the amenity or public safety, and it is considered that express consent 
would not be granted, the owner/ occupier shall be requested to remove the offending 
sign. If the sign is not removed by agreement the Council does have the power to 
prosecute. If a person is found guilty of an offence under The Control of Advertisement 
Regulations he or she could be liable to a fine not exceeding £2,500 per advert. The 
Council also has the power to serve a Notice requiring the discontinuance of a lawfully 
displayed advertisement if it is satisfied that it is necessary to do so to remedy a 
substantial injury to the amenity of the locality or a danger to members of the public. 
Recipients of a Discontinuance Notice do have a right of appeal.  

 

6.10  Prosecution. The Council will consider commencing a prosecution in the Courts 
against any person who has failed to comply with the requirement(s) of any of the 
above Notices where the date for compliance has passed and the requirements have 
not been complied with. The prosecution is to seek to establish that an offence has 
occurred. 

6.11  In considering whether to initiate prosecution proceedings against the offender the 
Planning Enforcement Officer will consider the possible defences (reasons to appeal) 
against the prosecution proceedings as set by legislation, the Code for Prosecutors 
evidential test and the Code for Prosecutors public interest test. All decisions will be 
reviewed and agreed with a Council Legal Officer.  



 
6.12  The Council’s Legal Officer is responsible for taking the matter before the Magistrates 

or Crown Court. A notice may have to be served on more than one person to meet the 
terms of ‘good service’ for example a mortgage provider or an occupant where the 
landowner has also been served. The Council can at any time decide not to proceed 
with a prosecution.  

Evidential Test The evidence to be presented to Magistrates Court must be reliable 
and sufficient to satisfy the Council’s Legal Officer (prosecutor) that there is a realistic 
prospect of conviction. The evidence must clearly prove that the offence has occurred 
and identify who is legally responsible for that breach (the defendant).  

Public Interest Test If the case does pass the evidential stage, the Council’s Legal 
Officer (prosecutor) must then decide whether a prosecution is needed in the public 
interest. They must balance factors for and against prosecution carefully and fairly. 
Some factors may increase the need to prosecute but others may suggest that another 
course of action would be better.  

6.13  In cases where it is considered disproportionate, likely to be ineffective in resolving the 

breach, there is no realistic prospect of conviction, or where it is not in the public 

interest, the Planning Enforcement Service will not initiate prosecution proceedings. In 

cases where it is necessary to use witnesses not employed by the Council; the witness 

will be advised of the possible need to attend court and will be asked to provide a 

written witness statement. In such circumstances, if witnesses cannot or do not provide 

the necessary evidence, those prosecution proceedings may not be pursued. 

7.  Key Principle, conclusion and contact details  

7.1  This Local Enforcement Plan explains how the Council has responded to government 
policy on planning enforcement contained in the National Planning Policy Framework, 
it also sets out the procedures for delivering the City Council’s Planning Enforcement 
Service within the available resources.  

 

7.2  This Plan is not part of the Statutory Local Plan, but has been agreed by the Council 
in line with the provisions of the NPPF. This plan and the following guiding principle 
will be observed and taken into account in all planning enforcement matters:  

West Devon Borough Council as a Local Planning Authority will in their 
consideration of and exercise of decision making in all enforcement matters 
have due regard to this Plan along with National Planning Policies including the 
NPPF, the Governments Planning Practice Guidance, the relevant policies of the 
Local Plan and all other relevant material planning considerations  

7.3  The Council will continue to seek to improve its Planning Enforcement service by 
regularly monitoring, reviewing and updating its policies and procedures as a matter of 
good practice, and consult with stakeholders to make improvements in the delivery of 
the service. Performance review reports will be prepared to consider service standards 
and performance in the context of available resources, workloads and outcomes.  

 

7.4  Complaints about the service. If you are unhappy about the advice given or action 
taken or the level of service you have received from Development Management in 
relation to how it carries out its enforcement functions you can make a complaint using 
the Council’s Complaints Procedure. Details are available on our websites. 



 

 

Planning Enforcement Contact Details  

Our website:  

https://www.westdevon.gov.uk/article/680/Planning 

 

 

Phone Number:-  

West Devon Borough Council: 01803 861234 

Email:- PlanningEnforcement@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 



 

 

Report to: Hub Committee 

Date: 6 February 2018 

Title: LOCAL VALIDATION LIST FOR PLANNING 
APPLICATIONS 

 

Portfolio Area: Customer First – Cllr C Mott 

 

Wards Affected: All 

Relevant Scrutiny Committee: N/A 

 

Urgent Decision: N Approval and 

clearance obtained: 

Y 

Date next steps can be taken:  14 February 
2018 

Author: Patrick Whymer Role: Community of Practice 
Lead – Development 

Management  

Contact: patrick.whymer@swdevon.gov.uk 

 

 

RECOMMENDATION  

That the Hub Committee RESOLVES to Approve the revised Local 
Validation List. 
 

 

1.  EXECUTIVE SUMMARY  
 

1.1 Paragraph 193 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets 
out that Local Planning Authorities should publish a list of their 
information requirements for applications, which should be 

proportionate to the nature and scale of development proposals and 
reviewed on a frequent basis. Local Planning Authorities should only 

request supporting information that is relevant, necessary and 
material to the application in question. 

 
1.2 The National Planning Policy Guidance (PPG) provides further advice 

regarding Validation setting out that a local planning authority may 

request supporting information and that its requirements should be 
specified on a formally adopted local list which has been published 



 

 

on its website.  The local list should be reviewed every two years, the 
current validation local list was adopted in September 2014. 

 
1.3 The proposed validation list, available electronically as supporting 

papers to this report, has updated the requirements in accordance 
with any changes in legislation and current best practice. 
 

 
2.  BACKGROUND  

 
2.1 It is important that a planning authority seeks all relevant and 

necessary information to enable an informed decision to be made on 

any planning application.  As set out above in the Executive 
Summary, the NPPF and the PPG provide guidance on the scope and 

need for a local validation list for planning applications.  The current 
local list is more than two years old and needs to be reviewed.  

 

2.2 The current list was reviewed by Development Management officers 
early last year in consultation with other council specialists including 

Environmental Health, Landscape, Drainage and Heritage.  External 
consultees included but not exclusively Devon County Council, the 

Environment Agency and South West Water. 
 
2.3 A new draft list was provided for comments in March/April 2017 to 

planning agents and was discussed at the Agents Forum.  The Agents 
forum discussion was informative and the comments received were 

taken into account.   
 
2.4 A revised draft Local List was produced and in November 2017 a 

formal consultation on the revised draft was undertaken with all 
Planning Agents and Parish/Town Councils.  A number of comments 

were received to this formal consultation and they have all been 
taken into account in the final drafting. 

 

2.5 Ultimately the list is required to enable the public to clearly see the 
requirements of the Authority and for transparency and consistency 

in our validation and registration of applications. Adopting the list will 
aid in better clarity and service for customers and a better quality of 
applications and thus more sustainable and higher quality 

development. 
 

 
3.  PROPOSED ACTIONS 
 

3.1 That the Hub Committee adopt the revised Local Validation list for 
immediate use. 

 
 
4.  CONSIDERATION OF RISK 

 
4.1 Without a formally adopted and up-to-date Local Validation List the 

Council is vulnerable to challenge whilst validating substandard 
submission. This vulnerability could result in appeals for failure to 



 

 

validate and subsequent costs claims.  Alternatively if substandard 
submissions are validated due to the lack of a robust list then it is 

potentially more challenging to understand the exact nature of the 
development proposed and its potential impacts.   

 
 
 

 
5. IMPLICATIONS 

 

Implications 

 

Relevant  

to  
proposals  
Y/N  

Details and proposed measures to 

address  

Legal/Governance 
 

Y Paragraph 193 of the National Planning 
Policy Framework sets out the Local 

Planning Authorities should publish a 
Local Validation List. 

Financial 
 

N There are no direct financial implications 
of the contents of the report. 

Risk Y As outlined in section 4.0 of the report 

Comprehensive Impact Assessment Implications 

Equality and 
Diversity 

N  

Safeguarding N  

Community 

Safety, Crime 
and Disorder 

N The provision of all necessary and 

reasonable information with planning 
applications will ensure that a robust 

assessment of development proposals 
can be made to ensure that the 
Community Safety and Crime and 

Disorder are taken into account where 
relevant. 

Health, Safety 
and Wellbeing 

Y The provision of all necessary and 
reasonable information with planning 

applications will ensure that a robust 
assessment of development proposals 

can be made to ensure that the Health, 
Safety and Wellbeing of communities is 
maintained. 

Other 
implications 

N  
 

 
Supporting Papers available electronically: 

Local Validation List:     Full Applications:     Outline Applications 
Reserved Matters:     Householder Applications:  Section 73 Applications     
Section 96 Application:  Listed Building Consent:  Advertisements  

Prior Notification/Prior Approval:  Tree Works:  
Applications for Lawful Development : Other Supporting Information 

 
Background Papers: 

Local Validation Checklist September 2014 





  

 
 

FULL Applications Validation Document 
 (more information can be found on the Planning Portal website) 

 

N – indicates a requirement of the National List 

L – indicates a requirement of the Local List 

 

Complete and submit this list to indicate which supporting information documents you have provided: 

 

Tick if enclosed 
 

N Application 

Form 

Completed form, including signed and dated declaration (2 copies in 

total to be supplied if not submitted electronically).  

 

N Certificates The completed ownership certificate (A, B, C or D – as applicable) as 

required by the Town and Country Planning (Development 

Management Procedure) Order 2015. 

 

N  Notices Where ownership certificates B, C or D have been completed, notice(s) 

as required by the Town and Country Planning (Development 

Management Procedure) Order 2010 must be given and/or published in 

accordance with this Article. 

 

N  Agricultural   

Holdings   

Certificate 

Agricultural holdings certificate as required by the Town and Country 

Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015. 

 

N Site and 

Other Plans 

2 copies in total to be supplied (if not submitted electronically). 

 

Plans must be labelled appropriately with drawing numbers (and revision 

references where changes have been made), annotations (materials etc.) 

and plans should always have titles, a clearly stated metric scale (1:50, 

1:100 etc.) plus a scale bar (minimum 0-10m).  

 

They should also identify the address and number of any neighbours that 

abut the site. 

 

Note: If using an ordnance survey base for any plan, this must include the 

relevant license number. 

 



  

 
 

N  Site Location Plan which identifies the land to which the application relates 

drawn to an identified metric scale (1:1250 or 1:2500) and wherever possible 

should be scaled to fit onto A4 of A3 size paper.  The plan should show: 

• The direction of North  

• Identify sufficient roads and/or buildings or land adjoining the 

application site to ensure that the exact location of the application site 

is clear.  

• The application site should be edged clearly with a red line. It should 

include all land necessary to carry out the proposed development – for 

example, land required for access to the site from a public highway, 

visibility splays, landscaping, car parking and open areas around 

buildings.  

• A blue line should be drawn around any other land owned by or under 

the control of the applicant(s), close to or adjoining the application site. 
 

 

N  Block plan of the site (scale of 1:100, 1:200 or 1:500) showing any site 

boundaries and the proposed works. If within 3m of a boundary, distances to 

these boundaries will need to be shown. 

 

Crown Copyright: please note that the location and block plans submitted with an application should not 

breach Crown Copyright (e.g. they should not be a Land Registry document, a photocopy or a screen grab 

image). If it appears to use that they do breach Crown Copyright they will not be accepted, the application will 

be made invalid and replacement plans that comply with Crown Copyright will be requested. 
 

L  Existing and proposed elevations (if the proposal will create, alter or add to a 

building/structure) to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 showing: 

• the existing and proposed view of each side of the building or structure 

that will be altered or added to by the proposal 

• ground levels 

• finished floor levels 

• where the proposal relates to the conversion of a barn / outbuilding, 

information about which parts of the original building fabric that will be 

retained and which parts that will comprise new build 

Proposed elevations (contextual) to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 (if the proposal 

will create a building/structure) showing: 

• the proposed elevations in context with any immediately adjoining / 

neighbouring buildings 

• datum level 

• ground level 

• floor levels for the proposed building 

 

 



  

 
 

L  Existing and proposed floor plans to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 (if the proposal 

will create, alter or add to a floor) showing: 

• the existing and proposed layout of the whole of each floor that will be 

created, altered or added to by the proposal 

• the name of each of the rooms or areas 

 

 

L  Existing and proposed site sections and finished floor and site levels 

where appropriate (scale of 1:50 or 1:100). In respect of site levels the 

position of the fixed datum point needs to be identified and highlighted 

for all levels shown on the plan. 

 

L  Existing and proposed roof plans (if the proposal will alter the roof) to a scale 

of 1:50 or 1:100 showing: 

• layout of the roof structure (e.g. position and type of roof trusses, ridges, 

purlins etc.) 

 

 

L  Existing (if any) and proposed cross section drawings 

• where necessary (for example, if the proposal will create, alter or add to 

a building which is adjacent to an existing or consented building[s] in separate 

ownership and is on sloping land) to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 showing: 

o cross section(s) through the existing (if any) and proposed 

building and the remainder of the site relating these to the 

adjoining ground levels 

  

 

L  Existing and proposed site levels (if the proposal will lead to a change in the 

level of the land) to a scale of 1:200 or 1:500 showing: 

• Ground levels across the site. Measurements should be taken from an 

O.S. data point or from an otherwise authoritative and easily identifiable 

fixed point which will not be affected by the proposed development.  

• These details need to be provided both in plan form and by appropriate 

cross sections and should cover the land including and beyond any 

proposed building footprint. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



  

 
 

N Other 

documents 

Design and access statement - (DAS) will be required for 

• All planning applications for major developments; or 

o If within a designated area (World Heritage Site (WHS) or 

Conservation Area), for developments of one or more dwelling 

or the provision of building or buildings where the floor space 

created by the development is 100 square metres or more. 

• Unless the application is one of the following: 

o Change of use of buildings or land (unless this also involves 

building work or other physical alteration); 

o Engineering or mining operations; 

o Waste development. 

• You will also need to submit a Design and Access Statement (DAS) with 

an application for Listed Building Consent. 

 

L  Wildlife Trigger Table – to be completed and returned with your application 

- required for all applications 

 

NB:  Please see items listed under ‘other documents’ for further guidance 

relating to other ecological information that might be required to 

accompany your application. 

 

 

L  Drainage and Flooding 

 

Major Planning Applications 

Devon County Council is the Lead Local Flood Authority and will comment 

on all major planning applications in relation to drainage and flooding 

matters.   The following information is required for this purpose: 

 

1. Assessment of all existing flood risks to the site, including from 

sewer networks, groundwater, overland surface water flows, 

reservoirs, ponds, canals, and other watercourses; 

2. Calculations of the current surface water runoff for the site; 

3. Calculations of the proposed surface water runoff for the site; 

4. Calculations of the surface water attenuation storage volume 

required for the 1 in 100 (+40% allowance for climate change) year 

rainfall event; 

5. Calculations of the long term storage volume required to store the 

additional volume of surface water runoff caused by any increase in 

the site's impermeable area; 

 

 

Foul drainage:  Any type of development that connects to the mains or a 

 



  

 
 

 

 

  6. Evidence that the site has an agreed point of discharge; 

7. Evidence that the drainage hierarchy has been followed, providing 

robust evidence as to the viability or otherwise of: 

• Discharge into the ground (infiltration); 

• Discharge to a surface water body (with written permission from the 

riparian owner); 

• Discharge to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or other drainage 

system (with written permission from South West Water Ltd., Devon 

County Council Highways, or the riparian owner, respectively); 

• Discharge to a combined sewer (with written permission from the 

riparian owner). 

8. Evidence that the capacity of any receiving watercourse is sufficient 

to receive concentrated flows from the site; 

9. Explanations of the proposed flood risk mitigation measures; 

10. Non-technical summary of the proposed surface water drainage 

management system; 

11. Plans of the proposed surface water drainage management system, 

demonstrating that the proposed system fits within the proposed 

site layout, and is practical and sustainable; 

12. Outline operation and maintenance plan and timetable for the 

proposed surface water drainage management system over the 

entire lifetime of the development. 

 

Applications which are not major applications: 

 

Foul drainage:  Any type of development that connects to the mains or a 

non-mains system will need a drainage assessment or statement to detail 

the proposed arrangement.  

 

Flooding and surface water:  All applications must state whether there is a 

flood risk to the development. The Council has taken a practical approach 

to managing flood risk based on development type and a 3 tier risk 

grouping. Sites that are within a Flood Zone or a Critical Drainage Area 

(CDA) are higher risk and will require a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) to 

ensure the risk can be managed to the appropriate level. 

 

NB - Please see the Other Supporting Information document (link below) 

which sets out in more detail the information requirements for your 

development type and the relevant risk level. 

 

N Fee The appropriate fee - please see the most up to date fees on The Planning 

Portal 

 

 



  

 
 

Other Supporting Information  
 

Please see full guidance relating to each document type available here:  Other Supporting Information and 

guidance 

 

Complete and submit this list to indicate which supporting information documents you have provided: 

Tick if enclosed 

Flood Risk Assessment   

Surface Water Drainage Assessment   

Foul Water Drainage Assessment  

Parking provision  

Retail Impact Assessment  

Planning Statement  

Environmental Statement  

Affordable Housing  

Viability Assessment  

Transport Statements/Assessments/Plans  

Heritage Statement  

Agricultural and Rural Development  

Planning obligations  

Ecological Information  

European Protected Sites  

European Protected Species  

Geology  

Geo-technical Survey and Design  

Structural Survey  

Hazardous Installations Risk Assessment  

Lighting Impact Assessment/Scheme  

Odour Statement  

Contaminated Land Survey  

Noise Impact Assessment  

Air Quality Assessment  

Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal (LVIAp)  

Landscape Design, Management and Maintenance Scheme (LDMMS)  

Green Infrastructure Plans and Statements  

Trees/ Hedge survey  

Open Space, Sport and Recreation (OSSR) Statement   

Waste Statement  

Playing Field Statement  

Structural Survey  

Schedule of Works  



  

 
 

 





1 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

 

OUTLINE Applications (all or some matters Reserved) - Validation Document 
The level and content of information required will depend on the matters to be Reserved.  

 

 (more information can be found on the Planning Portal website) 

 

N – indicates a requirement of the National List 

L – indicates a requirement of the Local List 

 

Complete and submit this list to indicate which supporting information documents you have provided: 

          Tick if enclosed 
 

N Application 

Form 

Completed form, including signed and dated declaration (2 copies in 

total to be supplied if not submitted electronically). 

 

N Certificates The completed ownership certificate (A, B, C or D – as applicable) as 

required by the Town and Country Planning (Development 

Management Procedure) Order 2015. 

 

N  Notices Where ownership certificates B, C or D have been completed, notice(s) as 

required by the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 

Procedure) Order 2010 must be given and/or published in accordance with 

this Article. 

 

N  Agricultural   

Holdings   

Certificate 

Agricultural holdings certificate as required by the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) Order 2015. 

 

N Site and 

Other Plans 

2 copies in total to be supplied (if not submitted electronically). 

 

Plans must be labelled appropriately with drawing numbers and 

annotations (materials etc.) and that they always have titles and clearly 

stated metric scales (1:50, 1:100 etc.), plus a scale bar (minimum 0-10m).  

 

They should also identify the address and number of any neighbours that 

abut the site. 

 

Note: If using an ordnance survey base for any plan, this must include the 

relevant license number. 

 

 



2 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

N  Site Location Plan which identifies the land to which the application relates 

drawn to an identified metric scale (1:1250 or 1:2500) and wherever possible 

should be scaled to fit onto A4 of A3 size paper.  The plan should show: 

• The direction of North  

• Identify sufficient roads and/or buildings or land adjoining the 

application site to ensure that the exact location of the application site 

is clear.  

• The application site should be edged clearly with a red line. It should 

include all land necessary to carry out the proposed development – for 

example, land required for access to the site from a public highway, 

visibility splays, landscaping, car parking and open areas around 

buildings.  

• A blue line should be drawn around any other land owned by or under 

the control of the applicant(s), close to or adjoining the application site. 
 

 

N  • Block plan of the site (scale of 1:100, 1:200 or 1:500) showing any site 

boundaries and the proposed works. If within 3m of a boundary, 

distances to these boundaries will need to be shown 

 

Crown Copyright: please note that the location and block plans submitted with an application should not breach 

Crown Copyright (e.g. they should not be a Land Registry document, a photocopy or a screen grab image). If it 

appears to use that they do breach Crown Copyright they will not be accepted, the application will be made 

invalid and replacement plans that comply with Crown Copyright will be requested. 
 

L  Existing and proposed elevations (if the proposal will create, alter or add to a 

building/structure) to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 showing: 

• the existing and proposed view of each side of the building or structure 

that will be altered or added to by the proposal 

• ground levels 

• finished floor levels 

• where the proposal relates to the conversion of a barn / outbuilding, 

information about which parts of the original building fabric that will be 

retained and which parts that will comprise new build 

Proposed elevations (contextual) to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 (if the proposal 

will create a building/structure) showing: 

• the proposed elevations in context with any immediately adjoining / 

neighbouring buildings 

• datum level 

• ground level 

• floor levels for the proposed building 

 

 

L  Existing and proposed floor plans to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 (if the proposal 

will create, alter or add to a floor) showing: 

• the existing and proposed layout of the whole of each floor that will be 

created, altered or added to by the proposal 

• the name (or use) of each of the rooms or areas 

 

 



3 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

L  Existing and proposed site sections and finished floor and site levels 

where appropriate (scale of 1:50 or 1:100). In respect of site levels the 

position of the fixed datum point needs to be identified and highlighted 

for all levels shown on the plan. 

 

L  Existing and proposed roof plans (if the proposal will alter the roof) to a scale 

of 1:50 or 1:100 showing: 

• layout of the roof structure (e.g. position and type of roof trusses, ridges, 

purlins etc.). 

 

 

L  Existing (if any) and proposed cross section drawings 

• (if the proposal will create, alter or add to a building ) to a scale of 1:50 

or 1:100 showing: 

o cross section(s) through the existing (if any) and proposed 

building and the remainder of the site relating these to the 

adjoining ground levels 

• if the proposal is for a track or an outdoor horse-riding arena - to a scale 

of 1:10 or 1:20 showing:  

o cross section(s) of any proposed surface treatment, which 

should include details of the proposed surfacing materials.  

 

L  Existing and proposed site levels (If the proposal will lead to a change in the 

level of the land) to a scale of 1:200 or 1:500 showing: 

• ground levels across the site. Measurements should be taken from an 

O.S. data point or from an otherwise authoritative and easily identifiable 

fixed point which will not be affected by the proposed development.  

• These details need to be provided both in plan form and by appropriate 

cross sections and should cover the land including and beyond any 

proposed building footprint. 

 

 

 

 

N Other 

documents 

Design and access statement - (DAS) will be required for 

• All planning applications for major developments; or 

o If within a designated area (World Heritage Site (WHS) or 

Conservation area) for developments of one or more dwelling or 

the provision of building or buildings where the floor space 

created by the development is 100 square metres or more. 

• Unless the application is one of the following: 

o Change of use of buildings or land (unless this also involves 

building work or other physical alteration); 

o Engineering or mining operations; 

o Waste development. 

• You will also need to submit a Design and Access Statement (DAS) 

with an application for Listed Building Consent. 

 



4 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

L 

 

 

 

L 

 Photographs showing the relationship with adjoining properties (identifying 

the use of rooms where the windows will face or overlook the proposed 

development) 

 

Wildlife Trigger Table – required to be completed and returned for all 

applications. 

 

 

 

 



5 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

L  Drainage and Flooding 

 

Major Planning Applications 

Devon County Council is the Lead Local Flood Authority and will comment on 

all major planning applications in relation to drainage and flooding matters.   

The following information is required for this purpose: 

 

1. Assessment of all existing flood risks to the site, including from sewer 

networks, groundwater, overland surface water flows, reservoirs, 

ponds, canals, and other watercourses; 

2. Calculations of the current surface water runoff for the site; 

3. Calculations of the proposed surface water runoff for the site; 

4. Calculations of the surface water attenuation storage volume 

required for the 1 in 100 (+40% allowance for climate change) year 

rainfall event; 

5. Calculations of the long term storage volume required to store the 

additional volume of surface water runoff caused by any increase in 

the site's impermeable area; 

6. Evidence that the site has an agreed point of discharge; 

7. Evidence that the drainage hierarchy has been followed, providing 

robust evidence as to the viability or otherwise of: 

• Discharge into the ground (infiltration); 

• Discharge to a surface water body (with written permission from the 

riparian owner); 

• Discharge to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or other drainage 

system (with written permission from South West Water Ltd., Devon 

County Council Highways, or the riparian owner, respectively); 

• Discharge to a combined sewer (with written permission from the 

riparian owner). 

8. Evidence that the capacity of any receiving watercourse is sufficient to 

receive concentrated flows from the site; 

9. Explanations of the proposed flood risk mitigation measures; 

10. Non-technical summary of the proposed surface water drainage 

management system; 

11. Plans of the proposed surface water drainage management system, 

demonstrating that the proposed system fits within the proposed site 

layout, and is practical and sustainable; 

12. Outline operation and maintenance plan and timetable for the 

proposed surface water drainage management system over the entire 

lifetime of the development. 

 

 

 



6 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

  Outline applications which are not major applications: 

 

Foul drainage:  Any type of development that connects to the mains or a 

non-mains system will need a drainage assessment or statement to detail the 

proposed arrangement.  

 

Flooding and surface water:  All applications must state whether there is a 

flood risk to the development. The Council has taken a practical approach to 

managing flood risk based on development type and a 3 tier risk grouping. 

Sites that are within a Flood Zone or a Critical Drainage Area (CDA) are higher 

risk and will require a Flood Risk Assessment (FRA) to ensure the risk can be 

managed to the appropriate level. 

 

NB - Please see the Other Supporting Information document (link below) 

which sets out in more detail the information requirements for your 

development type and the relevant risk level. 

 

N Fee The appropriate fee - please see the most up to date fees on The Planning 

Portal 

 

 



7 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

 

 

 

Complete and submit this list to indicate which supporting information documents you have 

provided: 

Tick if enclosed 

 

 
Flood Risk Assessment   

Surface Water Drainage Assessment   

Foul Water Drainage Assessment  

Parking Provision  

Retail Impact Assessment  

Planning Statement  

Environmental Statement  

Affordable Housing  

Viability Assessment  

Transport Statements/Assessments/Plans  

Heritage Statement  

Agricultural and Rural Development Information  

Planning Obligations  

Ecological Information  

European Protected Sites  

European Protected Species  

Geology  

Geo-technical Survey and Design  

Structural Survey  

Hazardous Installations Risk Assessment  

Lighting Impact Assessment/Scheme  

Odour Statement  

Contaminated Land Survey  

Noise Impact Assessment  

Air Quality Assessment  

Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal (LVIAp)  

Landscape Design, Management and Maintenance Scheme (LDMMS)  

Green Infrastructure Plans and Statements  

Tree / Hedge survey  

Open Space, Sport and Recreation (OSSR) Statement   

Waste Statement  

Playing Field Statement  

 

Other Supporting Information  
Please view the other supporting information page for full guidance relating to 

each document type 





1 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

 

RESERVED MATTERS Applications Validation Document 
The level and content of information required will be depend the matters to be considered.  

 

 (more information can be found on the Planning Portal website) 

 

N – indicates a requirement of the National List 

L – indicates a requirement of the Local List 

 

Complete and submit this list to indicate which supporting information documents you have provided: 

          Tick if enclosed 
 

N Application 

Form 

Completed form, including signed and dated declaration (2 copies in 

total to be supplied if not submitted electronically) 

 

N Certificates The completed ownership certificate (A, B, C or D – as applicable) as 

required by the Town and Country Planning (Development 

Management Procedure) Order 2015 

 

N  Notices Where ownership certificates B, C or D have been completed, notice(s) as 

required by the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 

Procedure) Order 2010 must be given and/or published in accordance 

with this Article 

 

N  Agricultural   

Holdings   

Certificate 

Agricultural holdings certificate as required by the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) Order 2015 

 

N Site and 

Other Plans 

2 copies in total to be supplied (if not submitted electronically) 

 

Plans must be labelled appropriately with drawing numbers and 

annotations (materials etc.) and that they always have titles, and clearly 

stated metric scales (1:50, 1:100 etc.) plus a scale bar (minimum 0-10m).  

 

They should also identify the address and number of any neighbours that 

abut the site. 

 

Note: If using an ordnance survey base for any plan, this must include the 

relevant license number. 

 

 



2 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

N  Site Location Plan which identifies the land to which the application relates 

drawn to an identified metric scale (1:1250 or 1:2500) and wherever possible 

should be scaled to fit onto A4 of A3 size paper.  The plan should show: 

• The direction of North  

• Identify sufficient roads and/or buildings or land adjoining the 

application site to ensure that the exact location of the application site 

is clear.  

• The application site should be edged clearly with a red line. It should 

include all land necessary to carry out the proposed development – for 

example, land required for access to the site from a public highway, 

visibility splays, landscaping, car parking and open areas around 

buildings.  

• A blue line should be drawn around any other land owned by or under 

the control of the applicant(s), close to or adjoining the application site. 
 

 

N  Block plan of the site (scale of 1:100, 1:200 or 1:500) showing any site 

boundaries and the proposed works. If within 3m of a boundary, distances to 

these boundaries will need to be shown 

 

Crown Copyright: please note that the location and block plans submitted with an application should not breach 

Crown Copyright (e.g. they should not be a Land Registry document, a photocopy or a screen grab image). If it 

appears to use that they do breach Crown Copyright they will not be accepted, the application will be made 

invalid and replacement plans that comply with Crown Copyright will be requested. 
 

L  Existing and proposed elevations (if the proposal will create, alter or add to a 

building/structure) to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 showing: 

• the existing and proposed view of each side of the building or structure 

that will be altered or added to by the proposal 

• ground levels 

• finished floor levels 

• where the proposal relates to the conversion of a barn / outbuilding, 

information about which parts of the original building fabric that will be 

retained and which parts that will comprise new build 

Proposed elevations (contextual) to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 (if the proposal will

create a building/structure) showing: 

• the proposed elevations in context with any immediately adjoining / 

neighbouring buildings 

• datum level 

• ground level 

• floor levels for the proposed building 

 

 

L  Existing and proposed floor plans to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 (if the proposal 

will create, alter or add to a floor) showing: 

• the existing and proposed layout of the whole of each floor that will be 

created, altered or added to by the proposal 

• the name of each of the rooms or areas 

 

 



3 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

L  Existing and proposed site sections and finished floor and site levels 

where appropriate (scale of 1:50 or 1:100). In respect of site levels the 

position of the fixed datum point needs to be identified and highlighted 

for all levels shown on the plan. 

 

L  Existing and proposed roof plans (if the proposal will alter the roof) to a scale 

of 1:50 or 1:100 showing: 

• layout of the roof structure (e.g. position and type of roof trusses, ridges, 

purlins etc.) 

 

 

L  Existing (if any) and proposed cross section drawings 

• (if the proposal will create, alter or add to a building ) to a scale of 1:50 

or 1:100 showing: 

o cross section(s) through the existing (if any) and proposed 

building and the remainder of the site relating these to the 

adjoining ground levels 

• if the proposal is for a track or an outdoor horse-riding arena - to a scale 

of 1:10 or 1:20 showing:  

o cross section(s) of any proposed surface treatment, which 

should include details of the proposed surfacing materials.  

 

L  Existing and proposed site levels (if the proposal will lead to a change in the 

level of the land) to a scale of 1:200 or 1:500 showing: 

• ground levels across the site. Measurements should be taken from an 

O.S. data point or from an otherwise authoritative and easily identifiable 

fixed point which will not be affected by the proposed development.  

• These details need to be provided both in plan form and by appropriate 

cross sections and should cover the land including and beyond any 

proposed building footprint. 

 

 

 

 

N Other 

documents 

Design and access statement - (DAS) will be required for 

• All planning applications for major developments; or 

o If within a designated area (World Heritage Site (WHS) or 

Conservation area) for developments of one or more dwelling or 

the provision of building or buildings where the floor space 

created by the development is 100 square metres or more. 

• Unless the application is one of the following: 

o Change of use of buildings or land (unless this also involves 

building work or other physical alteration); 

o Engineering or mining operations; 

o Waste development. 

• You will also need to submit a Design and Access Statement (DAS) 

with an application for Listed Building Consent. 

 



4 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

L 

 

 

 

L 

 Photographs showing the relationship with adjoining properties (identifying 

the use of rooms where the windows will face or overlook the proposed 

development) 

 

Wildlife Trigger Table – required to be completed and returned for all 

applications. 

 

 

 

 

L  Drainage and Flooding 

 

Reserved matters relating to major applications: 

 

Devon County Council is the Lead Local Flood Authority and will comment on 

all major planning applications in relation to surface water drainage and 

flooding matters.  The following information is required for this purpose: 

 

1. Assessment of all existing flood risks to the site, including from sewer 

networks, groundwater, overland surface water flows, reservoirs, 

ponds, canals, and other watercourses; 

2. Calculations of the current surface water runoff for the site; 

3. Calculations of the proposed surface water runoff for the site; 

4. Calculations of the surface water attenuation storage volume 

required for the 1 in 100 (+40% allowance for climate change) year 

rainfall event; 

5. Calculations of the long term storage volume required to store the 

additional volume of surface water runoff caused by any increase in 

the site's impermeable area; 

6. Evidence that the site has an agreed point of discharge; 

7. Evidence that the drainage hierarchy has been followed, providing 

robust explanations as to the viability or otherwise of: 

• Discharge into the ground (infiltration); 

• Discharge to a surface water body (with written permission from the 

riparian owner); 

• Discharge to a surface water sewer, highway drain, or other drainage 

system (with written permission from South West Water Ltd., Devon 

County Council Highways, or the riparian owner, respectively); 

• Discharge to a combined sewer (with written permission from the 

riparian owner). 

7. Infiltration testing results for each proposed infiltration system; 

8. Groundwater monitoring over a 12 month period, taking account of 

seasonal variations, to demonstrate that the base of any infiltration 

component is at least 1 metre above the maximum anticipated 

groundwater level;  

 

 



5 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

  9. Evidence that the capacity of any receiving watercourse is sufficient to 

receive concentrated flows from the site; 

10. Detailed explanations and plans of flood risk mitigation measures; 

11. Technical summary of the proposed surface water drainage 

management system; 

12. Detailed plans of the proposed surface water drainage management 

system, demonstrating that the proposed system fits within the 

proposed site layout, and is practical and sustainable;  

13. Residual risk assessment to account for a failure of any part of the 

proposed surface water drainage management system; 

14. Detailed exceedance route plans to demonstrate that there is no 

residual risk of property flooding during events in excess of the return 

period for which the surface water drainage management system is 

designed; 

15. Detailed operation and maintenance plan and timetable for the 

proposed surface water drainage management system over the entire 

lifetime of the development; 

16. Details of the proposed community signage and engagement 

activities for each proposed surface water drainage management 

components. 

 

  The Local Planning Authority will comment on foul drainage matters. 

 

 

N Fee The appropriate fee - please see the most up to date fees on The Planning 

Portal 

 

 



6 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

Other Supporting Information  
Please view the other supporting information page for full guidance relating to 

each document type 

 

 

Complete and submit this list to indicate which supporting information documents you 

have provided: 

 

            Tick if enclosed
 

Flood Risk Assessment   

Surface Water Drainage Assessment   

Foul Water Drainage Assessment  

Parking provision  

Retail Impact Assessment  

Planning Statement  

Environmental Statement  

Affordable Housing  

Viability Assessment  

Transport Statements/Assessments/Plans  

Heritage Statement  

Agricultural and Rural Development  

Planning obligations  

Ecological Information  

European Protected Sites  

European Protected Species  

Geology  

Geo-technical Survey and Design  

Structural Survey  

Hazardous Installations Risk Assessment  

Lighting Impact Assessment/Scheme  

Odour Statement  

Contaminated Land Survey  

Noise Impact Assessment  

Air Quality Assessment  

Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal (LVIAp)  

Landscape Design, Management and Maintenance Scheme (LDMMS)  

Green Infrastructure Plans and Statements  

Trees/ Hedge survey  

Open Space, Sport and Recreation (OSSR) Statement   

Waste Statement  

Playing Field Statement  

Structural Survey  

Schedule of Works  

 

 



1 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

 

HOUSEHOLDER Applications Validation Document 
 (more information can be found on the Planning Portal website) 

 

N – indicates a requirement of the National List 

L – indicates a requirement of the Local List 

 

Complete and submit this list to indicate which supporting information documents you have provided: 

         Tick if enclosed 
 

N Application 

Form 

Completed form, including signed and dated declaration (2 copies in 

total to be supplied if not submitted electronically). 

 

N Certificates The completed ownership certificate (A, B, C or D – as applicable) as 

required by the Town and Country Planning (Development 

Management Procedure) Order 2015. 

 

N  Notices Where ownership certificates B, C or D have been completed, notice(s) as 

required by the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 

Procedure) Order 2010 must be given and/or published in accordance with 

this Article. 

 

N  Agricultural   

Holdings   

Certificate 

Agricultural holdings certificate as required by the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) Order 2015. 

 

N Site and 

Other Plans 

2 copies in total to be supplied (if not submitted electronically). 

 

Plans must be labelled appropriately with drawing numbers and 

annotations (materials etc.) and that they always have titles and clearly 

stated metric scales (1:50, 1:100 etc.), plus a scale bar (minimum 0-10m).  

 

They should also identify the address and number of any neighbours that 

abut the site. 

 

Note: If using an ordnance survey base for any plan, this must include the 

relevant license number. 

 

 



2 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

N  Site Location Plan which identifies the land to which the application relates 

drawn to an identified metric scale (1:1250 or 1:2500) and wherever possible 

should be scaled to fit onto A4 of A3 size paper.  The plan should show: 

• The direction of North  

• Identify sufficient roads and/or buildings or land adjoining the 

application site to ensure that the exact location of the application site 

is clear.  

• The application site should be edged clearly with a red line. It should 

include all land necessary to carry out the proposed development – for 

example, land required for access to the site from a public highway, 

visibility splays, landscaping, car parking and open areas around 

buildings.  

• A blue line should be drawn around any other land owned by or under 

the control of the applicant(s), close to or adjoining the application site. 
 

 

N  Block plan of the site (scale of 1:100, 1:200 or 1:500) showing any site 

boundaries and the proposed works. If within 3m of a boundary, distances to 

these boundaries will need to be shown. 

 

Crown Copyright: please note that the location and block plans submitted with an application should not breach 

Crown Copyright (e.g. they should not be a Land Registry document, a photocopy or a screen grab image). If it 

appears to use that they do breach Crown Copyright they will not be accepted, the application will be made 

invalid and replacement plans that comply with Crown Copyright will be requested. 
 

L  Existing and proposed elevations (if the proposal will create, alter or add to a 

building/structure) to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 showing: 

• the existing and proposed view of each side of the building or structure 

that will be altered or added to by the proposal 

• ground levels 

• finished floor levels 

• where the proposal relates to the conversion of a barn / outbuilding, 

information about which parts of the original building fabric that will be 

retained and which parts that will comprise new build 

Proposed elevations (contextual) to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 (if the proposal 

will create a building/structure) showing: 

• the proposed elevations in context with any immediately adjoining / 

neighbouring buildings 

• datum level 

• ground level 

• floor levels for the proposed building 

 

 

L  Existing and proposed floor plans to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 (if the proposal 

will create, alter or add to a floor) showing: 

• the existing and proposed layout of the whole of each floor that will be 

created, altered or added to by the proposal 

• the name (or use) of each of the rooms or areas 

 

 



3 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

L  Existing and proposed site sections and finished floor and site levels 

where appropriate (scale of 1:50 or 1:100). In respect of site levels the 

position of the fixed datum point needs to be identified and highlighted 

for all levels shown on the plan 

 

L  Existing and proposed roof plans (if the proposal will alter the roof) to a scale 

of 1:50 or 1:100 showing: 

• layout of the roof structure (e.g. position and type of roof trusses, ridges, 

purlins etc.) 

 

 

 

 

 
 
 
 

L 

 

 

 

L 

 Photographs showing the relationship with adjoining properties (identifying 

the use of rooms where the windows will face or overlook the proposed 

development) 

 

Wildlife Trigger Table – required for all applications to be completed and 

returned with your application 

 

 

 

L  Drainage and Flooding 

 

Foul drainage:  Any type of development that connects to the mains or a 

non-mains system will need a drainage assessment or statement to detail the 

proposed arrangement.  

 

Flooding and surface water:  All applications must state whether there is a 

flood risk to the development.  

The Council has taken a practical approach to managing flood risk based on 

development type and a 3 tier risk grouping. Sites that are within a Flood 

Zone or a Critical Drainage Area (CDA) are higher risk and will require a Flood 

Risk Assessment (FRA) to ensure the risk can be managed to the appropriate 

level. 

NB - Please see the Other Supporting Information document (link below) 

which sets out in more detail the information requirements for your 

development type and the relevant risk level. 

 

N Fee The appropriate fee unless exempt.  Please see the most up to date fees on 

The Planning Portal 

 

 



4 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

Other Supporting Information  
 

Please see full guidance relating to each document type available here: Other Supporting Information and 

guidance 

 

Complete and submit this list to indicate which supporting information documents you have provided: 

  
Tick if enclosed 

 

Flood Risk Assessment   

Surface Water Drainage Assessment   

Foul Water Drainage Assessment  

Planning Statement  

Heritage Statement  

Ecological Information  

European Protected Sites  

European Protected Species  

Geo-technical Survey and Design  

Lighting Impact Assessment/Scheme  

Odour Statement  

Contaminated Land Survey  

Noise Impact Assessment  

Tree / Hedge survey  

 

 



1 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

S73 REMOVAL OR VARIATION OF A CONDITION / MINOR MATERIAL 

AMENDMENT Applications Validation Document 
 (more information can be found on the Planning Portal website) 

 

N – indicates a requirement of the National List 

L – indicates a requirement of the Local List 

 

Complete and submit this list to indicate which supporting information documents you have provided 

                                       Tick if enclosed 
 

N Application 

Form 

Completed form, including signed and dated declaration (2 copies in 

total to be supplied if not submitted electronically). 

 

N Certificates The completed ownership certificate (A, B, C or D – as applicable) as 

required by the Town and Country Planning (Development 

Management Procedure) Order 2015. 

 

N  Notices As indicated by the eligibility requirements, the appropriate persons 

must have been notified as required by the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) Order 2010 must be given 

and/or published in accordance with this Article. 

 

N Agricultural 

Holdings 

Certificate 

Agricultural holdings certificate as required by the Town and Country 

Planning (Development Management Procedure) Order 2015. 

 

N Site and 

Other Plans 

2 copies in total to be supplied (if not submitted electronically). 

 

Plans must be labelled appropriately with drawing numbers (and revision 

references where changes have been made), annotations (materials etc.) 

and plans should always have titles, a clearly stated metric scale (1:50, 

1:100 etc.) plus a scale bar (minimum 0-10m).  

 

They should also identify the address and number of any neighbours that 

abut the site. 

 

Depending on the nature of the application the following information 

may be required.  Please contact the Planning Department for 

clarification. 

 

Note: If using an ordnance survey base for any plan, this must include the 

relevant license number. 

 

 



2 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

N  Site Location Plan which identifies the land to which the application relates 

drawn to an identified metric scale (1:1250 or 1:2500) and wherever possible 

should be scaled to fit onto A4 of A3 size paper.  The plan should show: 

• The direction of North  

• Identify sufficient roads and/or buildings or land adjoining the 

application site to ensure that the exact location of the application site 

is clear.  

• The application site should be edged clearly with a red line. It should 

include all land necessary to carry out the proposed development – for 

example, land required for access to the site from a public highway, 

visibility splays, landscaping, car parking and open areas around 

buildings.  

• A blue line should be drawn around any other land owned by or under 

the control of the applicant(s), close to or adjoining the application site. 
 

 

N  Block plan of the site (scale of 1:100, 1:200 or 1:500) showing any site 

boundaries and the proposed works. If within 3m of a boundary, distances to 

these boundaries will need to be shown. 

 

Crown Copyright: please note that the location and block plans submitted with an application should not breach 

Crown Copyright (e.g. they should not be a Land Registry document, a photocopy or a screen grab image). If it 

appears to use that they do breach Crown Copyright they will not be accepted, the application will be made 

invalid and replacement plans that comply with Crown Copyright will be requested. 
 

L  Existing and proposed elevations (if the proposal will create, alter or add to a 

building/structure) to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 showing: 

• the existing and proposed view of each side of the building or structure 

that will be altered or added to by the proposal 

• ground levels 

• finished floor levels 

• where the proposal relates to the conversion of a barn / outbuilding, 

information about which parts of the original building fabric that will be 

retained and which parts that will comprise new build 

Proposed elevations (contextual) to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 (if the proposal 

will create a building/structure) showing: 

• the proposed elevations in context with any immediately adjoining / 

neighbouring buildings 

• datum level 

• ground level 

• floor levels for the proposed building 

 

 



3 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

L  Existing and proposed floor plans to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 (if the proposal 

will create, alter or add to a floor or where the development involves 

demolition in a Conservation Area) showing: 

• the existing and proposed layout of the whole of each floor that will be 

created, altered or added to by the proposal 

• the name of each of the rooms or areas 

 

 

L  Existing and proposed site sections and finished floor and site levels 

where appropriate (scale of 1:50 or 1:100). In respect of site levels the 

position of the fixed datum point needs to be identified and highlighted 

for all levels shown on the plan. 

 

L  Existing and proposed roof plans (if the proposal will alter the roof) to a scale 

of 1:50 or 1:100 showing: 

• layout of the roof structure (e.g. position and type of roof trusses, ridges, 

purlins etc.) 

 

 

L  Existing (if any) and proposed cross section drawings 

• (if the proposal will create, alter or add to a building ) to a scale of 1:50 

or 1:100 showing: 

o cross section(s) through the existing (if any) and proposed 

building and the remainder of the site relating these to the 

adjoining ground levels 

• if the proposal relates to a listed building or is in a Conservation Area and 

includes new or replacement windows and doors or other architectural 

features - to a scale of 1:2 or 1:5 

• if the proposal is for a track or an outdoor horse-riding arena - to a scale 

of 1:10 or 1:20 showing:  

o cross section(s) of any proposed surface treatment, which 

should include details of the proposed surfacing materials.  

 

L  Existing and proposed site levels (if the proposal will lead to a change in the 

level of the land) to a scale of 1:200 or 1:500 showing: 

• ground levels across the site. Measurements should be taken from an 

O.S. data point or from an otherwise authoritative and easily identifiable 

fixed point which will not be affected by the proposed development.  

• These details need to be provided both in plan form and by appropriate 

cross sections and should cover the land including and beyond any 

proposed building footprint. 

 

 

 

 

L 

 

 

 

L 

Other 

documents 

Photographs showing the relationship with adjoining properties (identifying 

the use of rooms where the windows will face or overlook the proposed 

development). 

 

Wildlife Trigger Table – to be completed and submitted for all applications.  

 



4 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

L  Drainage 

 

Where the proposed changes increase the impermeable surface area or the 

changes would alter the approved drainage scheme then a revised drainage 

assessment will be required.  

 

Please see the ‘Other Supporting Information’ document below which has 

further guidance about drainage information requirements.  

 

 

N Fee The appropriate fee - please see the most up to date fees on The Planning 

Portal 

 

 



5 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

 
 

Other Supporting Information   
Please see full guidance relating to each document type. 

 

Complete and submit this list to indicate which supporting information documents you 

have provided - where relevant to the amendment being made: 

Tick if enclosed 

 

 
Flood Risk Assessment   

Surface Water Drainage Assessment   

Foul Water Drainage Assessment  

Parking Provision  

Retail Impact Assessment  

Planning Statement  

Environmental Statement  

Affordable Housing  

Viability Assessment  

Transport Statements/Assessments/Plans  

Heritage Statement  

Agricultural and Rural Development Information  

Planning Obligations  

Ecological Information  

European Protected Sites  

European Protected Species  

Geology  

Geo-technical Survey and Design  

Structural Survey  

Hazardous Installations Risk Assessment  

Lighting Impact Assessment/Scheme  

Odour Statement  

Contaminated Land Survey  

Noise Impact Assessment  

Air Quality Assessment  

Landscape and Visual Impact Appraisal (LVIAp)  

Landscape Design, Management and Maintenance Scheme (LDMMS)  

Green Infrastructure Plans and Statements  

Tree / Hedge survey  

Open Space, Sport and Recreation (OSSR) Statement   

Waste Statement  

Playing Field Statement  

 





1 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

S96a NON MATERIAL MINOR AMENDMENT Applications Validation 

Document 
 (more information can be found on the Planning Portal website) 

 

N – indicates a requirement of the National List 

L – indicates a requirement of the Local List 

 

Complete and submit this list to indicate which supporting information documents you have provided: 

         Tick if enclosed 
 

N Application 

Form 

Completed form, including signed and dated declaration (2 copies in 

total to be supplied if not submitted electronically). 

 

N Eligibility Must be able to answer ‘yes’ to the questions relating to eligibility  on the 

application form as required by the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) Order 2015. 

 

N  Notices As indicated by the eligibility requirements, the appropriate persons 

must have been notified as required by the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) Order 2010 must be given 

and/or published in accordance with this Article. 

 

N Site and 

Other Plans 

2 copies in total to be supplied (if not submitted electronically). 

 

Plans must be labelled appropriately with drawing numbers (and revision 

references where changes have been made), annotations (materials etc.) 

and plans should always have titles, a clearly stated metric scale (1:50, 

1:100 etc.) plus a scale bar (minimum 0-10m).  

 

They should also identify the address and number of any neighbours that 

abut the site. 

 

Note: If using an ordnance survey base for any plan, this must include the 

relevant license number. 

 

 



2 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

N  Site Location Plan which identifies the land to which the application relates 

drawn to an identified metric scale (1:1250 or 1:2500) and wherever possible 

should be scaled to fit onto A4 of A3 size paper.  The plan should show: 

• The direction of North  

• Identify sufficient roads and/or buildings or land adjoining the 

application site to ensure that the exact location of the application site 

is clear.  

• The application site should be edged clearly with a red line. It should 

include all land necessary to carry out the proposed development – for 

example, land required for access to the site from a public highway, 

visibility splays, landscaping, car parking and open areas around 

buildings.  

• A blue line should be drawn around any other land owned by or under 

the control of the applicant(s), close to or adjoining the application site. 
 

 

N  Block plan of the site (scale of 1:100, 1:200 or 1:500) showing any site 

boundaries and the proposed works. If within 3m of a boundary, distances to 

these boundaries will need to be shown. 

 

Crown Copyright: please note that the location and block plans submitted with an application should not breach 

Crown Copyright (e.g. they should not be a Land Registry document, a photocopy or a screen grab image). If it 

appears to use that they do breach Crown Copyright they will not be accepted, the application will be made 

invalid and replacement plans that comply with Crown Copyright will be requested. 
 

N  Existing and proposed elevations (if the proposal will create, alter or add to a 

building/structure) to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 showing: 

• the existing and proposed view of each side of the building or structure 

that will be altered or added to by the proposal 

• ground levels 

• finished floor levels 

• where the proposal relates to the conversion of a barn / outbuilding, 

information about which parts of the original building fabric that will be 

retained and which parts that will comprise new build 

 

 

N  Existing and proposed floor plans to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 (if the proposal 

will create, alter or add to a floor or where the development involves 

demolition in a Conservation Area) showing: 

• the existing and proposed layout of the whole of each floor that will be 

created, altered or added to by the proposal 

• the name of each of the rooms or areas 

 

 

N  Existing and proposed site sections and finished floor and site levels 

where appropriate (scale of 1:50 or 1:100). In respect of site levels the 

position of the fixed datum point needs to be identified and highlighted 

for all levels shown on the plan. 

 



3 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

N  Existing and proposed roof plans (if the proposal will alter the roof) to a scale 

of 1:50 or 1:100 showing: 

• layout of the roof structure (e.g. position and type of roof trusses, ridges, 

purlins etc.) 

 

 

L  A statement to confirm whether any non-material amendments have 

previously been submitted relating to this application. 

 

 

 

 

N Fee The appropriate fee - please see the most up to date fees on The Planning 

Portal 

 

 





1 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

 

LISTED BUILDING CONSENT FOR ALTERATIONS, EXTENSION OR 

DEMOLITION OF LISTED BUILDING Applications - Validation 

Document 
 (more information can be found on the Planning Portal website) 

 

N – indicates a requirement of the National List 

L – indicates a requirement of the Local List 

 

Complete and submit this list to indicate which supporting information documents you have provided: 

        Tick if enclosed 
 

N Application 

Form 

Completed form, including signed and dated declaration (2 copies in 

total to be supplied if not submitted electronically) 

 

N Certificates The completed ownership certificate (A, B, C or D – as applicable) as 

required by the Town and Country Planning (Development 

Management Procedure) Order 2015 

 

N  Notices Where ownership certificates B, C or D have been completed, notice(s) as 

required by the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 

Procedure) Order 2010 must be given and/or published in accordance 

with this Article 

 

N  Agricultural   

Holdings   

Certificate 

Agricultural holdings certificate as required by the Town and Country Planning 

(Development Management Procedure) Order 2015 

 

N Site and 

Other Plans 

2 copies in total to be supplied (if not submitted electronically) 

 

Plans must be labelled appropriately with drawing numbers and 

annotations (materials etc.) and that they always have titles and clearly 

stated metric scales (1:50, 1:100 etc.), plus a scale bar (minimum 0-10m).  

 

They should also identify the address and number of any neighbours that 

abut the site. 

 

Note: If using an ordnance survey base for any plan, this must include the 

relevant license number. 

. 

 



2 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

N  Site Location Plan which identifies the land to which the application relates 

drawn to an identified metric scale (1:1250 or 1:2500) and wherever possible 

should be scaled to fit onto A4 of A3 size paper.  The plan should show: 

• The direction of North  

• Identify sufficient roads and/or buildings or land adjoining the 

application site to ensure that the exact location of the application site 

is clear.  

• The application site should be edged clearly with a red line. It should 

include all land necessary to carry out the proposed development – for 

example, land required for access to the site from a public highway, 

visibility splays, landscaping, car parking and open areas around 

buildings.  

• A blue line should be drawn around any other land owned by or under 

the control of the applicant(s), close to or adjoining the application site. 
 

 

N  Block plan of the site (scale of 1:100, 1:200 or 1:500) showing any site 

boundaries and the proposed works. If within 3m of a boundary, distances to 

these boundaries will need to be shown. 

 

Crown Copyright: please note that the location and block plans submitted with an application should not breach 

Crown Copyright (e.g. they should not be a Land Registry document, a photocopy or a screen grab image). If it 

appears to use that they do breach Crown Copyright they will not be accepted, the application will be made 

invalid and replacement plans that comply with Crown Copyright will be requested. 
 

L  Existing and proposed elevations (if the proposal will create, alter or add to a 

building/structure) to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 showing: 

• the existing and proposed view of each side of the building or structure 

that will be altered or added to by the proposal 

• ground levels 

• finished floor levels 

• where the proposal relates to the conversion of a barn / outbuilding, 

information about which parts of the original building fabric that will be 

retained and which parts that will comprise new build 

Proposed elevations (contextual) to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 (if the proposal 

will create a building/structure) showing: 

• the proposed elevations in context with any immediately adjoining / 

neighbouring buildings 

• datum level 

• ground level 

• floor levels for the proposed building 

 

 

L  Existing and proposed floor plans to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 (if the proposal 

will create, alter or add to a floor) showing: 

• the existing and proposed layout of the whole of each floor that will be 

created, altered or added to by the proposal 

• the name of each of the rooms or areas 

 

 



3 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

L  Existing and proposed site sections and finished floor and site levels 

where appropriate (scale of 1:50 or 1:100). In respect of site levels the 

position of the fixed datum point needs to be identified and highlighted 

for all levels shown on the plan. 

 

L  Existing and proposed roof plans (if the proposal will alter the roof) to a scale 

of 1:50 or 1:100 showing: 

• layout of the roof structure (e.g. position and type of roof trusses, ridges, 

purlins etc.) 

 

 

L  Existing (if any) and proposed cross section drawings: 

• (if the proposal will create, alter or add to a building ) to a scale of 1:50 

or 1:100 showing: 

o cross section(s) through the existing (if any) and proposed 

building and the remainder of the site relating these to the 

adjoining ground levels 

• if the proposal is for a track or an outdoor horse-riding arena - to a scale 

of 1:10 or 1:20 showing:  

o cross section(s) of any proposed surface treatment, which 

should include details of the proposed surfacing materials.  

• if the proposal relates to a listed building: 

o where the proposal includes new or replacement joinery or other 

architectural features, drawings to a scale of 1:2 or 1:5 showing 

whole vertical and horizontal cross sections showing joinery 

details, profiles and sections for new or replacement doors and 

windows and other architectural features.  

 

L  Existing and proposed site levels (If the proposal will lead to a change in the 

level of the land) to a scale of 1:200 or 1:500 showing: 

• Ground levels across the site. Measurements should be taken from an 

O.S. data point or from an otherwise authoritative and easily identifiable 

fixed point which will not be affected by the proposed development.  

• These details need to be provided both in plan form and by appropriate 

cross sections and should cover the land including and beyond any 

proposed building footprint. 

 

 

 

 



4 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

N Other 

documents 

Design and access statement - (DAS) will be required for all Listed Building 

Consents and should include: 

• An explanation of the design principles and concepts that have been 

applied to the proposed works 

• Information on any consultation undertaken, and how the outcome of 

this consultation has informed the proposed works. 

• Unless the proposed works only affect the interior of the building, 

Design and Access Statements accompanying applications for listed 

building consent must also explain how issues relating to access to the 

building have been dealt with. 

 



5 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

  Heritage Statement – can be combined with the Design and Access Statement 

to avoid duplication, to demonstrate how the proposed design has responded 

to the historic environment. 

 

As well as offering a consideration of the historic significance of the building 

and its setting and an impact assessment on the proposal it should also 

contain a Schedule of Works detailing those works which are to be undertaken 

including materials to be used and associated methodology. 

 

For Planning Applications where proposals are for total or partial demolition 

of a structure in a Conservation Area, the Statement should include a written 

analysis of the character and appearance of the building/structure and the 

contribution it makes to the Conservation Area and its setting. It must also 

give justification for the proposed demolition including the effect the 

demolition will have on the special character of the area and a structural 

survey justifying demolition where appropriate. 

 

For Planning Applications affecting a Listed Building or its setting, a 

Scheduled Ancient Monument or its setting or a Registered Park & Garden or 

its setting the Statement should identify the asset and its significance and 

offer an impact assessment on the effect of the proposals on the asset.  

Landscape analysis to consider the impact upon an asset’s setting should also 

be considered. 

 

For Planning Applications involving the disturbance of ground on sites that 

are known to have or are considered to have archaeological interest, an 

applicant will need to commission an assessment of archaeological 

significance and impact. The results of this work will need to be included 

within the Heritage Statement.   

 



6 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

   

It should be noted that Heritage Statements/Heritage Impact Assessments 

should also be submitted for Planning applications that directly affect a non-

designated heritage asset or its setting. Non-designated heritage assets are 

buildings, structures or sites (including archaeological sites) that may never 

have been assessed or not statutorily designated but have a heritage value. 

Carrying out a pre-application meeting with the Planning Department will 

ensure that heritage assets are identified at the earliest stage. 

 

Therefore it is important to understand the significance of a heritage asset 

when considering any proposals to alter, demolish, extend it or develop within 

its setting. An early understanding of the significance will inform the direction 

of any application. The level of information provided should be appropriate 

and proportionate to the significance of the heritage asset and the potential 

impact upon that significance of the proposals. For example, for an application 

that includes substantial demolition of a heritage asset it is reasonable to 

expect an applicant to provide a thorough and detailed understanding of the 

asset, and a thorough explanation of the impact of the demolition on the asset 

and its setting. An application for a minor alteration to part of the asset is 

likely only to require detailed information on the affected part of the asset, 

with only a brief explanation of how the impact relates to the significance of 

the asset as a whole. 

 

DEFINITIONS: 

 

Heritage Asset:  A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape 

identified as having a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning 

decisions, because of its heritage interest. Heritage asset includes designated 

heritage assets and assets identified by the local planning authority (including 

local listing). 

 

Significance: The value of a heritage asset to this and future generations 

because of its heritage interest. That interest may be archaeological, 

architectural, artistic or historic. Significance derives not only from a heritage 

asset’s physical presence, but also from its setting 

 

Archaeological Interest: There will be archaeological interest in a heritage 

asset if it holds, or potentially may hold, evidence of past human activity 

worthy of expert investigation at some point. Heritage assets with 

archaeological interest are the primary source of evidence about the 

substance and evolution of places, and of the people and cultures that made 

them.  

 

 



7 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

 
 

 

 

 

L 

 

 

 

L 

 

L 

 

L 

 Photographs showing the relationship with adjoining properties (identifying 

the use of rooms where the windows will face or overlook the proposed 

development). 

 

Wildlife Trigger Table– required for all applications 

 

Listed building appraisal for complete demolition of a building only. 

 

Justification for works to a listed building & schedule of works. 

 

 

 

 

N Fee • The appropriate fee - please see the most up to date fees on The 

Planning Portal 

 

 





1 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

 

ADVERTISEMENT Applications Validation Document 
 (more information can be found on the Planning Portal website) 

 

N – indicates a requirement of the National List 

L – indicates a requirement of the Local List 

 

Complete and submit this list to indicate which supporting information documents you have provided: 

 

         Tick if enclosed 
 

N Application 

Form 

Completed form, including signed and dated declaration (2 copies in 

total to be supplied if not submitted electronically). 

 

N Site and 

Other Plans 

2 copies in total to be supplied (if not submitted electronically). 

 

Plans must be labelled appropriately with drawing numbers (and revision 

references where changes have been made), annotations (materials etc.) 

and plans should always have titles, a clearly stated metric scale (1:50, 

1:100 etc.) plus a scale bar (minimum 0-10m).  

 

They should also identify the address and number of any neighbours that 

abut the site. 

 

Depending on the nature of the application the following information may 

be required.  Please contact the Planning Department for clarification. 

 

Note: If using an ordnance survey base for any plan, this must include the 

relevant license number 

 

 

N  Site Location Plan which identifies the land to which the application relates 

drawn to an identified metric scale (1:1250 or 1:2500) and wherever possible 

should be scaled to fit onto A4 of A3 size paper.  The plan should show: 

• The direction of North  

• Identify sufficient roads and/or buildings or land adjoining the 

application site to ensure that the exact location of the application site 

is clear.  

• The application site should be edged clearly with a red line. It should 

include all land necessary to carry out the proposed development – for 

example, land required for access to the site from a public highway, 

visibility splays, landscaping, car parking and open areas around 

buildings.  

• A blue line should be drawn around any other land owned by or under 

the control of the applicant(s), close to or adjoining the application site. 
 

 



2 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

N  Block plan of the site (scale of 1:100, 1:200 or 1:500) showing any site 

boundaries and the proposed works. If within 3m of a boundary, distances to 

these boundaries will need to be shown. 

 

Crown Copyright: please note that the location and block plans submitted with an application should not breach 

Crown Copyright (e.g. they should not be a Land Registry document, a photocopy or a screen grab image). If it 

appears to use that they do breach Crown Copyright they will not be accepted, the application will be made 

invalid and replacement plans that comply with Crown Copyright will be requested. 
 

L  Existing and proposed elevations (if the proposal will create, alter or add to a 

building/structure) to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 showing: 

• The position, materials and the colour of existing and propose signage 
• If sited on a building, plans must show the whole of the site of the 

building 
 
 

 

N    Other Plans and drawings to show: 

• Height from natural ground level to the base of the proposed 

advertisement in metres 

• Dimensions of the letters, figures or symbols in each of the proposed 

advertisement  

• Maximum distance each advertisement projects from the face of the 

building on which it is proposed to be placed 
• Where illumination is proposed, details of illuminance levels, and 

whether illumination would be static or intermittent 

 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

N Fee The appropriate fee - please see the most up to date fees on The Planning 

Portal 

 

 



3 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

Other Supporting Information  
 

Please see full guidance relating to each document type available here: 

 

Other Supporting Information and guidance 

 

Complete and submit this list to indicate which supporting information documents you have provided: 

Tick if enclosed 

Heritage Statement  

 





1 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

Application for tree works: works to Trees subject to a Tree 

Preservation Order (TPO) (also recommended for the notification of 

Proposed works to trees in Conservation Area) - Applications 

Validation Document 
 

N – indicates a requirement of the National List 

L – indicates a requirement of the Local List 

 

Complete and submit this list to indicate which supporting information documents you have provided: 

          Tick if enclosed 
 

N Application 

Form 

Completed form - with all questions answered.  

N Plan  Showing the location of all trees. 

 

Note: If using an ordnance survey base for any plan, this must 

include the relevant license number. 

 

 

N Statements • A full and clear specification of the works to be carried out. 

• Statement of reasons for the proposed work 

 

 

N Evidence Evidence in support of statement of reasons, where required by the 

standard application form. 

 

 

 

The following information may be useful to assist the Local Planning Authority when assessing and considering 

your application:  

 

• Photographs 

• A report by a professional (arboriculturalist) or other suitably qualified person 

• Details of any assistance or advice sought from the Local Planning Authority officer prior to submitted this 

form 

 





1 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

 

LAWFUL DEVELOPMENT Applications Validation Document 
 (more information can be found on the Planning Portal website 

 

N – indicates a requirement of the National List 

L – indicates a requirement of the Local List. 

Tick if enclosed 
 

N Application 

Form 

Completed form, including signed and dated declaration (2 copies in 

total to be supplied if not submitted electronically). 

 

N Certificates 

– Interest in 

Land 

The completed certificate (regarding interests in the land) as required by 

the Town and Country Planning (Development Management 

Procedure) Order 2015. 

 

N Site and 

Other Plans 

2 copies in total to be supplied (if not submitted electronically). 

 

Plans must be labelled appropriately with drawing numbers (and revision 

references where changes have been made), annotations (materials etc.) 

and plans should always have titles, a clearly stated metric scale (1:50, 

1:100 etc.) plus a scale bar (minimum 0-10m).  

 

They should also identify the address and number of any neighbours that 

abut the site. 

 

The plans identified below may be required in some cases (as identified 

in each case) as evidence to verify the proposal for which a certificate is 

being sought. 

 

N  Site Location Plan which identifies the land to which the application relates 

drawn to an identified metric scale (1:1250 or 1:2500) and wherever possible 

should be scaled to fit onto A4 of A3 size paper.  The plan should show: 

• The direction of North  

• Identify sufficient roads and/or buildings or land adjoining the 

application site to ensure that the exact location of the application site 

is clear.  

• The application site should be edged clearly with a red line. It should 

include all land to which the development relates – for example, land 

used for access to the site from a public highway, visibility splays, 

landscaping, car parking and open areas around buildings.  

• A blue line should be drawn around any other land owned by or under 

the control of the applicant(s), close to or adjoining the application site. 
 

 

N  Block plan of the site (scale of 1:100, 1:200 or 1:500) if the proposal will alter 

an existing building footprint or create a new building footprint. 

 



2 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

Crown Copyright: please note that the location and block plans submitted with an application should not breach 

Crown Copyright (e.g. they should not be a Land Registry document, a photocopy or a screen grab image). If it 

appears to use that they do breach Crown Copyright they will not be accepted, the application will be made 

invalid and replacement plans that comply with Crown Copyright will be requested. 
 

L  Existing and proposed elevations (if the proposal will create, alter or add to a 

building/structure) to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 showing: 

• the existing and proposed view of each side of the building or structure 

that will be altered or added to by the proposal 

• ground levels 

• finished floor levels 

• where the proposal relates to the conversion of a barn / outbuilding, 

information about which parts of the original building fabric that will be 

retained and which parts that will comprise new build 

Proposed elevations (contextual) to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 (if the proposal 

will create a building/structure) showing: 

• the proposed elevations in context with any immediately adjoining / 

neighbouring buildings 

• datum level 

•  ground level 

• floor levels for the proposed building 

 

 

L  Existing and proposed floor plans to a scale of 1:50 or 1:100 (if the proposal 

will create, alter or add to a floor) showing: 

• the existing and proposed layout of the whole of each floor that will be 

created, altered or added to by the proposal 

• the name of each of the rooms or areas 

 

 

L  Existing and proposed site sections and finished floor and site levels 

where appropriate (scale of 1:50 or 1:100). In respect of site levels the 

position of the fixed datum point needs to be identified and highlighted 

for all levels shown on the plan. 

 

L  Existing and proposed roof plans (if the proposal will alter the roof) to a scale 

of 1:50 or 1:100 showing: 

• layout of the roof structure (e.g. position and type of roof trusses, ridges, 

purlins etc.) 

 

 



3 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

L  Existing (if any) and proposed cross section drawings 

• (if the proposal will create, alter or add to a building ) to a scale of 1:50 

or 1:100 showing: 

o cross section(s) through the existing (if any) and proposed 

building and the remainder of the site relating these to the 

adjoining ground levels 

• if the proposal includes new or replacement windows and doors or other 

architectural features - to a scale of 1:2 or 1:5 

• if the proposal is for a track or an outdoor horse-riding arena - to a scale 

of 1:10 or 1:20 showing:  

cross section(s) of any proposed surface treatment, which should include 

details of the proposed surfacing materials. 

 

  Existing and proposed site levels (if the proposal will lead to a change in the 

level of the land) to a scale of 1:200 or 1:500 showing: 

• ground levels across the site. Measurements should be taken from an 

O.S. data point or from an otherwise authoritative and easily identifiable 

fixed point which will not be affected by the proposed development.  

• These details need to be provided both in plan form and by appropriate 

cross sections and should cover the land including and beyond any 

proposed building footprint. 

 

 

 

 

 

N Other 

documents 

Supporting documentation that provides evidence of an existing use e.g.: 

• photographs 

• utility bills 

• council tax statements 

• rental history etc. 

 

 L 

 

 

 

 

 Statements (preferably a Sworn Statement \ Affidavit) from people with 

personal knowledge of the existing use, operation, activity or works carried 

out. 

 

 

 

N Fee The appropriate fee - please see the most up to date fees on The Planning 

Portal 

 

 





 

1 

 

Other Supporting Information  
 

We may on occasion ask for the following documents: 
 

 

 
 Circumstances when the document should be submitted 

 

Tick if 
enclosed 

 
Flood risk, 

surface water 

and foul 

water 

disposal  

Step 1 - Identify development type: 

Householder 

applications 

 

Change of use 

 

Small Scale 

Minor 

Development 

Minor 

Development 

 

Major Development 

 

Development 

within the 

curtilage of a 

dwelling 

house and are 

not a change 

of use. 

 

No 

operational 

development 

No building or 

engineering 

work is 

involved 

 

1-2 dwellings 

(unless floor 

space exceeds 

1000m² ) 

3-9 dwellings 

(unless floor 

space exceeds 

1000m² ) 

10+ dwellings (over 0.5 

hectare if number of 

dwellings is 

unspecified) 

Site area less 

than 0.5 

hectare 

 

Non-residential 

floor space  up to 

999 m² 

Non-residential floor 

space  greater than 

1000 m²  

Site area less than 

1 hectare 

Site area exceeds 1 

hectare 

 

Step 2 - Identify development risk level: 

To check if your application is in flood zone 2, 3 or a Critical Drainage Area (CDA), 

please visit the Environment Agency website.  

Environment Agency - Flood risk assessment for planning applications 

Environment Agency - Flood risk assessment: standing advice 

Low Risk Large, level sites not in flood zones 2 or 3 or a CDA 

Medium Risk Small, steep sites not in a flood zones 2 or 3 or a CDA 

High risk Site is within flood zone 2 or 3 or a CDA 

 

(Continued over page) 

 

 



 

2 

 

 Step 3: 

Use relevant guidance sheet for detailed guidance on the additional 

information required with your application. 

Householder Application Guidance: 
Householder

 

 Change of Use and Replacement Dwelling Guidance: 
CoU & Rep.

 

Small-scale – Minor Application Guidance:
Small Minor

 

Minor Application Guidance:
Minor

 

Major Application Guidance:
Major

 

 

 

Parking 

provision 

Applications may be required to provide details of existing and proposed 

parking provision. 

 

Retail Impact 

Assessment 

 

Required where a proposal includes a retail element and this element exceeds 

the threshold set out in the relevant Retail SPD or the NPPF where no SPD exists. 

 

 



 

3 

 

Planning 

statement  

 

Trigger: Required on all major applications and wind turbines. 

 

A Planning Statement provides developers with the opportunity to explain how 

the proposed development accords with planning policies and relevant SPD or 

development briefs. It should also include details of any discussions with the LPA 

and wider community/statutory consultees undertaken prior to submission.  

 

Large scale projects including all major schemes should include the Statement of 

Community Involvement in this section. The planning statement should also 

include the following where the development type triggers it: details of the form 

of public open space (POS) to be provided; a regeneration statement; a utilities 

statement detailing proposed links to existing utility infrastructure systems such 

as the National Grid or telephone provider (particularly relevant for renewables 

applications); details on the development’s achievement of code for sustainable 

homes standards; details of consideration of designing out crime; a statement 

demonstrating adherence to any renewable energy requirements; a tourism need 

justification statement, and; where community facilities such as a pub or play 

space would be lost as a result of the development, a justification should be 

provided here.   

 

 

Environmental 

Statement 

Trigger: The Town and Country Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) 

(England and Wales) Regulations 2011.                                                          

 

Developments that may require an Environmental Statement to be prepared 

are those listed under Schedule 1 and those Schedule 2 applications defined 

under the Regulations, which are likely to have significant effect on the 

environment by virtue their nature, size and location. The Town and Country 

Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) (England and Wales) Regulations 

2011 require developers to prepare an Environmental Statement to enable the 

Local Planning Authority to give proper consideration to the likely 

environmental effects of a proposed development.  A screening and scoping 

opinion can be sought from the LPA prior to submission. 

 



 

4 

 

Affordable 

Housing 

All applications for new residential units (including changes of use resulting in 

residential use). 

 

Applications must demonstrate compliance with relevant affordable housing 

policies and Supplementary Planning Documents. If it is proposed that different 

levels or types of affordability or tenure are proposed for different units, then it 

should be fully explained from the outset with the initial submission. This sits 

alongside the heads of terms and/or viability requirement.  

 

 

Viability 

Assessment 

If any Heads of Terms falls short of the Local Planning Authority requirements 

without the written support the relevant consultee or stakeholder, a viability 

assessment laying out the financial justification for any shortfall is normally 

required in a format showing the details of how the shortfall has been calculated.  

Again, it will be helpful in determining the application if the format of the viability 

assessment has been agreed with the Council in advance of submission. 

 

 



 

5 

 

Transport 

Statements/ 

Assessments/ 

Plans 

 

These will normally only be required in accordance with the following matrix: 

 

Land use 

(Figures are m2 unless stated 

otherwise) 

 

No Requirement TS required TA/TP 

required 

Food Retail (A1) <250 >250 <800 >800 

Non-food retail (A1) <800 >800 <1500 >1500 

Financial and professional 

services  (A2) 

<1000 >1000 <2500 >2500 

Restaurant and cafes (A3) <300 >300 <2500 >2500 

Drinking establishments (A4) <300 >300 <600 >600 

Hot food takeaway (A5) <250 >250 <500 >500 

Business (B1) <1500 >1500 <2500 >2500 

General Industry (B2) <2500 >2500 <4000 >4000 

Storage or Distribution (B8) <3000 >3000 <5000 >5000 

Hotels (C1) <75 bedrooms >75 <100 

bedrooms 

>100 

bedrooms 

Residential institutions, 

hospitals, nursing homes (C2) 

<30 beds >30 <50 >50 beds 

Residential institutions, 

residential education (C2) 

<50 students >50 <150 >150 students

Residential institutions, 

institutional hostels (C2) 

<250 residents >250 <150 >400 residents

Dwelling houses (C3) <50 houses >50 <80 houses >80 

Non-residential institution (D1) 

sq m 

<500 >50 <80 >1000 

Assembly and leisure (D2) sq m <500 >500 <1500 >1500 

Others, e.g. stadiums, 

nightclubs, hire shops 

Discuss with highway 

authority (HA) 

Discuss with HA Discuss with 

HA 

 



 

6 

 

 Transport Statements should set out the transport issues relating to a proposed 

development site and details of the development proposal. 

 

Transport Assessments should provide supporting information to a planning 

proposal to inform the Planning and Highway Authorities of the implications, and 

mitigation measures required to accommodate a proposal on the transport 

networks.  Providing sufficient content to enable the Planning and Highway 

Authority’s to make a decision as to the proposals acceptability. 

 

A Travel Plan should outline the way in which the transport implications of new 

development will be managed in order to ensure that there is the least 

environmental, social or economic impact.  They are commitments by developers 

outlining how new occupiers or customers to the development will use 

alternative means of travel that do not involve private vehicle use. 

 
Further information can be gained from the guidance on Transport Assessment 

by the Department for Communities and Local Government: 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/travel-plans-transport-assessments-and-

statements  

 

 

 



 

7 

 

Heritage 

Statement 

 

Triggers:  

• A Heritage Statement is needed for any application that directly affects a 

heritage asset or its setting.  

 

• Heritage Statements and heritage impact assessments should also be 

submitted for planning applications that directly affect non-designated 

heritage assets or their setting. 

 

For Listed Building Consent (an application for works to a listed building) the 

Heritage Statement as well as offering a consideration of the historic significance 

of the building and its setting and an impact assessment on the proposal it should 

also contain a Schedule of Works detailing those works which are to be 

undertaken including materials to be used and associated methodology. 

 

For Planning Applications where proposals are for total or partial demolition of 

a structure in a Conservation Area the Statement should include a written 

analysis of the character and appearance of the building/structure and the 

contribution it makes to the conservation area and its setting. It must also give 

justification for the proposed demolition including the effect the demolition will 

have on the special character of the area and a structural survey justifying 

demolition where appropriate. 

 

For Planning Applications affecting a listed building or its setting, a Scheduled 

Ancient Monument or its setting or a Registered Park & Garden or its setting 

the Statement should identify the asset and its significance and offer an impact 

assessment on the effect of the proposals on the asset.  Landscape analysis to 

consider the impact upon an asset’s setting should also be considered. 

 

For Planning Applications involving the disturbance of ground on sites that are 

known to have or are considered to have archaeological interest, an applicant 

will need to commission an assessment of archaeological significant and impact. 

The results of this work will need to be included within the Heritage Statement.      

 

It should be noted that Heritage Statements/Heritage Impact Assessments 

should also be submitted for Planning applications that directly affect a non-

designated heritage asset or its setting. Non-designated heritage assets are 

buildings, structures or sites (including archaeological sites) that may never have 

been assessed or not statutorily designated but have a heritage value. Carrying 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

8 

 

 For example, for an application that includes substantial demolition of a heritage 

asset it is reasonable to expect an applicant to provide a thorough and detailed 

understanding of the asset, and a thorough explanation of the impact of the 

demolition on the asset and its setting. An application for a minor alteration to 

part of the asset is likely only to require detailed information on the affected part 

of the asset, with only a brief explanation of how the impact relates to the 

significance of the asset as a whole. 

 

DEFINITIONS: 

 

Heritage Asset:  A building, monument, site, place, area or landscape identified 

as having a degree of significance meriting consideration in planning decisions, 

because of its heritage interest. Heritage asset includes designated heritage 

assets and assets identified by the local planning authority (including local listing). 

 

Significance: The value of a heritage asset to this and future generations because 

of its heritage interest. That interest may be archaeological, architectural, artistic 

or historic. Significance derives not only from a heritage asset’s physical 

presence, but also from its setting 

 

Archaeological Interest: There will be archaeological interest in a heritage asset if 

it holds, or potentially may hold, evidence of past human activity worthy of 

expert investigation at some point. Heritage assets with archaeological interest 

are the primary source of evidence about the substance and evolution of places, 

and of the people and cultures that made them.  

 

NB: For Listed Building Consent applications for minor works such as window 

replacement, re-roofing (covering only), chimney repairs, rainwater goods, 

insertion of flues, vents etc., where the resulting works would offer limited 

difference in appearance to the existing and proposed elevations or the works 

are of a minor nature, photographs may be acceptable to be used to demonstrate 

the ‘existing’ arrangement. In these instances such applications should be 

supported by a ‘Schedule of Works’ and/or detailed drawings of the new 

component elements at an appropriate minimum scale. 

 

 

 



 

9 

 

Agricultural 

and Rural 

Development 

 

All applications seeking new agricultural, forestry or other rural occupational 

dwellings must be accompanied by a statement by an independent specialist with 

expert knowledge of the rural business in question which includes the following 

information: 

  

• A comprehensive description of the business and how it operates;  

• References to the relevant national and local planning policies, together 

with an explanation of the applicant's/agent's opinions that the 

development complies with these policies;  

• An explanation of the applicant's/agent's opinions that the proposed 

dwelling is required because there are special circumstances, and an 

essential need, for the rural worker concerned to live at or near their place 

of work in the countryside and why this need cannot be fulfilled by any 

existing accommodation or dwelling on or close to the business premises 

which may be suitable and available for the occupation of the worker 

concerned;  

• In the case of applications for new permanent dwellings, the most recent 

consecutive three years' full business accounts, as evidence of the firm 

establishment, profitability, financial soundness, viability and sustainability 

of the business, and in the case of applications for temporary dwellings 

(which will be appropriate where the business enterprise is new and 

evolving), financial evidence to show that the business has been planned 

on a sound financial basis;  

• Plans at a suitable scale to show the extent of the operational land and 

buildings 

 

In sensitive cases, a similar statement may be required with applications for new 

rural buildings that would have a significant impact on the landscape and/or the 

environment. 

 

 



 

10 

 

Planning 

obligations 

 

Certain types of development are required to mitigate their impact on the wider 

community, environment or economy by providing financial or physical 

contributions or by obliging the developer, or others, to carry out certain actions. 

 

SHDC and WDBC triggers for obligations vary and advice should be sought and/or 

specific policies consulted to determine what will be required.  

 

Planning obligations may be required for a wide range of mitigating measures for 

development proposals where planning conditions cannot suffice.  Where 

possible, a written draft of the obligations, preferably a fully drafted legal 

agreement, should be submitted with the application. 

 

Planning applications for new dwellings that exceed the thresholds outlined 

above/in the applicable policies must provide Heads of Terms (HoT) that should 

have addressed the policy requirements.  It will be of assistance in determining 

the application in a timely fashion if the proposed contributions have been 

reviewed by the appropriate consultee with regard to affordable housing, open 

space, sports and recreation, education and transport.  For example, an 

affordable housing contribution must be offered in the Heads of Terms 

accompanying a planning application and it will be helpful if a copy of written 

confirmation from the Council Housing team stating their position on the offer, 

positive or otherwise.  In the case of open space, sports and recreation 

contributions, the views of the Council Nature, Environment and Recreation team 

are required and for education and transport, Devon County Council officers 

could have offered a written view. 

 

Whilst there are specific thresholds set out for residential development and 

commercial for when planning obligations apply, other forms of development 

may also require mitigation controlled by a legal agreement and the Heads of 

Terms must be clearly laid out in writing as part of any application, preferably 

with the written views of any stakeholder or party included. 

 

When submitting Heads of Terms or a draft legal agreement to the Local Planning 

Authority, the applicant is required to provide full details of their legal 

representative. 

 



 

11 

 

Ecology 

 

Trigger: All applications (including Listed Building Consent) 

 

All applications must be accompanied by a completed Wildlife Trigger Table 

which can be found below and on the Council’s website. If the proposal results 

in a ‘yes’ to any of the questions on the Wildlife Trigger Table you must include 

a Preliminary Ecological Appraisal (PEA) (for which there is also guidance on 

the website, and see also CIEEM Technical Guidance Series at 

http://www.cieem.net/technical-guidance-series-tgs- ) with your application. 

 

This type of appraisal can be carried out at any time of the year but must be 

produced by an appropriately qualified and experienced ecological consultant.  

A PEA is a preliminary assessment of the likely impacts of a proposed 

development on protected species and habitats. A PEA can help the project 

proposer and Local Planning Authority to agree the appropriate scope of any 

subsequent impact assessment or determine that ecological issues will not be 

significant in determining the application. If the PEA does not identify any 

significant ecological effects, the requirement for mitigation or further surveys 

then it can be submitted as a standalone document.  If impacts are identified, 

and mitigation or further surveys are required, then these must be submitted as 

part of an Ecological Impact Assessment (EcIA). 

 

If the PEA recommends further Protected Species Surveys, these must be 

provided with the application and will be required to validate the application. 

Some Protected Species Surveys can only be carried out at specific times of the 

year, and this may need to be factored in to the planning of your development 

proposal. 

 

Further information to assist applicants, agents and ecological consultants with 

the application is available on the Councils’ websites. Where an EcIA is 

submitted including proposed mitigation, compensation or enhancements for 

wildlife, these should be included and reflected on any submitted plans. 

In some exceptional cases a PEA may not be required. If following consultation 

and provision of evidence by the applicant at the pre-application stage, the LPA 

has stated in writing that no PEA is required, this can be submitted with the 

application for validation. 

 

A PEA will be required if the proposal: 

1) Involves demolition of a building      

2) Involves works to a roof, roof space, weather boarding or hanging tiles e.g. 

loft conversion, roof raising, extensions. 

3) Involves works to a quarry or built structures such as bridges, viaducts, 

aqueducts, tunnels, mines, kilns, ice houses, military fortifications, air raid 

shelters, cellars and similar underground ducts and structures. 

4) Involves the development of (a) wind turbine(s), including domestic turbines. 

5) Will illuminate / cause light spill onto, a church, listed building, woodland, 

field hedge, pasture, watercourse, water body, tree line or a known bat roost. 

      

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



 

12 

 

  

6) Impacts on a watercourse, intertidal area or standing open water (e.g. ponds, 

Reed beds) excluding ornamental garden ponds. 

7) Removes, or moves, part / all of a native Devon hedge or line of trees 

(excluding domestic hedges unless > 10m being removed). 

8) Is within, or may impact on (including impacts on hydrology), a woodland or a 

substantial area of scrub connected to a woodland or hedge. 

9) Involves surgery to or felling of a mature tree with obvious holes, cracks or 

cavities, dense ivy, deadwood, bird / bat box (i.e. features which may be a bat 

roost). 

10) Involves removal of tussocky (rough) grassland, wet grassland, flower rich 

grassland or heathland All applications except Householders will also need to 

provide PEA’s if the proposal: 

11) Is within or immediately adjacent to a designated wildlife site (Special Areas 

of Conservation, Special Protection Area, Sites of Special Scientific Interest, 

County Wildlife Site, Local Nature Reserve, Special Verge). 

12) Involves lighting or removal of a tree line, woodland, hedges, pasture within 

a Greater Horseshoe Bat consultation zone (please ask the LPA during pre-app 

discussions). 

13) Site is known to support an invasive species such as Japanese Knotweed. 

 

Wildlife Trigger 
Table.pdf

 
 

 

 



 

13 

 

European 

Protected 

Sites 

 

Trigger: Any application likely to have an adverse significant impact on a 

European Protected Site (Special Protection Area or Special Area of Conservation) 

must be accompanied by a document entitled ‘Evidence to inform a Habitats 

Regulations Assessment.’ This document should consider the probability or risk 

that the proposal will have significant effects on the conservation objectives of 

the protected sites either alone or in combination with other plans or projects.  

 

European Protected Sites in West Devon: 

• Plymouth Sound and Estuaries SAC 

• Tamar Estuaries Complex SPA 

• Dartmoor SAC 

• Culm Grasslands SAC 

 

European Protected Sites in South Hams: 

• Plymouth Sounds and Estuaries SAC 

• Tamar Estuaries Complex SPA 

• Dartmoor SAC 

• South Hams SAC 

• Lyme Bay and Torbay SAC 

• Start Point to Plymouth Sound and Eddystone SAC 

 

Where there is a likelihood of an adverse significant impact on a European 

Protected Site, the Local Authority will undertake an ‘Appropriate Assessment’ 

(informed in part by the evidence supplied with the application) and consult 

Natural England on the Assessment and project before coming to a decision on 

the planning application. The Local Planning Authority must ‘ascertain that the 

proposal will not have an adverse effect on the integrity of the site before it may 

grant permission.’ 

 

NB – All new development within a Zone of Influence around the Tamar 

European Marine Site (Plymouth SAC and Tamar SPA) must contribute towards 

mitigating the recreational impact of development on the Site. This mitigation 

can be by way of a financial contribution (secured in a s106 agreement) towards 

mitigation measures undertaken by the Tamar Estuaries Consultative Forum. 

Contribution amounts are given below (these will be updated when the Habitats 

Regulation Assessment of the Joint Local Plan is completed): 

 

 



 

14 

 

 Dwelling size  Average persons  Contribution per dwelling 

 

1 bedroom   1.33    £17.16 

2 bedroom flat  1.86    £23.99 

2 bedroom house  2.45    £31.60 

3 bedroom   2.63    £33.93 

4 bedroom   2.85    £36.76 

5 bedroom   3.13    £40.38 

(Per bed space for other residential - £12.90) 

 

 

European 

Protected 

Species 

 

Trigger: If your proposal is likely to impact on a European Protected Species 

(e.g. bats, dormice) you may also need to obtain a Natural England Licence after 

you have secured planning permission. 

 

While the Council does not grant licences itself, the Council is required to take 

an opinion on whether a licence will be required (i.e. is the proposed 

development likely to result in an offence against a protected species), and the 

likelihood of Natural England subsequently granting a licence. Complete survey 

information, consideration of impacts and appropriate mitigation and/or 

compensation will be required with the planning application to inform this 

consideration. Further advice can be given as required and for further 

information, visit: 

http://www.naturalengland.org.uk/ourwork/planningdevelopment/spatialplan

ning/standingadvice/faq.aspx  

 

Useful information: 

Where the location of the development has potential to impact upon greater 

horseshoe bat habitat associated with the South Hams SAC, the following 

guidance provides advice on the types of development likely to trigger the need 

for greater horseshoe bat survey:  

 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/bats-surveys-and-mitigation-for-development-

projects 

 

 

 

 

 



 

15 

 

Geology Trigger: All applications EXCEPT householders will need to submit a geological 

report if the application impacts on a geological Site of Special Scientific Interest 

or County Geological Site (RIGS). 

 

To find out if your site is in or near a designated site look on 

http://gis.devon.gov.uk/basedata/viewer.asp?DCCService=greeninfra or ask the 

LPA or Devon Biodiversity Records Centre www.dbrc.org.uk (inc. a small 

charge).  

 

For County Geological Sites (RIGS) see 

also:www.devonrigs.org.uk/07DevonSites.html 

 

 

Geo-technical 

survey and 

design 

 

The planning authority reserve the right to request this. 

 

This is required where it is known or suspected that the land to be built on is 

unstable or potentially unstable and this requires a specialist investigation and 

assessment to determine the stability of the ground and to identify any remedial 

measures required to deal with the instability.  

 

This section lists the different types of supporting information that might be 

required to support an application. Specific requirements will be highlighted 

during any pre-application discussions. If appropriate, the information may be 

reserved by condition(s). Proposals will be expected to accord with our policy 

requirements relating to sustainable construction and design. 

 

 

Structural 

Survey 

 

For change the use of a building/s where physical works are required. 

 

In these applications it is important to establish that the structure of the building 

is adequate to meet the needs of the new use without significant structural works 

to the building. This is especially important with barn conversions where it is 

essential that the traditional appearance of the barn is kept but is safe for human 

occupancy. 

  

 



 

16 

 

Hazardous 

Installations 

Risk 

Assessment 

 

Trigger: All applications involving hazardous installations should be accompanied 

by a Risk Assessment.  

 

This should be undertaken by a suitably qualified and competent person/ 

organisation. The following information is required: 

 

 An assessment of the relevant risks the development would incur. 

 How these risks will be mitigated.  

 

Additional information: 

• Government guidance is contained in its Planning Practice Guidance: 

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/hazardous-substances  

• Details of existing notifiable sites and pipelines are available from the 

Planning Department 

• Contact the Health & Safety Executive: http://www.hse.gov.uk/  
 

 



 

17 

 

Lighting 

Impact 

Assessment/ 

scheme 

 

Triggers: 

• All detailed major planning applications require a lighting scheme or 

statement 

• All proposals to install external illumination  

• Where a light sensitive development is being proposed or in an area with an 

already established ambient light source 

• All proposals involving the provision of publicly accessible developments in 

the vicinity of residential property, a Listed Building or a Conservation Area, 

or open countryside, where lighting would be provided or made necessary by 

the development 

• Significant floodlighting proposals may require a Lighting Impact Assessment  

 

The Lighting Impact Assessment should be undertaken by a suitably qualified and 

competent person/organisation and should include: 

• The type of light fixing (e.g. wall mounted or free-standing columns, lantern 

wattage and manufacturer),  

• The level of illumination and spread including light spill and sky glow ratios. 

Predicted luminance on neighbouring land must be clearly shown in 

relation to surrounding premises, especially where it affects residential 

living conditions. 

• A site layout indicating the location of lighting units and a lux contour map, 

• A statement of the proposed hours of usage. 

 

   Additional Guidance: 

‘Guidance Notes for the Reduction of Light Pollution’ (The Institution of Lighting 

Engineers, 2000):  

SPG Lightpollution 
2002.pdf

 
 

 



 

18 

 

Odour 

Statement 

 

Trigger: Required where the development is in immediate proximity to an 

odorous activity or the proposals involve the introduction of or changes to an 

odorous activity.  

Common sources of odour:  

• Sewage treatment 

• Food Processing and commercial kitchens 

• Paints and solvents 

• Animals, livestock and poultry 

• Spreading or storage of slurry/sludge 

• Slaughter Houses/abattoirs and rendering plants 

• Industrial/chemical processes 

 

The assessment should indicate how odour from the source is/will be adequately 

managed so that it does not have an overly negative impact on sensitive receptor 

amenity.  

Additional Guidance: 

Odour Guidance for Local Authorities, DEFRA, 2010 

https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file

/69305/pb13554-local-auth-guidance-100326.pdf 

 

 



 

19 

 

Contaminated 

Land Survey 

 

As a minimum requirement, outline and full plan applications for sensitive end 

uses (including residential, nursing / care home, schools and hospitals) may 

require a Contamination Statement. This might also be necessary for other uses 

depending on the nature of the development proposed. The requirement for a 

statement is as outlined in the requirements of the 1app form and is a National 

Planning Validation criterion.  

 

If any of the 3 questions below (taken directly from the 1App full planning 

application form) have resulted in ‘yes’ : 

 

Does the proposal involve any of the following? 

 

1. Land which is known to be contaminated? 

This would include a development on land which has known contamination or on 

land which is known to be affected by contamination, for example a site on an ex-

landfill site, industrial sites known to have stored chemicals etc. 

 

2. Land where contamination is suspected for all or part of the site? 

This would include a development on or near land which has had a previous 

potentially contaminative use, but there is no actual knowledge of land 

contamination issues. Further information on potential contaminative activities 

can be found in the Department of Environment Industry Profiles. (DoE, 1995). For 

example - railway sidings, ex-car parking sites, barns used for fertilizer storage. 

 

3. A proposed use that would be particularly vulnerable to the presence of 

contamination? 

A proposed use that will be particularly vulnerable or sensitive to the presence of 

contamination would include, (but not restricted to) any residential building, 

schools, nurseries, allotments, orchards and residential garden areas. For 

residential buildings, this will include any development of one dwelling or more, 

while extensions or conservatories will be excluded, unless there is a specific 

known land contamination issue. It should be noted that contamination is not 

just restricted to land with previous industrial use; it can occur on green field 

sites as well as previously developed land. 

 

If the answer to any of the above questions is ‘Yes’, then an appropriate 

Contamination Statement must be submitted with the planning application.  

 

Where relevant, the following information is required in a contamination 

statement and the results of each stage should be submitted with the 

application:  

 

The Council will be considering not only the previous land use for the site in 

question, but any potentially contaminated land within the vicinity of the site 

that may pose a risk to the future use of the site. 

 

(continued over page) 

 



 

20 

 

 Any contaminated land survey will need to assess the impact of the development 

proposal on controlled waters, in addition to any human health impacts.   

 

Sources of information for this purpose are listed below, alternatively you may 

wish to pay for an Environmental Search to be undertaken by a private company:- 

 

• Historical Ordnance Survey Maps - Local Libraries 

• Trade Directories - Local Libraries/ Museums 

• Waste Disposal Licences - The Environment Agency 

• Discharge consents to controlled waters - The Environment Agency 

• Dedicated sites for the disposal of sludge - South West Water 

• Hazardous Substances Consents - Environment agency 

• Radioactive Substances - Environment Agency 

• Authorisations under Environmental Protection Act 1990 (as amended) 

o Local Authority/ Environment Agency 

• Register of scrap dealers - The Environment Agency 

• Register of planning permissions -Local Planning Authority 

• Aerial and Satellite photography - Various Sources 

• Historical information - Local Societies/ People 

 

We will also want to see a number of photographs of the site, which will be used 

to help determine whether there is any unrecorded contamination on the site. 

Where contamination is found or suspected further assessment may be needed, 

and it would be appropriate at this stage to contact the Council’s Environmental 

Health department about what information they may hold about the site 

including whether any previous remediation has been undertaken. However at 

this stage should contamination be found it would probably be appropriate to 

obtain the services of a suitably qualified contaminated land specialist to provide 

advice and assessment of the risk to your proposed development, this additional 

information may be required prior to validation of the application in accordance 

with the National Planning Practice Guidance note, see flow diagram over the 

page. 

 

Additional guidance: 

 

When considering planning applications, Local Planning Authorities are under a 

duty to take account of whether a site may be contaminated. They must be 

satisfied that planning permission can be granted on land use grounds taking full 

account of environmental impacts. Where relevant, developers are required to 

deal with contamination in a manner appropriate to the intended after use of the 

land. Developers and their agents should therefore provide as much information 

as possible, and it is recommended that they discuss the issue with the Council’s 

Environmental Protection. 

 

(continued over page) 

 



 

21 

 

  

 
 

Team (Contaminated Land) before submitting an application:  

 

http://www.southhams.gov.uk/article/1704/Contaminated-Land 

http://www.westdevon.gov.uk/article/2517/Contaminated-Land 

  

Contact the Environment Agency. The Environment Agency provides guidance on 

ways to assess risks from land contamination and on ways to remediate land 

where necessary: http://www.environment-agency.gov.uk/  

 

National Planning Practice Guidance notes:  

 

http://planningguidance.planningportal.gov.uk/blog/guidance/land-affected-by-

contamination/land-affected-by-contamination-guidance/  

 

 



 

22 

 

Noise Impact 

Assessment 

 

Trigger: Where sensitive developments (such as residential uses) are to be 

situated close to existing sources of noise, or where proposals will generate 

significant noise levels (such as industrial uses or wind turbines). 

 

All planning and reserved matter applications that raise issues of disturbance or 

are considered to be a noise-sensitive development will need to be supported by 

a Noise Impact Assessment (which shall include details of mitigation) prepared 

by a suitably qualified acoustic engineer. 

 

Trigger:  Applications for development that have the potential to generate new 

sources of noise and will have an impact on existing land uses. Not only large 

industrial buildings; smaller developments where the final building may, for 

example, be used with power tools, or to house air conditioning/refrigeration 

units.   

 

Applications for noise sensitive developments such as new housing may also 

require such a survey to demonstrate that the amenity to the users of such a 

development will not be by affected existing levels of noise.  

 

These proposals should be supported by a Noise Impact Assessment prepared by 

a suitably qualified acoustician.   

The assessment should outline the potential sources of noise generation, and 

how these may have a negative effect on local amenity.  The assessment should 

also outline how the developer intends to overcome these issues.  Where noise is 

likely to be an issue, applicants are advised to contact the Council’s 

Environmental Health Officer prior to the submission of a planning application. 

 
Wind turbines and renewable energy projects: Please see the additional 

Council’s Renewable Energy Guidance on submission requirements. 

 

Additional guidance: 

 

Noise Impact Assessments must have regard to the following guidance where 

applicable to the development:  

 

• BS8233 Sound insulation and noise reduction for buildings code of 

practice  

• BS5228-1:2009 Code of practice for noise and vibration control on 

construction and open  

• sites 

• BS4142: 1997 Method for rating industrial noise affecting mixed 

residential and industrial     

• areas  

• ETSU-R-97 1996 The Assessment and Rating of Noise from Wind Farms 

• Institute of Acoustics Guidance   

 

 



 

23 

 

Air Quality 

Assessment 

 

Trigger:  

 

Stage 1: If the development involves any of the following proceed to stage 2: 

 

• Development involves the building of 10 or more residential units or a 

site area of more than 0.5 Ha  

• More than 1000m2 of floor space for all other uses or a site area greater 

than 1Ha 

 

And 

 

• The development has more than 10 parking spaces 

• The development will have a centralised energy facility or other 

centralised combustion process 

 

Stage 2: Indicative criteria for requiring an air quality assessment: 

 

The development will: Indicative Criteria to Proceed to an 

Air Quality Assessment a 

1. Cause a significant change in Light 

Duty Vehicle (LDV) traffic flows on local 

roads with relevant receptors. (LDV = 

cars and small vans <3.5t gross vehicle 

weight). 

A change of LDV flows of: 

• more than 100 AADT 

within or adjacent to an 

AQMA  

• more than 500 AADT 

elsewhere. 

2. Cause a significant change in Heavy 

Duty Vehicle (HDV) flows on local roads 

with relevant receptors. (HDV = goods 

vehicles + buses >3.5t gross vehicle 

weight). 

A change of HDV flows of: 

• more than 25 AADT 

within or adjacent to an 

AQMA  

• more than 100 AADT 

elsewhere. 

3. Realign roads, i.e. changing the 

proximity of receptors to traffic lanes. 

Where the change is 5m or more and 

the road is within an AQMA. 

4. Introduce a new junction or remove 

an existing junction near to relevant 

receptors. 

Applies to junctions that cause traffic 

to significantly change vehicle 

accelerate/decelerate, e.g. traffic 

lights, or roundabouts. 

 



 

24 

 

 5. Introduce or change a bus station. Where bus flows will change by: 

• more than 25 AADT 

within or adjacent to an 

AQMA  

• more than 100 AADT 

elsewhere. 

6. Have an underground car park with 

extraction system. 

The ventilation extract for the car 

park will be within 20 m of a relevant 

receptor. 

Coupled with the car park having 

more than 100 movements per day 

(total in and out). 

7. Have one or more substantial 

combustion processes, where there is a 

risk of impacts at relevant receptors.  

NB. this includes combustion plant 

associated with standby emergency 

generators (typically associated with 

centralised energy centres) and 

shipping. 

Typically, any combustion plant 

where the single or combined NOx 

emission rate is less than 5 mg/seca is 

unlikely to give rise to impacts, 

provided that the emissions are 

released from a vent or stack in a 

location and at a height that provides 

adequate dispersion. 

In situations where the emissions are 

released close to buildings with 

relevant receptors, or where the 

dispersion of the plume may be 

adversely affected by the size and/or 

height of adjacent buildings 

(including situations where the stack 

height is lower than the receptor) 

then consideration will need to be 

given to potential impacts at much 

lower emission rates.  

Conversely, where existing nitrogen 

dioxide concentrations are low, and 

where the dispersion conditions are 

favourable, a much higher emission 

rate may be acceptable. 

 

 



 

25 

 

 • We may also require an assessment where the development is close to a 

heavily trafficked road, with emissions that could give rise to sufficiently high 

concentrations of pollutants (in particular NO2), that would cause unacceptably 

high exposure for users of the new development; and 

• The presence of a source of odour and/or dust that may affect amenity for 

future occupants of the development. 

Developers should contact the Environmental Health team at as early a stage 

as possible to scope the level of assessment required. 

All assessments should be carried out in accordance with the latest guidance 

from the Institute of Air Quality Management available from 

http://iaqm.co.uk/guidance/#wpfb-cat-10. 

 

 



 

26 

 

Landscape 

and Visual 

Impact 

Appraisal 

(LVIAp) 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Landscape 

Scheme 

 

 

Trigger: All applications that may result in adverse impacts on landscape or 

townscape character and/or visual amenity.  

 

Any development that is likely to have a significant impact on the surrounding 

landscape and/or townscape character will need supporting information to show 

how these impacts have been assessed and how the development has been 

designed to address or mitigate these impacts.  For further guidance on which 

types of development require an assessment please refer to the Landscape and 

Visual Impact Assessment Matrix which is available below.   

 

The assessment work should be proportionate to the development it is assessing, 

and could range from a full assessment including photomontages, to a short, 

focussed appraisal of the impacts on a certain characteristic or view.  It is 

recommended that any landscape and visual assessment work is carried out by a 

qualified landscape professional in accordance with the Guidelines for Landscape 

and Visual Impact Assessment, 3rd Edition 2013 (GLVIA3) LI/IEMA.  Any 

viewpoints to be assessed should be agreed with the local planning authority 

prior to carrying out the assessment.  

 

Matrix for LVIA.docx

 
 

Trigger: All applications that result in adverse impacts on landscape or townscape 

character and/or visual amenity, including developments that result in the loss of 

existing landscape features, are visually prominent in the local or wider landscape 

or result in changes to field patterns.  

 

Landscape proposals should be proportionate to the development that they are 

supporting.  Landscape proposals should respect and respond to existing 

landscape features and characteristics, seeking to fully mitigate any adverse 

landscape or visual effects resulting from a proposed development and creating a 

high quality site environment.   

 

For full and outline applications, submissions should be supported by an Outline 

Landscape Scheme showing general approaches to landscape treatments, and an 

outline plan for the establishment and ongoing management of the proposals.  

Full landscape details would then be sought by condition if approved.  

 

For Reserved Matters applications, submissions will normally need to be 

supported by a fully detailed Landscape Scheme.  

 

Where there are requirements for biodiversity mitigation / compensation / 

enhancement measures on a site (generated from the EcIA) these should be 

incorporated in a combined Landscape and Ecological Management Plan (LEMP). 

 

 



 

27 

 

Tree/Hedge 

Survey  

 

Trigger: Where there are trees and/or hedges within the application site or on 

land adjacent to it that could influence or be affected by the development 

(including street trees).  

 

Information will be required on the condition and quality of the trees and/or 

hedges, which trees and/or hedges are to be retained and how the design and 

implementation of the scheme makes provision for their protection.  

 

For the purposes of a planning application the following information may be 

required:  

 

• A Tree/Hedge and Topographical Survey. This will include a plan that 

identifies the position of the trees and schedule that describes them (see 

part 4 of BS 5837).  

 

• A Tree/Hedge constraints plan. This is a design tool that indicates the 

influence that trees have upon the layout of the design (see part 5 of BS 

5837) such as their shade pattern or root protection area.  

 

• An Arboricultural Impact Assessment and Tree/Hedge Protection Plan. 

This is essentially a design statement for trees/hedges. It demonstrates 

how important arboricultural considerations are addressed (see section 5 

of BS 5837) within the design.  

 

• Arboricultural Method Statement. This demonstrates how trees/hedges 

will be protected in relation to the finalised design. It may be as simple as 

a position and specification for tree/hedge protection fencing or contain 

complicated method statements and engineering drawings (see section 6 

of BS 5837). 

 

 



 

28 

 

Green 

Infrastructure 

Plans and 

Statements 

 

Trigger: Green Infrastructure (GI) Plans and Statements will be required for all 

developments where existing Green Infrastructure assets are likely to be 

significantly affected or there is a significant opportunity to enhance, link or 

create GI assets. This will apply to most major built development proposals, some 

major changes of use and some minor built development proposals.  

 

GI Plans and Statements can form part of the Design and Access Statement. 

 

The developer should provide the following: 

• A plan showing existing GI assets on and adjacent to the proposed 

development site and GI constraints and opportunities for the proposed 

development.  

• A statement detailing the way in which GI has been incorporated into the 

proposed development masterplan, drawing on the constraints and 

opportunities information above. The statement should explain how the 

proposed GI assets in the development masterplan link to the wider GI 

network. 

• The final development masterplan showing the proposed GI to be 

incorporated into the development proposals. 

Additional Guidance: 

 GI is defined in the National Planning Policy Framework as “a network of multi-

functional green space, urban and rural, which is capable of delivering a wide 

range of environmental and quality of life benefits for local communities”. 

 

 GI also includes water and wetland features including ponds, streams, rivers and 

estuaries, which are sometimes referred to as ‘blue’ infrastructure. Public rights 

of way and linear features such as rivers can provide important connecting 

corridors between green infrastructure assets for both people and wildlife. A 

comprehensive list of GI assets can be found on page 4 of the Landscape 

Institute’s 2009 Position Statement which can be accessed at 

http://www.landscapeinstitute.org/PDF/Contribute/GreenInfrastructurepositions

tatement13May09.pdf  

 

 



 

29 

 

Open Space, 

Sport and 

Recreation 

(OSSR) 

Statement  

 

Open Space, Sport and Recreation (OSSR) Statements will set out how existing 

OSSR will be affected by the development proposal and/or where new OSSR 

provision is triggered by development.   These statements can be integrated into 

the Planning Statement or Design and Access Statements. 

Trigger: Will be required in the following circumstances:- 

i) Where the proposal includes loss of OSSR in which case the statement 

must: 

• Assess harm to character and openness of local area 

• Assess whether there is existing excess of provision locally and demonstrate 

how there will be no shortfall in the plan period 

• Demonstrate how the community will gain greater benefit from the provision 

of suitable alternative OSSR areas nearby 

 ii) And/ or where the proposal triggers the following: 

• In South Hams where the development consists of two or more dwellings or 

1000m3 of retail, commercial and service development; or 

• In West Devon where the development consists of ten or more dwellings. 

 

In both districts, this element of the statement must provide initial details of 

proposed on site facilities (and the measures for long term maintenance and 

management) and/or proposed arrangements for off-site financial 

contributions to new or improved facilities related to the development.   

 

 

Waste 

Statement 

 

Trigger: For all major development and schemes that require a significant amount 

of ground engineering or demolition.  

 

To meet the requirements of Policy W4 of the Devon Waste Plan, the applicant 

must provide an assessment of the types and quantities of the wastes that are 

likely to be generated during the construction stage and following occupation of 

the development. A strategy for sustainable management of the waste materials, 

including waste from the demolition, excavation and construction processes, 

must be set out prioritising reduction, reuse or recycling of the material before 

landfill disposal is considered. For this reason, the waste statement may tie in to 

any landscape scheme or contamination statement being submitted as part of 

the application.  

 

The waste audit statement must also describe how waste will be handled and 

moved during the operational phase of the development, i.e. when the 

development is occupied, for example showing bin stores or composting 

arrangements, bin collection points and bin lorry turning heads.  

 



 

30 

 

 Devon County Council has prepared a Supplementary Planning Document 

providing guidance on preparation of waste audit statements, which can be 

found on its website here.  For further information see the ‘Guidance for 

developers of residential sites waste collections and street cleaning’ on the 

District/Borough Council website. 

 

 

Playing Field 

Statement 

Trigger: Planning applications affecting playing field land. 

 

Please see Advice note below: 

 

Sport England 
Information Requirements.pdf

 

 

Structural 

Survey  

 

 

 

 

 

 

Schedule of 

Works 

Trigger: Where the proposed development is to convert a building in the 

countryside into a dwelling, a structural survey must be provided.   

 

The report should include: advice on how structurally sound the building is in its 

current state; whether the building is capable of conversion without significant 

extension, alteration or rebuilding, and; identifying the nature and extent of 

works that will be required to achieve the proposed development.   

 

Trigger: Listed Building Consents, and application s to convers a building in the 

countryside to a dwelling. 

 

A schedule of works should be provided to clearly show the extent of any repairs, 

demolition and rebuilding, and a supporting statement should be provided to 

describe the works proposed including, where relevant, the methodology, 

materials and techniques.   The statement should also explain alternatives that 

have been considered and why the proposed approach is most appropriate. 

 

 

 

Appendix A – GLOSSARY/JARGON BUSTER 

 

Affidavit – a sworn statement of fact taken under oath or affirmation administered by a person authorized to do so 

by law 

BRE365 - Soakaway Test Procedure 

Building Regulations - Building Regulations or Standards define how a new building or alteration is to be built so that 

it is structurally safe, protected from risk of fire, energy efficient and has adequate ventilation for its purpose. An 



 

31 

 

application for Building Regulations approval is not advertised and only the person applying and the Local Authority 

are involved. 

CDA – Critical Drainage Area  

Critical Drainage Problem – areas of high potential for storm water quantity or quality 

DCLG – Department for Communities and Local Government  

DEFRA – Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs 

EA – The Environment Agency  

EIA – Environmental Impact Assessment  

GDPO – General Development Permitted Order  

Ha – Hectare 

ICNIRP - International Commission on Non-Ionising Radiation Protection  

Lawful Development Certificate - a procedure by which existing or proposed uses and other forms of development 

can be certified as lawful for planning purposes. An application has to be made to the local planning authority and 

there is a right of appeal against their decision.  

LPA – Local Planning Authority  

NPPF – National Planning Policy Framework  

PD – Permitted development i.e. works which do constitute ‘development’ but which can be done without the need 

to apply for planning permission  

PEA – Preliminary Ecological Appraisal 

Planning Inspectorate (PINS) - is an executive agency of the Department for Communities and Local Government of 

the United Kingdom Government. It is responsible for determining final outcomes of town planning and enforcement 

appeals and public examination of local development plans.  

Planning obligations - Planning obligations (also known as s106 agreements – of the 1990 Town & Country Planning 

Act) are private agreements made between local authorities and developers and can be attached to a planning 

permission to make acceptable development which would otherwise be unacceptable in planning terms. The land 

itself, rather than the person or organisation that develops the land, is bound by a Section 106 Agreement – so this is 

something any future owners will need to take into account. 

SHDC – South Hams District Council 

SPD – Supplementary Planning Document (adopted material planning policy) 



 

32 

 

SWW Ltd – South West Water  

WDBC – West Devon Borough Council 

World Heritage Site - a natural or man-made site, area, or structure recognized as being of outstanding international 

importance and therefore as deserving special protection. Sites are nominated to and designated by the World 

Heritage Convention (an organization of UNESCO). 

191 and 192 – refers to the two types of lawful development certificate. A local planning authority can grant a 

certificate confirming that: 

(a) an existing use of land, or some operational development, or some activity being carried out in breach of a 

planning condition, is lawful for planning purposes under section 191 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990; or 

(b) a proposed use of buildings or other land, or some operations proposed to be carried out in, on, over or under 

land, would be lawful for planning purposes under section 192 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990. 

APPENDIX B – ADDITIONAL AREAS OF INFORMATION 

 

Private Water Supplies 

 

Where an application for development includes the installation of a private water supply, applicants may wish to 

seek advice from the Council’s Environmental Health service prior to the submission of an application. 

 

In such applications where a private water supply is to be utilised it would be helpful if the applicant can 

demonstrate that the water serving the proposed development is ’wholesome’ and that there is an adequate supply.  

Applicants should also demonstrate that the proposed development will not have a detrimental effect on other 

supplies already in use in the immediate area. 

 

Applicants should demonstrate that the installation of any new supply, such as a borehole, will not have a 

detrimental effect on other supplies in use in the area, and that the water supply is fit for human consumption.   

 

Onshore wind developments and community consultation 

Applicants of onshore wind developments are advised that recent changes which came into force on 17/12/13 

(http://www.legislation.gov.uk/id/uksi/2013/2932.) have imposed a national requirement for development of 2 or 

more turbines or developments where the hub height of any turbine exceeds 15m to undertake pre-application 

consultation with the local community and any subsequent planning permission must be accompanied by particulars 

which show; 

 

a) How the applicant has complied with the need for community consultation 

b) Any responses to the consultation that were received 

c) How the applicant has taken account of these responses. 

 

 



1 version 5 - 110812 

  

 

Application for Hedgerow removal notice - Applications Validation 

Document 
 

N – indicates a requirement of the National List 

L – indicates a requirement of the Local List. 

       Tick if enclosed 
 

N Application 

Form 

Completed form, or the form set out in Schedule 4 to the Hedgerow 

regulations 1997. 

 

N Plan  A plan which clearly shows the location and length of the hedgerow(s) to 

be removed.  If possible, please provide a plan to a scale of 1:2500. 

Although a different scale can be used so long as it shows clearly the 

location and length of the hedgerows that you wish to remove. 

 

Note: If using an ordnance survey base for any plan, this must include 

the relevant license number. 

 

 

N Evidence Evidence of the date of planting. 

 

 

 

Crown Copyright: please note that the location and block plans submitted with an application should not breach 

Crown Copyright (e.g. they should not be a Land Registry document, a photocopy or a screen grab image). If it 

appears to use that they do breach Crown Copyright they will not be accepted, the application will be made invalid 

and replacement plans that comply with Crown Copyright will be requested. 
 

The following information may be useful to assist the Local Planning Authority when assessing and considering 

your application:  

 

• Arboriculture Implications – arboriculturalist to assess and report on species, value and impact of removal 

significant.   

• Biodiversity Survey and Report 

• Landscape Details 

 




	Agenda
	4 Confirmation of Minutes
	7 Revenue Budget Monitoring to Dec 2017 -Cllr Edmonds
	Appendix A

	8 Capital Programme Monitoring to Dec 2017 - Cllr Edmonds
	Appendix A

	9 Revenue Budget and Capital Programme Proposals 2018/19 - Cllr Sanders
	Appendix A
	Appendix B
	Appendix C
	Appendix D
	Appendix E
	Appendix F
	Appendix G
	Appendix H

	10 Air Quality Strategy - Cllr Sanders
	Appendix A

	11 Planning Enforcement - Cllr Mott
	Appendix A

	12 Planning Validation Checklist - Cllr Mott
	Suppliment A
	Suppliment B
	Suppliment C
	Suppliment D
	Suppliment E
	Suppliment F
	Suppliment G
	Suppliment H
	Suppliment J
	Suppliment K
	Suppliment L
	Suppliment M


